


I n s p i r e d  p e o p l e .  I n s p i r i n g  r e s u l t s .

Our corporate philosophy is simple. Through 

the years, we’ve focused on one goal: meeting, 

and exceeding, our customers’ expectations. 

This is what inspires us to keep raising the bar. 

Today, we are proud to have the largest 

customer base in Oman. As the nation’s leading 

bank, we get ahead - and stay ahead - by 

putting our customers first.
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His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said





Our Vision
To have over one million 

satisfied customers by 2010 
through continuous 

enhancement of 
stakeholder value.





Our Quality 
Policy

Our Quality Policy is to achieve and sustain a reputation for quality 

in the national and international markets by offering products and 

services that exceed the requirements of our customers. We strive to 

remain the bank of choice in all our products and services. Towards 

this policy, our objectives are establishing and maintaining a quality 

system based on the most recent ISO quality standards. Continually 

reviewing our products and services, feedback from employees 

(internal customers) and our customers to ensure that there is 

continual improvement. Offering our clients excellent service, 

innovative products and value-added banking while developing 

with them a mutually beneficial association. Demonstrating vision, 

professionalism, transparency and integrity in the conduct of our 

business and service. Achieving disciplined growth and reasonable 

profitability while operating on a sound financial base. Creating 

value for our shareholders. Encouraging, motivating and developing 

our human resources - our most valuable asset and the cornerstone 

of the bank. Working towards the successful implementation of 

the Government objectives applicable to us. Striving towards and 

maintaining a pre-eminent position in the banking community in the 

Sultanate of Oman.
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Your dreams inspire us 

to improve and innovate 

in so many different ways.  

From Family Protection 

Plans to Savings Plans, 

we offer you a spectrum 

of choices to realize your 

financial goals.



Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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Chairman’s  
Report 

Dear Shareholders,

I am glad to share with you the strong results achieved by the Bank during the year 2008. Despite the global 

financial crisis, the key business lines of the Bank continued to turn in an impressive performance during the 

period in question. 

Oman’s Economy

Record oil prices bestowed on the Sultanate of Oman a budget surplus of RO 3,500 million in 2008, compared 

with a projected deficit of RO 400 million. Despite serious implications of the global financial crisis, Oman 

weathered the storm, recording a 40% nominal GDP growth, attributable to the sharp rise in oil prices, strong 

domestic demand, better investment climate and improved exports in 2008. 

In a significant move against the backdrop of the global financial crisis, the Central Bank of Oman (CBO) 

reduced bank reserve requirements and raised the loan-to-deposit ratio in an attempt to improve liquidity. 

The reserve ratio was reduced to 5% from 8% while the loan-to-deposit ratio was raised to 87.5% from 

85%. The changes took effect on 1 January 2009. Volume of trade scaled new highs on Muscat Securities 

Market (MSM) with the total value increasing by 66.3% at RO 3.6 billion as against RO 2.7 billion in 2007. 

The MSM-30 share price index, however, dropped to 5441 points as of 31 December 2008, recording a fall of 

39.8% compared to the previous year. To improve the investment climate, a market-maker fund with a corpus 

of RO 150 million has been set up by the government.

Financial Overview

The Bank achieved a net profit of RO 93.7 million as against a net profit of RO 84.2 million reported in 2007, 

an increase of 11.2%.

Net interest income increased by 29.8% from RO 124.8 million in 2007 to RO 162.1 million in 2008. 

Non-interest income grew from RO 48.1 million in 2007 to RO 74.7 million in 2008, an impressive growth of 

55.3% as a result of increased business volumes and cross-selling. Operating expenses of RO 84.2 million in 

2008 are higher by 19.8% than RO 70.3 million incurred in 2007. The Cost to Income ratio for the year was at 
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35.6% as compared to 40.7% in 2007 mainly due to higher income growth.

Impairment for credit losses on loans portfolio was RO 24.6 million during the year compared to RO 18.2 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2007.  The impairment charge of RO 24.6 million for the year 2008 includes 

RO 12.2 million towards non-specific loan loss provisions as per the requirement of Central Bank of Oman. The 

Bank holds a non-specific loan loss provision of RO 52.2 million as at 31 December 2008. During the year 2008, 

the Bank recovered RO 12.6 million from impairment for credit losses compared to RO 7.7 million in 2007.

The Bank achieved an operating profit of RO 152.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 as against an 

operating profit of RO 102.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2007, an increase of 48.7%. However, due 

to certain one-off impairment losses, the net profit for the year reflected an increase of only 11.2% over 2007.

During the last quarter of 2008, the global market conditions substantially changed as a result of the global 

financial crisis. This affected the market value of some of the strategic and non-strategic investment portfolios 

of the Bank. As a measure of prudence, the Bank has considered the following impairment losses which are 

exceptional in nature in the results for the year 2008:

1) The Bank holds a strategic shareholding of 35% in Saudi Pak Commercial Bank (SPCB), Pakistan and 

accounts this investment as “Investment in associate” under equity method. Subsequent to the investment 

in March 2008, the economic situation has deteriorated in Pakistan which has affected the value of 

this investment. The Bank appointed an independent audit firm to assess the value of this investment 

considering the current economic and business environment in Pakistan. Even though this investment is 

strategic in nature, as a measure of prudence, the Bank has considered an impairment loss of RO 17 million 

including share of loss from SPCB based on the independent valuation performed in December 2008. 

This impairment loss was considered in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). The carrying value of this investment after the impairment loss would be RO 17.9 million. 

2) As per the IFRS and in accordance with recent circular from CBO, the Bank is considering impairment loss 

of RO 10.9 million on its “available for sale (AFS)” investment portfolio. Out of the total impairment loss 

of RO 10.9 million, RO 8.2 million relates to local portfolio. In normal circumstances, the mark-to-market 

impact on “AFS” investment portfolio goes through equity. However, due to the substantial decline in the 

market value, the unrealized loss was considered for impairment and reflected in the Income Statement. 

The return on average assets was at 1.8% in 2008 as compared to 2.3% in 2007. The return on average equity 

was 14.8% in 2008 as compared to 25.8% in 2007. The basic earnings per share was RO 0.087 in 2008 as 

against RO 0.090 in 2007.

The Bank’s net loans and advances portfolio grew by RO 1,041 million or 38.7% to RO 3,728 million as at 

31 December 2008 compared to RO 2,687 million as at 31 December 2007. Customer deposits increased by 

RO 851 million or 36.6% to RO 3,173 million as at 31 December 2008 compared to RO 2,322 million as at 

31 December 2007. Savings deposits had a growth of 17.3% from RO 655 million as at 31 December 2007 to 

RO 768 million as at 31 December 2008.

Share of loss from associates amounted to RO 3.2 million in 2008 as against share of profits of RO 5.5 million 

in 2007. The share of loss mainly related to SPCB. The Bank’s other associate, BMI Bank in Bahrain reported 

a net loss for the year 2008 due to certain impairment losses. The Bank’s share of BMI Bank’s net loss for the 

year 2008 was RO 1.4 million.

The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio stood at 13.02% as on 31 December 2008 against the minimum required level of 10%.

The Board of Directors recommended a dividend of 50%, 20% in the form of cash and 30% in the form of 

mandatory-convertible bonds. Thus shareholders would receive cash dividend of RO 0.020 per ordinary 
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Inspired people. Inspiring results.

share of RO 0.100 each aggregating to RO 21.54 million on the Bank’s existing share capital. In addition, they 

would receive mandatory-convertible bonds in lieu of dividend of RO 0.030 per ordinary share of RO 0.100 

each aggregating to RO 32.31 million. The mandatory-convertible bonds will carry a coupon rate of 7% 

per annum. On maturity, the bonds will be converted to ordinary shares of the Bank by using a “conversion 

price” which will be calculated by applying 20% discount to 3 month average share price of the Bank on the 

Muscat Securities Market prior to the conversion. Fifty percent of the bond amount will mature after a period 

of 3 years and the remaining after a period of 5 years from the date of issuance. The bonds will be listed on 

the Muscat Securities Market. 

The proposed cash dividend and issuance of mandatory-convertible bonds are subject to formal approval of 

the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders and regulatory authorities.

The Bank holds a minority stake of 2.67% in HDFC Bank, India. As on 31 December 2008, the market value of 

the investment was RO 88.6 million against the cost of investment of RO 19.8 million, resulting in unrealised 

gain of RO 68.8 million, which is not reflected in the Income Statement as it goes through the equity of the 

Bank. When the investment is sold, the Bank would reflect the gain in the Income Statement. 

The Year Ahead

The 2009 financial market environment appears to be challenging for business with tight liquidity conditions, 

weak equity market and tightened lending norms by banks. The Bank, however, has built a strong reputation 

and is confident of retaining its top position in the country. The Bank’s liquidity position has been strong 

and it would continue to focus on the deposit mobilization. The Bank has robust policies and procedures on 

cross-border country / bank exposures to effectively mitigate the future challenges, and strives to achieve 

the global best practices in the field of risk management. In lieu of robust and pro-active risk management 

practices, the Bank is confident to sail through these turbulent times. Undoubtedly, there are key lessons 

learnt from the current crisis, which will ensure in making the risk management practices followed by the 

Bank more relevant and up to date.

In Conclusion

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the banking community, both 

in Oman and overseas, for the confidence reposed in the Bank. I would also like to thank the Management 

Team and all our employees for their dedication and commitment, without which the Bank would not be able 

to continue to reach even higher levels of excellence.

The Board of Directors welcomes and supports the measures taken by the Central Bank of Oman and the 

Capital Market Authority with a view to strengthening the financial markets in the Sultanate. The Bank’s 

growth would not have been possible without the foresight and market-friendly policies adopted by 

His Majesty’s Government.

The Board of Directors is also deeply grateful to His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said for his vision and 

guidance, which has helped the country along its path of growth and prosperity.

AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al-Khalili
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Members of the Board

Sheikh AbdulMalik  
bin Abdullah Al-Khalili

Chairman

Sayanta Basu
Director

Sheikh Khalid  bin 
Mustahail Al Mashani

Deputy Chairman
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Hamoud bin Ibrahim 
Soomar Al Zadjali

Director

Brig. Nasser bin Mohamed 
Al Harthy
Director

Inspired people. Inspiring results.

Salim bin Taman 
 Musallam Al Mashani

Director

K.K.Abdul Razak
Director

Sulaiman bin Mohamed 
 bin Hamed Al Yahyai

Director

Abdul Salam bin 
Mohamed Al Murshidi

Director
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We are proud to be the first 

bank in Oman to have a 

presence across the GCC. 

Crossing our 25th 

anniversary has made us 

stronger and more resolute 

than ever to redefine levels 

of banking excellence.
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To be the best, we have 

to keep getting better. 

As the nation’s most 

awarded bank, we thank 

all our customers and 

stakeholders for inspiring 

us to set the standards – and 

keep raising them.



Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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Corporate 
Governance

 BankMuscat: The Bank with a Heart

Corporate governance is the system by which business corporations are directed and controlled. The 

corporate governance structure specifies the roles of different participants in the corporation, such as, the 

board, managers, shareholders and other stakeholders, and spells out the rules and procedures for making 

decisions on corporate affairs. By doing this, it also provides the structure through which the entity’s objectives 

are set, measured and monitored. 

The Board of Directors of BankMuscat is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. The 

Bank is committed to raising the bar even further so as to set a shining example of the letter and spirit of 

the Code of Corporate Governance laid out by the Capital Market Authority (“CMA”) and the regulations for 

Corporate Governance of Banking and Financial Institutions issued by the Central Bank of Oman.

Corporate Governance can also be defined more narrowly as the relationship of an entity to its shareholders 

or more broadly as its relationship to society. This extension of the definition to include a corporation’s 

relationship to society is one that is held very dear to BankMuscat. That is why, in 2008, a department 

dedicated to corporate social responsibility was established with the vision of adapting a new approach of 

addressing society’s needs through inspiring new forms of true partnership among all sectors of society to 

serve the community in the best way.

I) Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are separated with a clear division of responsibilities at the head 

of the company between the running of the Board and the executive responsibility for running BankMuscat’s 

business. The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing how management serves the long-term interests 

of share owners and other key stakeholders. The Board of Directors does this by collectively directing the 

entity’s affairs, setting business objectives for the Bank, approving strategies and policies that support these 

objectives and then reviewing them to ensure the Bank is meeting its targets and set goals.  

Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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Process of nomination of the Directors

The Board reviews the required skills of Directors to ensure they meet the “fit and proper” criteria prescribed 

by the Capital Market Authority and the Central Bank of Oman. Approvals are then obtained for the candidate 

from the regulatory bodies before their acceptance on the Board is approved by the shareholders at a general 

meeting. Shareholders retain the power to elect any candidate to the Board irrespective of whether the candidate 

is recommended by the Board.

Board Election process and functioning of the Board

The Board of Directors is elected by the shareholders of the Bank at the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The Board 

is elected for a three-year term. The Board reports to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting or specially 

convened general meetings of the shareholders. The meetings of the shareholders are convened after giving 

adequate notice and with detailed agenda notes being sent to them. The Annual General Meetings are well attended 

by shareholders and there is healthy discussion and interaction between members of the Board, shareholders and 

functionaries of the Bank to achieve objectives and to be transparent about all items of information and disclosure. 

All members of the Board of Directors attend the Annual General Meeting. Any absence necessitated by urgent 

circumstances by any member of the Board, is conveyed to the Chairman and shareholders.

The Board is comprised of 11 members, elected by the Shareholders at the Bank’s AGM on 24 March, 2007 

for a period of three years.

The current term of the Board of Directors will expire in March 2010.

Changes in the Board structure, constitution and membership

The Constitution of the Board, election process for Board members and shareholders interests are areas of 

prime concern from the good governance commitment of the Bank. Three members of the Board, Mr. Eric 

Faivre, a proxy for Societé Generalé, Mr. Andrea Moneta, a proxy for Dubai Financial Group and Mr. Salaam 

bin Said bin Salim Al Shaksy resigned during 2008, with one director Sayanta Basu replacing Andrea Moneta. 

The suitability of the incoming director, Mr. Sayanta Basu has met the “fit and proper” criteria prescribed by 

the Capital Market Authority and the Central Bank of Oman. The new director brings substantial skills and 

experience to the Board and his contribution will add to the skill composition of the Board in line with a 

growing bank. 

No director is a member of the Board of more than four public joint stock companies or banks whose principal 

place of business is in the Sultanate of Oman, or is a Chairperson of more than two such companies. 

Details of Board members are outlined in “Table 2”.

Independence of Board members

There are no executives of the Bank who are members of the Board. Nine members of the Board are independent 

in terms of the parameters prescribed by the Code of Corporate Governance 2002 for Muscat Securities Market 

listed companies and its amendments. Full compliance with the Code is mandatory for all companies listed on 

the Muscat Securities Market (which is Muscat’s Stock Exchange equivalent).

Remuneration to the Board and Top Management

The total remuneration and sitting fees paid / accrued to members of the Board of Directors for the year 2008 
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met the maximum total limit of Rial Omani 200,000 prescribed by the Capital Market Authority, Sultanate 

of Oman. The sitting fees paid / accrued to the Directors was RO 83,500 with the total remuneration paid / 

accrued being RO 116,500.  As all members of the Board are Non-Executive Directors; no fixed remuneration 

or performance linked incentives are applicable. 

The total remuneration paid / accrued to the top five executives of the Bank for the year 2008 was Rial Omani 

3.14 million. This includes salary, allowances and performance related incentives. 

Committees of the Board and their functioning

During the year 2008 there were two committees of the Board which provided able and effective support to 

the full Board in carrying out its responsibilities. The two committees and their primary responsibilities were 

as follows:

1) Board Credit and Risk Committee

Risk Management responsibilities

formulate risk policy including credit, market and operational risks with a view to achieving the •	

strategic objectives of the Bank;

ensure that the Bank maintains a good quality risk portfolio;•	

oversee risk policy implementation and to ensure these policies are in compliance with the relevant •	

laws and regulations; and

foster transparency and integrity in stakeholder reporting relating to risk assets.•	

Credit Risk Management responsibilities

formulate credit policies with a view to achieving the strategic lending objectives of the Bank;•	

ensure that the Bank maintains a good quality of asset and risk portfolio;•	

oversee credit policy implementation and to ensure the policy is in compliance with the relevant laws •	

and regulations;

review from time to time the portfolio of non-performing assets and provision requirements of the •	

Bank; and

nurture ethical behavior in the lending activities of the Bank.•	

2) Audit Committee of the Board

The primary responsibilities and functions of the Audit Committee are to provide assistance to the Board 

of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities of monitoring / overseeing the financial reporting process, the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control, the effectiveness of the audit process and the 

Bank’s process of complying with the relevant laws and regulations. 

Both the Committees met as per schedule during the year 2008 and completed in good measure the 

responsibilities delegated to them. 

Changes in major shareholding

During the year, the Royal Court Affairs acquired the 7.789% Societé Generalé shareholding in BankMuscat.  

Subsequent to this acquisition, the shareholding of Royal Court Affairs is 24.839% of the Bank’s shares. 
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The revised shareholding structure of the Bank is depicted as follows:

Respecting the rights of minority shareholdings

BankMuscat gives minority shareholders prime importance in terms of safeguarding their interests and 

ensuring that their views are reflected in shareholders meetings. The “one share one vote” principle applies 

to all shareholders so that minority shareholders can nominate members of the Board and can take action 

against the Board or the management if the actions of the Board or Management are in any way prejudicial to 

their interests. 

Related party transactions, dealings and policy

There is a comprehensive policy on related party dealings, and processes and procedures laid down which 

are followed in the matter of all loans and advances given to directors and their related parties as also any 

transactions with companies in which directors have a significant / controlling interest.

Every quarter the details of the related party transactions are produced and submitted to the Board for review 

and approval as part of approving the quarterly financial statements. Details of loans and advances, if any, given 

to any director or their related parties are furnished with full details in the notes to the financial statements 

given in the annual report. These are public disclosures. 

All transactions with directors and related parties is disclosed in full to the shareholders along with the agenda 

notes for the Annual General Meeting.

Any conflicts of interest are clearly separated and resolved as per the detailed policies and processes.

Affirmations

1) The Board of Directors and Management affirm that the Bank is in strong financial health and is 

expected to meet current growth and expansion plans.

2) The Board conducts a review of the effectiveness of the Bank’s system of internal controls at least once 

every year and finds the systems effective. 

3) There is a well laid down procedure for write-off of loan dues and write-off is resorted to only after all 

other means of retrieval are exhausted.

24.84%

26.63%

1.99%
2.13%

3.25%

4.14%
13.14%

15%

HSBC A/c The Bank of 
New York International

Royal Court Affairs

Dubai Financial Group LLC

HSBC A/c Ministry
of Defence Pension Fund

Muscat Overseas Group LLC

Civil Service Pension Fund

ROP Pension Fund LLC

Others

Public Authority for
Social Insurance

State General Reserve Fund

6.64%

2.24%
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4) All financial statements are prepared after proper scrutiny of the books of accounts and the Bank follows the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) in the preparation and presentation of its accounts.

5) There are well designed policies and procedures as is expected of a large Bank with international presence. 

6) For insurable matters, the Bank has taken adequate cover to ensure insurance protection for 

properties and assets.

7) The Bank complies fully with the Code of Corporate Governance for Muscat Securities Market listed 

companies 2002 and its amendments.

8) The Bank has completed all the necessary preparation for meeting Basel II - Pillar III standards.

9) There are no convertible instruments affecting or likely to affect the equity structure of the Bank as at 

31 December, 2008. However, the Board of Directors have proposed the following as dividend for the 

year 2008 which is subject to approval from shareholders and regulatory authorities:

A dividend of 50% for the year 2008, 20% in the form of cash and 30% in the form of mandatory-•	

convertible bonds. Thus, shareholders would receive cash dividend of RO 0.020 per ordinary share 

of RO 0.100 each aggregating to RO 21.54 million on Bank’s existing share capital. In addition, 

they would receive mandatory-convertible bonds in lieu of dividend of RO 0.030 per ordinary share 

of RO 0.100 each aggregating to RO 32.31 million. The mandatory-convertible bonds will carry a 

coupon rate of 7% per annum. On maturity, the bonds will be converted to ordinary shares of the 

Bank by using a “conversion price” which will be calculated by applying 20% discount to 3 month 

average share price of the Bank on the Muscat Securities Market prior to the conversion. Fifty 

percent of the bond amount will mature after a period of 3 years and the remaining after a period of 

5 years from the date of issuance. The bonds will be listed on the Muscat Securities Market.

10) The Bank meets the Capital Adequacy Standards (Capital Adequacy Ratio – “CAR”) prescribed by the 

Basel Committee and the Central Bank of Oman.

Disclosures, disclosure policy and investor information

1) BankMuscat attaches the utmost priority to shareholder rights and disclosure of information. All entity’s 

news and developments and the financials of the Bank are available to any shareholder who seeks this 

information. Any shareholder seeking any information about the Bank may approach the Bank for the same. 

2) The latest news and information about the Bank are also available on the it’s website, www.bankmuscat.com.

3) There is a comprehensive Disclosure Policy, a Disclosure Committee and nominated spokespersons 

for disclosure of information, news and data relating to the Bank to shareholders, stakeholders and 

the public. All material information is disclosed in a timely and systematic manner to shareholders 

and stakeholders.

4) Items of investor information are posted simultaneously on the Bank’s website www.bankmuscat.com 

and all interested are encouraged to access this information at convenience.

5) There was one regulatory penalty imposed on the Bank by the Capital Market Authority (CMA) during 

the year for an amount of Rial Omani 20,000 relating to overall brokerage department activities.

6) During the year 2008, R0 106,350 was accrued/paid for the external auditors against the audit and 

related assurance work.
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BankMuscat’s equity share price and price band in the Muscat Securities Market

Kindly see “Table 3” given at the end of this report for a monthwise listing of share prices of BankMuscat’s 

shares on the Muscat Securities Market.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) – Our External Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers provides industry-focused assurance, tax, and advisory services to build public trust 

and enhance value for its clients and their stakeholders. More than 155,000 people in 153 countries across the 

network share their thinking, experience, and solutions to develop fresh perspectives and practical advice.

PricewaterhouseCoopers is one of the leading accredited accounting firms in Oman and has 3 partners and 

over 100 employees. PricewaterhouseCoopers has many years of experience in the Middle East and employs 

almost 2,000 people in 15 countries in the region. They have a reputation for providing quality professional 

services to well-diversified client portfolio, both in the public and private sector.

Board of Directors and Executive Management profiles

Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili 

Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of BankMuscat “SAOG” and 

the Chairman of the Board’s Audit Committee since 6 January 2001. 

Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of Arts - Business Administration - 

University of Central Florida, USA on 2 May 1986.

Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili had worked with the Diwan of the Royal Court from February 1988 

until February 2008, where he held several positions such as Director of the Department of Studies and Statistics 

at the Office of H.E. the Minister of the Diwan of the Royal Court from (1994-1995), and also Assistant Secretary 

General for General Affairs at the Office of H.E. the Minister of the Diwan of the Royal Court from (1995-1997). 

In addition, he had served as the Executive President of the Pension Fund of the staff of the Diwan of the Royal 

Court and as a Member and Secretary for the Board of Directors of the Fund (1998-2008).

Besides being the Chairman of the Bank’s Board of Directors, Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili also 

holds the following positions:

Chairman of the Board of Directors of BMI Bank (Kingdom of Bahrain)•	

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Rasmala Oman Company (SAOC)•	

Member of the Supervisory Board of Rasmala Investment Holding Limited (Emirate of Dubai-                         •	

United Arab Emirates)

Member of the Advisory Council of the Union of Arab Bankers•	

Additionally, Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili has also occupied the following positions 

(previously):

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Commercial Bank of Oman (SAOG)•	

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Majan International Bank (SAOC)•	

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of Qurum Financial Services Company SAOG•	

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of National Investment Funds Company SAOC, representing •	

the Pension Fund of the staff of the Diwan of the Royal Court  

Member of the Board of Directors of Muscat National Holding Company SAOG, representing the Pension •	

Fund of the staff of the Diwan of the Royal Court
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Participation in International and Regional Conferences:

Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili has regularly participated in various regional conferences and forums, 

such as the conferences of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund as well as the conferences of the 

Union of Arab Bankers and of the International Union of Arab Bankers and the Davos Forum and many others. 

During his tenure as a Chairman, the Bank has been deservedly awarded advanced credit ratings from specialized 

international rating agencies besides winning a large number of Awards, Certificates of Appreciation and 

Recognition internationally, regionally and domestically.     

Sheikh Khalid bin Mustahail Al Mashani 

Sheikh Khalid bin Mustahail Al Mashani is the Deputy Chairman since March 1999 and Chairman of the Board 

Credit Committee. Sheikh Khalid has a Masters Degree in Finance from the Oxford University, U.K.

Mr. Sayanta Basu

Mr. Sayanta Basu represents the interest of Dubai Financial Group and is on the Board of BankMuscat since July 

2008. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from IIT (Kharaghpur) and MBA from IIM (Ahmedabad).

Mr. Basu has more than 17 years experience in investment management, treasury and strategy, and has also 

worked for Reuters and Citibank in Dubai. He also serves as director on the Board of Marfin Popular Bank & 

Marfin Investment Group (Greece) and EFG – Hermes (Egypt).

Brigadier General Nasser Mohammed Salim Al Harthy

Brig. Nasser Al Harthy is currently the Head of Internal Audit in Ministry of Defence. He has held in the past 

various important positions such as General Manager Manpower & Administration and GM Organization & 

Plans. He holds a Master’s Degree in Military Science from Egypt and a Master of Business Administration 

from UK, where he is a member of the MBA’s Association.

Mr. Hamoud bin Ibrahim Soomar Al Zadjali  

Mr. Hamoud bin Ibrahim Soomar Al Zadjali is a Director of the Bank since January 2001. Mr. Hamoud is the 

General Manager of Royal Oman Police Pension Fund.

Mr. K.K. Abdul Razak 

Mr. K.K. Abdul Razak represents the interests of Muscat Overseas LLC on the Board of Directors of the Bank 

since March 1996. He is the Group Finance Manager of Muscat Overseas LLC. He holds a Master’s Degree in 

Economics from the University of Kerala. 

Mr. Abdul Razak also sits on the Boards of Muscat Gases Co. SAOG, Al Omania Financial Services Co. 

SAOG, and Gulf Investment Services Co. SAOG.

Mr. Salim bin Taman Musallam Al Mashani 

Mr. Salim bin Taman Musallam Al Mashani is a Director of the Bank since March 1999. Mr. Salim is 

the General Manager and Director of Dhofar Fisheries Industries Co. SAOG. He is also a Director of  

Dhofar Insurance Co.
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Mr. Sulaiman bin Mohamed bin Hamed Al Yahyai 

Mr. Sulaiman bin Mohamed bin Hamed Al Yahyai has been on the Board since March 1996. 

Mr. Al Yahyai holds a certificate in Asset Management - Lausanne University, Switzerland (2002), 

an MBA - Institute of Financial Management - University of Wales, UK (2000) and a certificate in 

Financials Crisis - Harvard University, USA (1999).

He is an Investment Advisor at the Royal Court Affairs, a Chairman - Oman Chlorine Co. “SAOG”, a 

Director - Al Madina Real Estate Co. “SAOC”, a Director - Falcon Insurance “SAOC” and a Director 

and Chairman of the Audit Committee of BMI Bank, Kingdom of Bahrain.

Mr. Abdul Salam bin Mohamed bin Abdullah Al Murshidi 

Mr. Al Murshidi is the Chairman & CEO of “Rawasi Oman Investments”. He has held other significant positions 

such as CEO of Oman Investment Corporation, Corporate Affairs Manger of Oman LNG, Managing Director 

in Al Amjad Trading and Vice-Chairman in Muscat College. Also, he founded various industrial, commercial 

and investment companies in the region. Currently he chairs and is a member of the Board of Directors of 

many companies in Oman and the GCC. Mr. Al Murshidi is a qualified geologist and an expert in petroleum 

exploration. He holds a Master’s degree in Petroleum Geology and a Bachelor’s degree in Geophysics.

Top 5 Management Profiles

Mr. AbdulRazak Ali Issa - CEO

Mr. AbdulRazak Ali Issa is the Chief Executive of the Bank. He sits on the Board of Directors of several 

government and private sector organizations. He currently holds the following directorships representing 

the Bank: 

Muscat Fund (Member of Investors’ Committee)•	

Oryx Fund (Member of Investors’ Committee)•	

Societé Generalé Arab Fund (Director of Investors’ Committee)•	

Bank Deposits Insurance Scheme (Member of the Central Bank of Oman)•	

College of Banking & Finance (Director)•	

Oman Chamber of Commerce Banking Committee & Economic Committee (Director)•	

Mr. AbdulRazak Ali Issa is also a Director on the Advisory Board of the Sultan School and a member on the 

International Union of Arab Bankers.

Mr. Sunder George - DCE  

Mr. George is the Deputy Chief Executive of BankMuscat as well as a Director of Renaissance Services S.A.O.G. 

and BMI Bank, Bahrain. He is also a member of the Audit Committee of BMI Bank.

Mr. George holds an MBA from IMD Switzerland, and is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Bankers F.C.I.B 

(London) and a Certified Associate of the Indian Institute of Bankers C.A.I.I.B. (India).

Mr. Ahmed Al Abri - COO

Mr. Ahmed Al Abri is the Chief Operating Officer of BankMuscat. He is also a member of the Investors 

Committee of the Muscat Fund. He is a Member of the Board and Board Credit Committee of BMI Bank, 

Bahrain, Gulf African Bank, Kenya and Saudi Pak Commercial Bank. 
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Mr. Al Abri holds an MBA from the University of Lincolnshire & Humberside, U.K. He has also attended the 

Advanced Management Program at INSEAD – General Managers’ Program from Harvard University, USA and 

Proteus at the London Business School.  

Mr. Ganesan Sridhar (GM-CB)

Mr. Ganesan Sridhar is the General Manager (Commercial Banking), responsible for the Commercial Banking 

business of the Bank.  He has over 31 years of banking experience, of which 19 years have been with 

BankMuscat and its predecessor banks.  He holds a Master’s Degree in Financial Management from Bajaj 

Institute of Management Studies, Bombay University and a Masters in Arts Degree.  He is a Certified Associate 

of the Indian Institute of Bankers.  He is currently a Board member in Abraj Energy Services LLC.  

Mr. K. Gopakumar (GM-WB)

Mr. K. Gopakumar is General Manager - Wholesale Banking of BankMuscat. He represents BankMuscat in the 

board of Mangal Keshav Holdings Ltd, India. He is a Chartered Accountant, Cost Accountant and Company 

Secretary from India, Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, London, Member of the ACI - The 

Financial Markets Association, London and a Member of the Corporate Treasurers, London.

Table 1:

The total number of meetings of the full Board during the year 1 January, 2008 to 31 December, 2008 were 

9. The maximum interval between 2 meetings was 90 days. This is in compliance with Article 4 of the code, 

which requires meetings to be held within a maximum time gap of four months. The dates of the Board Credit 

and Risk Committee and Board Audit Committee and the dates of meetings of the full Board during the year 

were as follows:

Sr.

No.

Dates of the 

Board Meetings

Dates of meetings of 

the Credit and Risk 

Committee

Dates of meetings of 

the Audit Committee

1 9 January, 2008 27 July, 2008 31 January, 2008

2 31 January, 2008 2 November, 2008 27 February, 2008

3 3 March, 2008 24 November, 2008 23 April, 2008

4 23 April, 2008 16 December, 2008 27 July, 2008

5 6 July, 2008 26 October, 2008

6 27 July, 2008 2 December, 2008

7 26 October, 2008

8 2 December, 2008

9 15 December, 2008
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Table 2:

Details of Board of Directors and meetings held during 2008 and attendance of the Directors at same were 

as follows:

Name of the 
Director

Board position and 
membership of 
committees

Board 
meetings 
attended

Committee 
meetings 
attended

Bases and 
Capacity of 
Membership

Sitting 
Fees 
paid to 
Directors

Sheikh AbdulMalik 
bin Abdullah 
Al Khalili, 
Chairman

Chairman of the Board 
and Chairman of the 
Audit Committee

9 6

Non-executive/
independent/ 
representative of a 
juristic person

10,000

*Sheikh Khalid 
bin Mustahail 
Al Mashani, 
Deputy Chairman

Deputy Chairman 
of the Board and 
Chairman of the 
Board Credit and Risk 
Committee

6 3
Non-executive/
shareholder in 
personal capacity 

7,200

***Societe 
Generale
Mr. Eric Faivre Member of the Board 4 -

Non-executive/
independent/ 
representative of a 
juristic person

3,700

**Dubai Financial 
Group 
(Andrea Moneta / 
Sayanta Basu)

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Audit Committee

6 3

Non-executive/
independent/ 
representative of a 
juristic person

6,750

Brig. Nasser 
bin Mohamed 
Al Harthy

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Audit Committee 

9 6

Non-executive/
independent/ 
representative of a 
juristic person

9,400

Mr. Hamoud 
bin Ibrahim 
Soomar Al Zadjali

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Audit Committee

9 6

Non-executive/
independent/ 
representative of a 
juristic person

9,400

*Mr. K.K. Abdul 
Razak

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Audit Committee

9 6
Non-executive/
shareholder in 
personal capacity 

9,400

Mr. Salim bin 
Taman Al Mashani

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Credit and Risk 
Committee

9 4

Non-executive/
independent/ 
shareholder in 
personal capacity

9,000

Mr. Sulaiman 
bin Mohamed 
Al Yahyai

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Credit and Risk 
Committee

8 3

Non-executive/
independent/ 
shareholder in 
personal capacity

8,200

Mr. Abdul Sallam 
bin Mohamed 
Al Murshidi

Member of the Board 
and member of the 
Credit and Risk 
Committee

9 3

Non-executive/
independent/ 
shareholder in 
personal capacity

8,600

***Mr. Salaam 
bin Said 
Al Shaksy Member of the Board 2 -

Non-executive/
independent/ 
shareholder in 
personal capacity

1,850
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*    Sheikh Khalid bin Mustahail Al Mashani and Mr. K.K. Abdul Razak were non-independent as per the 

     nomination forms they signed before their election to the Board of Directors.

**  Dubai Financial Group was represented by Mr. Andrea Moneta at the first half of the year and then

      replaced by Mr. Sayanta Basu. 

***Mr. Salaam bin Said Al Shaksy and Mr. Eric Faivre both resigned during 2008.

Table 3:

Monthly share prices of BankMuscat’s shares quoted at the Muscat Securities Market (“MSM”) 

and the bands for the banking sector stocks on the Muscat Securities Market.

(This information is available from news agencies and is published information. This is given here as part 

of the requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance for MSM listed companies 2002. This is not a 

solicitation in any manner to subscribe to the Bank’s shares.)

BankMuscat share price

Date High Low Closing price

Jan-08 2.350 1.912 2.052

Feb-08 2.251 1.910 2.200

Mar-08 2.301 1.970 1.986

Apr-08 2.180 1.950 2.054

May-08 2.220 2.050 2.086

Jun-08 2.144 1.789 1.800

Jul-08 1.895 1.600 1.643

Aug-08 1.830 1.461 1.581

Sep-08 1.610 1.100 1.144

Oct-08 1.131 0.798 0.900

Nov-08 1.098 0.826 0.864

Dec-08 0.880 0.700 0.797

Source: Bloomberg 

Banking and investment index movement during 2008

Date High Low Closing price

Jan-08 13.335 11.972 12.223

Feb-08 14.022 12.203 14.003

Mar-08 14.782 13.883 14.071

Apr-08 15.724 13.950 15.428

May-08 15.500 15.107 15.325

Jun-08 16.364 14.429 14.481

Jul-08 15.125 13.273 13.371

Aug-08 13.798 12.125 12.131

Sep-08 12.312 9.804 10.868

Oct-08 10.873 7.323 7.675

Nov-08 8.930 6.983 7.471

Dec-08 7.520 5.870 6.621

Source: Bloomberg
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II) Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Index

BankMuscat is a bank with a heart. BankMuscat Hearts with its distinct logo depicted below stands for support 

from a highly respected institution in the Sultanate of Oman for all social causes and social development work. 

What began as an enthusiastic response of the staff, with the support of management, for the Bank walk to 

raise awareness for social health issues, has now become a recognized symbol in Oman and is welcomed by 

people as a gesture of goodwill and corporate social responsibility. BankMuscat Hearts continues to be run by 

a voluntary group of BankMuscat staff.

Cognizant of this responsibility to society, BankMuscat announced the establishment of its new Corporate 

Social Responsibility (CSR) department as part of its new strategy to implement and support diverse 

community projects. The formation of this department, which includes two full time staff, underscores the 

Bank’s commitment and dedication to developing the society in which it operates and to ensure a prosperous 

future for generations to come. The department has already taken several initiatives in this direction and will 

continue the same over the following months. The new department drove the following initiatives in 2008:

Supporting children with special needs

Recognising the need for continuous training and development of specialised tutors, BankMuscat Corporate 

Social Responsibility Department has funded the training in professional skill development of Omani women to 

become teachers in the Association of Early Intervention for Children with Special Needs offering rehabilitative 

services and catering to children with special needs. The Bank has donated RO 30,000 to support three more 

teachers from the new batch of the Diploma programme to add to the twelve teachers supported earlier. 

Donation of medical equipment to children with special needs 

The Corporate Social Responsibility Department donated five muscle stimulating and mobilising medical 

machines to the Directorate of Health Services in Wilayat Baushar to assist children with brain paralysis. This 

provides resources that address the specific developmental needs of these children to overcome movement 

challenges that will secure a more prosperous future.

Family welfare programme

In collaboration with Dar Al Atta’a Association, BankMuscat’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) team has 

distributed Ramadhan food rations across various areas and villages in Jebel Shams. This initiative is one of the 

many planned activities as part of the ‘BankMuscat Family Welfare’ programme which was inaugurated during 

an agreement signing ceremony on 25 August 2008. The agreement is a clear indication of the Bank’s continued 

partnership with Dar Al Atta’a and commitment to fund an extensive campaign providing food rations for families 

with low income. Additionally, the programme assisted families selected by the Association to furnish their 

homes, provide electricity and water supplies alongside home rental payments and other forms of aid relief.
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‘Borrow Wisely. Drive Safely’ Campaign 

‘Borrow Wisely. Drive Safely’ Campaign is a concept initiated by Auto Loans Department at BankMuscat and 

developed through inputs from Auto Loans and Corporate Social Responsibility. It aims to educate the general 

public about the ‘negative’ impacts of excessive and unwise borrowing as well as being a responsible driver 

using roads safely. It is done in collaboration with Royal Oman Police (ROP). The Campaign activities included 

81 ads in selected local newspapers / printed publications, and distributing 100,000 booklets through 

BankMuscat branches and ROP outlets. 

Contribution to sustainable development

In line with the government priorities and a further advancement of the various initiatives already made by the 

Bank as a responsible corporate citizen, BankMuscat Corporate Social Responsibility in partnership with the 

Ministry of Agriculture has suggested a number of projects which will contribute towards the development of 

the agriculture sector in Oman. These projects, which were initiated in 2008 and are due to be implemented 

in 2009, include the following:

Protected Agriculture using Green Houses;•	

Implementation of Modern Irrigation Systems;•	

Promoting High Quality Omani Bee Honey; and •	

The Agriculture Business Awards.•	

Commitment to environment protection and global warming mitigation 

BankMuscat’s concern for the environment and the pristine beauty that Oman is blessed with is reflected by 

its adoption in letter and spirit of the “Equator Principles”.  BankMuscat was the first bank from the AGCC to 

adopt this ‘environment-friendly’ stand. The “Equator Principles”, are a set of globally recognized, voluntary 

guidelines established to assess and manage social and environmental risk in project financing, especially in 

the emerging markets. The Bank ensures that the projects it finances are developed in a socially responsible 

manner and reflect sound environmental management practices as per the Equator Principle guidelines.
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Basel II
Pillar III

Disclosures

A. Introduction and overview

Risk Management is the process by which the Bank identifies key risks, obtains consistent, understandable 

risk measures, and chooses which risks to reduce, which to increase and by what means, and establishes 

procedures to monitor the resulting risk position. The objective of risk management is to ensure that the Bank 

operates within the risk levels set by the Bank’s Board of Directors while the various business functions pursue 

their objective of maximizing the risk adjusted returns. 

Risk management is the overall responsibility of the Bank’s Board of Directors and is managed by the Board 

Credit and Risk Committee (BCRC). But, for the purpose of day-to-day management of risks, the Bank has 

created an independent Risk Management department. Risk Management department objectively reviews and 

ensures that the various functions of the Bank operate in compliance with the risk parameters as set by the 

Board of Directors. Risk Management function has a dotted reporting line to the Board of Directors and, being 

a control function, has a reporting line independent of business lines.

The risk appetite of the Bank in various business areas of the Bank is defined and communicated through an 

enterprise-wide risk policy. The Bank’s risk policy, approved by its Board of Directors, analyses and sets risk 

limits for core risks - Credit risk, Liquidity risk, Market risk and Operational risk. The risk levels of each of 

these categories is measured and monitored on a continuous basis and compliance to prescribed risk levels 

reported on a quarterly basis. It ensures prudent management of the risks assumed by the Bank in its normal 

course of business. The risk policy is updated regularly based on an analysis of the economic trends and the 

operating environment in the countries where the Bank operates. 

A.1 Basel II developments

The Bank’s regulator - the Central Bank of Oman (CBO) - sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank 

as a whole. In implementing Basel II’s capital requirement, CBO requires the Bank to maintain a minimum ratio 

of 10% of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.
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BankMuscat is determining regulatory capital as recommended by New Basel II Capital Accord, in line with 

the guidelines of Central Bank of Oman with effect from 2007. Bank adopts Standardised (comprehensive) 

approach for Credit Risk and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk. 

A.2 Scope of application

With effect from 1st January 2007, Basel II capital accord framework is applied to BankMuscat SAOG. 

The Bank has investment in Associates namely BankMuscat International, Bahrain, Saudi Pak Commercial 

Bank, Pakistan and Mangal Keshav Holding Limited, India. Investments in associates are deducted from the 

capital in arriving at the Tier I capital. The associates referred meet its respective regulatory capital requirements. 

The disclosures made in this section pertain to BankMuscat SAOG alone.

B. Capital management

B.1 Capital structure

The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into three tiers:

Tier I capital, which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, distributable and •	

non-distributable reserves and retained earnings after deductions for goodwill and fifty percent of 

carrying value of investment in associates as per the regulatory adjustments that are included in 

equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes.

Tier II capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities (net of reserves), collective •	

impairment allowances and the element of the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on equity 

instruments classified as available-for-sale to the extent permitted after deductions for fifty percent of 

carrying value of investments in associates.

Tier III capital includes qualifying subordinated liabilities (net of reserves).•	

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The qualifying Tier II capital cannot exceed Tier 

I capital; qualifying subordinated liabilities may not exceed fifty percent of Tier I capital; and amount of 

collective impairment allowances that may be included as part of Tier II capital is limited to 1.25% of the total 

risk-weighted assets. 

Capital Base:

Tier I Capital RO'000

 Share capital 107,713 

 Share premium 301,505 

 Legal reserve 35,905 

 General reserve 56,308 

 Subordinated loan reserve 24,200 

 Retained profit 94,343 

 619,974 
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Tier I Capital RO'000

 Less:  

 Goodwill (2,228)

 Deferred tax Asset (2,385)

 Investments in associates (50%) (45,338)

 Tier I Capital 570,023 

  

Tier II Capital

 Cumulative change in fair value (45%) 28,952 

 General Loan loss impairment 52,261 

 Subordinated liabilities (net of reserves) 86,800 

 168,013 

 Less:  

 Investments in associates (50%) (45,338)

 Tier II Capital 122,675 

  

 Tier III Capital ( Net of Reserve) 2,500 

  

 Total Capital available 695,198 

Note: Retained profit excludes proposed cash dividend of RO 21.54 million

B.2 Capital adequacy

Capital adequacy indicates the ability of the Bank in meeting any contingency without compromising the 

interest of the depositors and to provide credit across the business cycles. Sufficient capital in relation to 

the risk profile of the Bank’s assets helps promote financial stability and the confidence of the stakeholders.  

The Bank aims to maximise the shareholder’s value through an optimal capital structure that protects the 

stakeholders interests under most extreme stress situations, provides sufficient room for growth while meeting 

the regulatory requirements and at the same time gives a reasonable return to the shareholders.

While risk coverage is the prime factor influencing capital retention, the Bank is conscious of the fact that 

as a business entity, its capital needs to be serviced and a comfortable rate of return needs to be provided 

to the shareholders. Excessive capital will dilute the return on capital and this in turn can exert pressure for 

profitability propelling business asset growth resulting in the Bank assuming higher levels of risk. In the 

retention of capital, the Bank’s policy is governed by the need for adequately providing for associated risk and 

the needs for servicing the capital retained. The Bank makes good use of subordinated loans as Tier II Capital 

and raises share capital as and when the need arises. The Bank’s strong and diverse shareholder profile gives 

the Bank the necessary confidence in its ability to raise capital when it is needed.

The management of the Bank is well aware of the need to move to more advanced approaches for measuring 

credit risk and operational risk. In this regard Bank has a ‘building block’ approach and has made progress in 

certain areas. Gaps have been identified, a road map has been laid down for each area and progress measured 

at regular intervals.

Capital Base contd.
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Gross 

Balance 

(Book Value)

Net 

Balances 

(Book Value) *

Risk 

Weighted 

Assets

 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 

 On-balance sheet items 5,815,417 5,444,327 4,285,183 

 Off-balance sheet items 1,504,076 1,504,076 706,770 

 Derivatives   83,296 

 Total Credit Risk   5,075,249 

 Total Market Risk   99,795 

 Total Operational Risk   328,559 

   5,503,603 

    

 Tier I Capital   570,023 

 Tier II Capital   122,675 

 Tier III Capital (Net of Reserves)   2,500 

 Total Regulatory Capital   695,198 

    

 Capital Requirement for Credit Risk   507,525 

 Capital Requirement for Market Risk   9,980 

 Capital Requirement for Operational Risk   32,856 

 Total Required Capital   550,361 

    

 Tier I Ratio   10.75%

 Total Capital Ratio   12.63%

* Net of provisions & reserved interest & eligible collaterals

B.3 Capital allocation

The allocation of capital between specific business units and activities is, to a large extent, driven by 

optimisation of the return on capital allocated. Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is 

the principal basis used in determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular business units 

or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making. Other factors such as synergies between the 

units or activities, the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with the Bank’s 

longer term strategic objectives are taken in to account while allocating capital.

 C. Risk exposure and assessment

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

Credit risk•	

Liquidity risk•	

Market risk•	

Operational risk  •	
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C.1 Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counter party to honour its financial 

or contractual obligations in accordance with the agreed terms. The function of credit risk management is 

to maximise the Bank’s risk-adjusted rate of return by maintaining credit risk exposure within acceptable 

parameters. Credit risk makes up the largest part of the Bank’s risk exposure. Credit Risk Management process 

of the Bank begins with the risk policy, updated regularly, which clearly defines parameters for each type of 

risks assumed by the Bank. 

The Bank has set for itself clear and well-defined limits to address different dimensions of credit risk including 

concentration risk. Compliance with the various parameters set in the risk policy is reviewed on a regular basis 

and variances from the norms are reported to the Board of Directors and Management on a quarterly basis. 

The Bank addresses credit risk through the following process:

All credit processes – Approval, disbursal, administration, classification, recoveries and write-off – •	

are governed by the Bank’s credit manual which is reviewed by Risk Management. The credit policy 

stipulates clear guidelines for each of these functions and the lending authority at various levels as 

stipulated in appropriate ‘Lending Authority Limits’.

All corporate lending proposals where the proposed credit limit for a borrower or related group exceeds •	

a threshold are submitted for approval/renewal to the appropriate authority after an independent review 

by the Risk Management Department whose comments are incorporated into the proposal.

All corporate lending accounts are reviewed at least once a year. The consumer-lending portfolio •	

including credit cards are reviewed on a portfolio basis at least once a year.

Concentration of exposure to counterparties, geographies and sector are governed and monitored •	

according to regulatory norms and limits prescribed in the Bank’s risk policy.

The corporate borrowers are risk rated to provide support for credit decisions. The portfolio is analyzed •	

based on risk grades and risk grade migration to focus on management of prevalent credit risk.

Sovereign risk

Sovereign risk is managed in the same manner as Credit Risk, i.e. an assessment is made as to the level of 

exposure in a country with which the Bank is comfortable, taking into account all relevant risk factors. Specific 

sovereign limits are established for each country based on country visits, sovereign ratings assigned by 

external rating agencies and in the absence of such ratings, rating provided by ECA. The sovereign limits are 

approved by the Board of Directors. Where the derived rating is below a specified threshold, country limits 

are based on an independent risk assessment of the country. The country risk assessment is based on various 

factors including economic and fiscal policy framework, political stability and developments, social factors, 

the banking system of that country and relationship outlook. 
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The following table gives the distribution of risk exposure by country by rating (Moody’s’ rating):

Country rating distribution % of  total 

Country

summary % of  total

Aaa to Aa3 72.04 Investment Grade 94.13

A1 to A3 2.62

Sub Investment 

Grade 1.89

Baa1 to Baa3 19.47 Unrated 3.98

Ba1 to Ba3 1.47   

B1 to B3 0.42   

Below B3 -   

Unrated 3.98   

Total 100.00% Total 100.00%

Bank counterparty risk

The exposure to overseas banks shall be within the specific country limits approved by the Board. Exposures 

to banks are guided by risk assessment based on latest ratings assigned by external rating agencies. Where 

a bank is unrated, an independent assessment of the bank is carried out based on quantitative and qualitative 

factors. Continuous  monitoring of country and bank exposures against the limits are done and reported on 

a regular basis.

The following table gives distribution of exposures among banks by rating (Moody’s’ ratings): 

Bank rating distribution % of  total Bank summary % of  total

Aaa to Aa3 24.26 Investment Grade 65.02

A1 to A3 27.44

Sub Investment 

Grade 16.84

Baa1 to Baa3 13.32 Unrated 18.14

Ba1 to Ba3 15.96  

B1 to B3 0.88  

Below B3 -  

Unrated 18.14  

Total 100.00% Total 100.00%

Loans and advances

Loans and advances form approximately 62.2% of the Bank’s total assets. The Bank’s credit risk in loans and 

advances are measured, monitored and managed against various criteria like economic sector concentration, 

single borrower concentration, substantial exposure limit, frequency of credit review, portfolio review for rating 

migration, lending in foreign currencies, and cross border exposures. 
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Corporate loans

Corporate lending accounts for approximately 61.2% of the total loan book of the Bank. While the day-to-day 

management of corporate credit and the asset quality is the responsibility of the business line management, 

all medium and large corporate proposals/renewals are independently reviewed by the Risk Management 

Department, whose recommendations form an important input to the decision making process. Every account 

is reviewed individually once a year or more frequently if the situation so warrants. 

The risk policy ensures that the Bank’s lending is targeted and distributed over various economic sectors. The 

sectoral exposures, which include both funded and non-funded, for the year 2008 were within the prescribed 

limits. Detailed sector analysis is done every year and reports submitted to the management on emerging 

trends to aid the lending decisions. 

Using globally renowned risk rating software, the Bank does an objective risk rating of all its corporate 

borrowers based on their financial position as reflected in their latest audited financial statements and other 

relevant subjective matters as evaluated by the concerned relationship managers. Risk rating is centralised at 

risk management department to provide objectivity and ensure uniformity of the rating process. In forming 

an opinion on the corporate proposals/renewals the borrower’s risk rating, collaterals, pricing and other 

relationship are considered. The risk rating of the borrowers are back-tested to ensure the robustness of the 

rating model. The risk rating grades are reviewed regularly and corrective action initiated where necessary.

Consumer Banking

The Consumer Banking portfolio is managed through a portfolio basis and administered through the retail 

lending policy. Consumer Banking accounts for 38.8% of the Bank’s loan book. The consumer lending in the 

Bank is largely granted against confirmed assignment of salaries from employers approved by the Bank. The 

approved employers’ list is regularly reviewed based on the financial profile of the company as reflected in their 

ratings and other relevant factors included in their profile as stable employers.

BankMuscat employs a range of policies and procedures to mitigate credit risk. The credit risk mitigants include 

collaterals like real estate, lien on deposits, securities, inventories, assignment of receivables, guarantees etc. 

A robust collateral management system is in place to mitigate any operational risk, which may be present. The 

Bank has a strong credit administration process that ensures compliance with terms of approval, completion 

of documentation and continuous review to ensure the quality of credit is maintained.  

All loans and advances of the Bank are regularly monitored to ensure compliance with the stipulated repayment 

terms. These loans and advances are classified into one of the 5 risk classification categories: Standard, 

Special Mention, Substandard, Doubtful, and Loss – as stipulated by Central Bank of Oman regulations and 

guidelines. The responsibility for identifying problem accounts and classifying them rests with business line 

function. Line management shall ensure that the downgrading of accounts is gradual and appropriate measures 

have been initiated at each level of classification. Counterparties which on the basis of the risk rating system 

demonstrate the likelihood of problems are identified well in advance to effectively manage the credit exposure 

and optimize the recovery. The motive of this early warning system is to address potential problems while 

adequate options for action are still available. All possible help is extended to those customers in the watch 

list, which will enable them to stay in the ‘Standard’ category. The Bank has a specialist remedial credit unit 

for Corporate, SME and Retail Banking to manage problem loans. This unit provides assistance and advice to 

customers to recover from problem situations and aid recoveries. 

The Bank adopts a rigorous standard for identification, provisioning and monitoring of the non-performing 

loans towards an eventual recovery. Every problem account is reviewed to evaluate compliance with laid 
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down lending norms, arrive at an appropriate grade commensurate with the risk and incorporate the lessons, 

if any, into the Bank’s lending guidelines.  The Bank makes provision for bad and doubtful debts promptly 

when required in line with the conservative provisioning norms it has set for itself. The Bank arrives at the 

provisioning requirement both under IFRS and CBO guidelines and maintains whichever provision is higher.

As a conservative policy, the Bank makes adequate provision against non-performing credit exposures. In 

addition to the above, the Bank also makes a non-specific loan loss provision equivalent to 2% of retail 

lending portfolio and 1% of corporate banking portfolio. 

The gross credit risk exposures, plus average gross exposure over the period broken down by major types of 

credit exposure are given in the table below:

Types of Credit Exposure

Average

Gross Exposure

Total Gross

Exposure as at

 2008 2007 Dec-08 Dec-07

 Overdrafts 137,531 135,450 226,314 151,016 

 Personal & Housing Loans 1,322,094 999,642 1,495,294 1,129,648 

 Loans against Trust Receipts 119,359 81,099 150,448 75,467 

 Corporate & other Loans 1,612,754 1,013,215 1,903,623 1,330,637 

 Bills purchased / discounted 

& other advances 79,575 108,232 77,595 108,795 

 Total 3,271,313 2,337,638 3,853,274 2,795,563 

Geographic distribution of exposures, broken down into significant areas by major types of credit exposure is 

given in the table below:  

Types of Credit 

Exposure Oman

Other GCC 

Countries

OECD 

Countries India Pakistan Others Total

 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Overdrafts 226,304 -  -  10 -  -  226,314 

Personal & 

Housing Loans 1,484,460 10,834 -  -  -  -  1,495,294 

Loans against 

Trust Receipts 148,876 1,572 -  -  -  -  150,448 

Corporate & 

other Loans 1,658,253 232,897 1,215 8,011 -  3,247 1,903,623 

Bills purchased / 

discounted 76,058 682 -  816 -  39 77,595 

Total 3,593,951 245,985 1,215 8,837 -  3,286 3,853,274 
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Industry or counter party type distribution of exposures, broken down by major types of credit exposure is 

given in the table below:     

Economic Sector Overdraft Loans

Bills  / LTR 

& other 

advances Total

Off B. Sheet 

Exposures

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Agriculture/Allied Activity 4,322 6,064 3,713 14,099 14,508

Construction 17,300 82,514 29,793 129,607 220,742

Export Trade 883 670 847 2,400 2,479

Financial Institutions 13,472 213,786 2,918 230,176 187,113

Government 10,373 15,482 65 25,920 151,607

Import Trade 19,021 78,315 63,944 161,280 102,607

Manufacturing 19,077 228,983 32,695 280,755 75,223

Mining & Quarrying 928 254,463 7,967 263,358 32,670

Personal Loans 56,447 1,433,510 5,337 1,495,294 13,551

Real Estate 6,529 183,644 - 190,173 15,011

Services 16,903 373,439 24,624 414,966 97,183

Transport/Communication 3,133 82,932 2,180 88,245 7,411

Utility 9,875 123,178 593 133,646 13,005

Wholesale & Retail Trade 24,977 163,091 34,158 222,226 44,852

Others 23,074 158,846 19,209 201,129 71,016

Total 226,314 3,398,917 228,043 3,853,274 1,048,978

Residual contractual maturity breakdown of the whole portfolio, broken down by major types of credit exposure 

are given below in the table:

Time Band Overdraft Loans

Loan against 

trust receipts

Bills 

Purchased / 

Discounted & 

others Total

 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000

Up to 1 month 31,268 99,330  43,274 24,632 198,504

1 - 3  months 8,881 115,190 57,732 35,682 217,485

3 - 6  months 8,881 170,376 42,045 11,471 232,773

6 - 9 months 8,881 92,359 6,030 3,463 110,733

9 - 12 months 15,459 90,049 1,367 925 107,800

1 - 3  years 44,403 594,780 - 234 639,417

3 - 5  years 44,403 437,604 - - 482,007

Over 5 years 64,138 1,673,655 - 1,188 1,738,981

Total 226,314 

        

3,273,343 150,448 

                        

77,595 

       

3,727,700 
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An analysis of the loan book by economic sector or counter party type is given below:

Economic 

sector

Gross      

loans

Of  

which, 

NPLs

Non-

specific 

provision 

Specific 

provision 

Reserve 

interest

Provisions 

during '08

Advances 

written-off 

in 2008

  RO'000  RO'000  RO'000  RO'000  RO'000  RO'000  RO'000 

Agriculture/ 
Allied Activity 14,099 2,910 - 992 412 203 41

Construction 129,607 7,202 - 4,554 2,178 468 902

Export Trade 2,400 141 - 83 58 3 21

Financial
Institutions 230,176 - - - - - -

Government 25,920 - - - - - -

Import Trade 161,280 677 - 452 169 356 -

Manufacturing 280,755 17,563 - 9,807 3,186 2,152 725

Mining & 
Quarrying 263,358 1,013 - 222 158 212 -

Personal /  

Housing Loans 1,495,294 37,397 - 16,906 7,047 7,453 858

Real Estate 190,173 - - - - - -

Services 414,966 1,649 - 844 774 18 232

Transport / 
Communication 88,245 421 - 256 165 1 30

Utility 133,646 4 - 2 - - -

Wholesale & 
Retail Trade 222,226 15,871 - 6,290 5,677 673 102

Others 201,129 22,869 - 6,929 6,152 865 204

Non Specific - - 52,260 - - 12,221 -

Total 3,853,274 107,717 52,260 47,337 25,976 24,625 3,115

An analysis of gross loans broken down by significant geographic areas is given below:  

Countries

Gross      

loans

Of which, 

NPLs

Non-

specific 

provision

Specific 

provision 

Reserve 

interest

Provisions 

during '08

Advances 

written-off 

in 2008

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Oman 3,593,951 107,688 52,260 47,337 25,974 24,596 3,115

Other GCC 

Countries 245,985 29 - - 2 29 - 

OECD Countries 1,215 - - - - - - 

India 8,837 - - - - - - 

Pakistan - - - - - - - 

Others 3,286 - - - - - -

Total 3,853,274 107,717 52,260 47,337 25,976 24,625 3,115
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Movement of gross loans is given in the below table:   

Movement of Gross Loans during the year

 Performing Loans Non Performing Loans   

Details Standard

Specially 

Mentioned

Sub 

Standard Doubtful Loss Total

 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000 RO'000

Opening Balance 2,616,681 84,680 8,114 16,622 69,466 2,795,563 

Migration / 
Changes  5,779 82,240 9,064 3,892 13,231 114,206 

New Loans 989,258 21,100 1,361 2,525 7,716 1,021,960 

Recovery of Loans 31,193 22,988 2,122 4,188 14,849 75,340 

Loans written off -  -  -  13 3,102 3,115 

Closing Balance 3,580,525 165,032 16,417 18,838 72,462 3,853,274 

Provisions held 52,280 -  4,045 7,715 35,558 99,598 

Reserve Interest 33 25 889 1,100 23,929 25,976 

C.2 Credit Risk: Disclosures for portfolio subject to the Standardized Approach

Bank has been using Moody’s ratings for risk weight of the assets. Moody’s ratings are used for country, Bank 

and corporate exposures. 

Type of exposure Rated Unrated

  RO'000  RO'000 

 Country          1,616,228               67,201 

 Bank          1,212,445               268,743 

C.3 Credit risk mitigation: Disclosures for Standardized Approaches

On and off-balance sheet netting agreements are entered in to with the counterparties wherever possible. 

Whenever entered into contractual agreements are made accordingly. 

Main types of applicable collaterals under Standardized comprehensive approach are:

Cash on deposit with the Bank •	

Certificates of deposits, issued by Central Bank of Oman.•	

Sultanate of Oman Government Development Bonds•	

Bank Guarantees•	

Equities listed in Muscat Securities Market included in the Main Index•	

Equities listed in Muscat Securities Market that are not included in the Main Index but are listed in the exchange•	

Apart from the above mentioned collateral, Guarantees of the Government of Sultanate of Oman are considered 

for credit risk mitigation purpose.

Systems and process are in place to mitigate any operational risk, which may manifest in the process of 

obtaining securities to mitigate credit risk. Continuous review and valuation of securities taken are done to 

ensure the quality. Appropriate haircuts, as provided by the Central Bank of Oman, to mitigate the risks within 

the securities are applied.
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Break-up of total exposure covered by eligible collaterals under the Standardized approach are given below:

Gross loans & 

advances

 RO’000

 Loans fully secured by Cash 
 Commercial loans secured by Cash 

 

58,828

  

 Loans secured by shares  
 Commercial loans secured by shares 

 

99,956

 Total 158,784

D. Market risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in the value of on or off-balance sheet financial instruments caused 

by a change in market prices or rates including changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity 

investments and commodity prices. The market risk subject to capital charge normally arises from changes in 

value due to market forces that include interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equities and commodities. The 

Bank does not trade in commodities. Trading limits are set for each product and risk type in order to ensure 

that the Bank’s market risk is managed well within the overall regulatory requirements set by the Central Bank 

of Oman and internal regulations contained in the Risk Policy. Limits and all internal/external guidelines are 

strictly adhered to, deviations, if any, are immediately escalated and action taken wherever necessary. 

The principal categories of market risk faced by BankMuscat are set out below:

Foreign Exchange Risk•	

Investment Price Risk •	

Interest Rate Risk•	

D.1 Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the foreign currency positions taken by the Bank may be adversely 

affected due to volatility in foreign exchange rates. The responsibility for management of foreign exchange 

risk rests with the treasury division of the Bank. The Bank’s foreign exchange exposures are governed by 

the treasury policy and risk policy approved by the Board of Directors. Foreign exchange risk management 

in the Bank is ensured through regular measurement and monitoring of open foreign exchange positions 

against approved limits. Most of the foreign exchange transactions carried out by the division are on behalf 

of corporate customers and are on a back-to-back basis. The treasury takes every possible action to cover 

the open positions created by customer transactions. In extreme cases residual portion of the open position 

created by the customer is carried by the Bank and covered at the next available opportunity. 

The risk policy of the Bank stipulates that the foreign exchange exposure should be limited to an aggregate 

of 40% of the Bank’s net worth. It also stipulates that exposure on any single non-parity currency should be 

restricted to the extent of 3% of the Bank’s net worth and restricted to the extent of 10% of the Bank’s net worth 

for all non parity currencies taken together. As at 31 December the net foreign exchange exposure remained 

at OMR 110,616k.



41

Inspired people. Inspiring results.

USD'000 RO'000

240,192 Saudi Riyal 92,474 

179,338 Bahraini Dinar 69,045 

88,821 Pakistani Rupee 34,196 

71,179 US Dollar 27,404 

60,156 Indian Rupee 23,160 

27,566 UAE Dirham 10,613 

3,203 Kuwait Dinar 1,233 

112 Qatari Riyal 43 

26,881 Others 10,349 

697,448  Total 268,517 

The net exposure in foreign currencies includes foreign currency exposure on investment in overseas 

associates and branches of equivalent RO 158 million, which are exempted from regulatory limit on foreign 

exchange exposure.

D.2 Investment Price Risk

Investment price risk is the risk of reduction in the market value of the Bank’s portfolio as a result of diminishment 

in the market value of individual investment. The responsibility for management of investment price risk rests 

with the Investment Banking division under the supervision and guidance from the Investment Committee of 

the Bank. The Bank’s investments are governed by an investment policy and risk policy approved by the Board 

of Directors and are subject to rigorous due diligence. All the investments are subject to a stop loss limits. 

If this limit is triggered then investments are disposed of immediately or exceptionally retained only with the 

approval of the Investment Committee based on due justification. The rating and price of the instruments are 

monitored on a regular basis and necessary actions are taken to reduce exposure if needed. The entire portfolio 

is regularly revalued at closing market price to ensure that unrealized losses, if any, on account of reduction 

in the market value of the investments over its cost remains within the acceptable parameters defined in the 

Bank’s investment policy. 

D.3 Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Bank’s profitability will be adversely affected by changes in interest rates 

and mismatches or gaps in the amount of assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet items that mature or 

re-price in a given period. Interest rate risk poses a risk on the Bank’s earnings and economic value of equity 

and is monitored from both angles. Earning perspective refers to the impact on the net interest margin (NIM) 

of the Bank due to changes in market rates and Economic value perspective refers to the long-term impact of 

changing interest rates on the equity. 

The responsibility for interest rate risk management rests with the Bank’s Asset Liability Management 

Committee (ALCO). The interest rate maturity profile of assets and liabilities is carefully monitored by the 

ALCO in its meetings through the use of interest rate gap reports and sensitivity analysis facilitated by a 

sophisticated asset-liability management system. In order to manage the Bank’s interest rate risks, the Bank 

uses limit structures, which inter-alia include limits relating to positions, portfolios and stop losses. As part of 
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our hedging process, we monitor our exposures on a total basis, implementing interest rate swaps and caps 

to reduce the exposure to interest rate movements as appropriate. 

The Bank’s interest rate sensitivity position of assets and liabilities is outlined in note 40.4.4 to the financial 

statements.

Re-pricing gap is the difference between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities spread over distinct 

maturity bands based on residual maturity or re-pricing dates. The Bank uses currency-wise and consolidated 

re-pricing gaps to quantify interest rate risk exposure over distinct maturities and analyze the magnitude of 

portfolio changes necessary to alter existing risk profile. The distribution of assets and liabilities over these 

time bands is done based on the actual repricing schedules. The schedules are used as a guideline to assess 

interest rate risk sensitivity and to focus the efforts towards reducing the mismatch in the repricing pattern of 

assets and liabilities.

The Bank uses simulation reports as an effective tool for understanding risk exposure under variety of interest 

rate scenario. These reports help the ALCO to understand the direction of interest rate risk in the Bank and 

decide on the appropriate strategy and hedging mechanism for managing it. The Bank’s current on and off 

balance sheet exposures are evaluated under static environment to quantify potential effect of external interest 

rate shocks on the earnings and economic value of equity at risk, using assumptions about future course of 

interest rates and changes in Bank’s business profile. The simulation report analyses seven possible different 

scenarios.

Treasury determine the base scenario based on the expected interest rate movements, deposit movements and 

deployment of funds. The simulation exercise then compares six variations to this base scenario – three rates 

up and three rates down scenario.  

The effect of different rate shock under Earnings perspective and Economic value perspective is given below:

 +200 bps -200 bps +100 bps -100 bps +50 bps -50 bps

Impact on 

net interest income        

At 31 December (7,032) (836) (4,005) 897 (2,504) 699 

Average for the period (6,850) (162) (3,930) 1,203 (2,476) 729 

Maximum for the period (11,940) (2,455) (6,451) (777) (3,730) (697)

Minimum for the period (3,498) 3,854 (2,316) 3,328 (1,616) 1,919 

Impact on 

economic value       

At 31 December (115,752) 132,558 (60,496) 63,780 (31,397) 31,322 

Average for the period (106,336) 121,904 (54,853) 58,464 (28,406) 28,948 

Maximum for the period (140,342) 165,759 (73,872) 79,180 (38,447) 38,697 

Minimum for the period (88,823) 101,656 (35,184) 47,415 (15,440) 25,752 

E. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability of the Bank to meet its maturing obligations to a counter party. In order 

to ensure that the Bank can meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due, there is a close monitoring 

of the assets/liabilities position. Liquidity risk management ensures that the Bank has the ability under varying 
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scenarios to fund increase in assets and meet maturing obligations as they arise. Asset-Liability Committee 

(ALCO) evaluates the balance sheet both from a structural as well as liquidity and interest rate sensitivity point 

of view. In addition, it is also responsible for funding strategy and foreign exchange risk review.

The Bank’s Treasury division is responsible for overall liquidity management under the guidance and 

supervision of Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO). The Bank’s risk policy stipulates broad 

guidelines in respect of liquidity risk management such as gap limits, minimum liquidity ratio and limit on 

illiquid assets to be maintained by the Bank. Liquidity risk management is monitored through all these liquidity 

measurement tools and controlled by a combination of stock approach, cash flow approach and contingency 

planning. 

Stock approach measures liquidity in terms of various liquidity ratios to portray that sufficient liquidity is 

stored in the balance sheet. The risk policy stipulates minimum liquidity requirements taking into account the 

regulatory requirements and best industry practices that would ensure adequate liquidity for the Bank under 

most adverse situations.

Cash flow approach measures currency-wise, bank-wide liquidity profile through maturity ladders and 

cumulative liquidity gaps. Under this approach liquidity position is determined by assessing the expected 

future cash flows, positive or negative in the respective time bands according to the residual term to maturity. 

It is assumed that fund would be repaid on their contractual maturity date. In respect of certain assets, which 

lack any definite contractual maturity, the tenor is considered based on their historical behaviour.  Mismatch 

between assets and liabilities under each time bucket are contained within 15% of the accumulated uncovered 

liabilities at the end of the each time band up to 1 year maturity and 25% of accumulated uncovered liabilities 

in respect of time bands over 1 year.

Contingency planning quantifies and measures alternative liquidity resorts available with the Bank to withstand 

Bank specific or market stress situation that may arise from unexpected developments, either internal or 

external factors. The risk policy of the Bank outlines the broad framework in respect of contingency plan and 

measures to be adopted to handle liquidity crisis in such situations. 

A diversified funding base has evolved to include deposits raised from inter-bank placements, certificates 

of deposits, customer deposits, bonds and medium term funds raised through floating rate notes and 

subordinated liabilities. These together with the strength of the Bank’s equity and asset quality ensure that 

funds are made available at competitive rates. 

The sources and maturities of assets and liabilities are closely monitored to avoid any undue concentration 

and ensure a robust management of liquidity risks. The deposits source is widespread, has maintained a 

stable profile during the year and is within the limits prescribed by the risk policy to manage concentration of 

deposits. A substantial portion of the Bank’s deposits is made up of retail current, savings and fixed deposit 

accounts, which, though payable on demand or at short notice, have traditionally formed part of a stable 

deposit base and a key source of funds for the Bank. 

Concentration of deposits from the Government, Ministries and other Governmental organizations as a percentage 

of total deposit remained at 27%. Deposits from any one single individual / corporate is less than 5% of the total 

deposits and is in compliance with the risk policy. The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity 

risk is the ratio of liquid assets to total deposits and liquid assets to total assets. For this purpose the liquid 

assets include cash and balances with Central Banks, government securities, treasury bills and placements with 

Banks. The Bank enjoys a very comfortable liquidity ratio and is well within the prescribed limits. Throughout the 

year the liquidity ratio - liquid asset to total assets was maintained in excess of 26%.  At the year-end 2008, the 

liquidity ratio – liquid asset to total assets was 28.95% as against the risk policy standard of 14%. 
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Additional information on liquidity ratios and asset and liability mismatches are outlined in note 4.d to the 

financial statements.

F. Operational Risk Management

Operational risk is the risk that deficiencies in information systems/internal controls or uncontrollable external 

events will result in loss. The risk is associated with human error, systems failure and inadequate procedures 

or control and external causes. As per the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS), operational risk 

is the risk of monetary losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 

from external events.

Basel II outlines three methods for calculating operational risk capital charges – the Basic Indicator Approach, 

the Standardised Approach and Advances Measurement Approach. BankMuscat adopts Basic Indicator 

Approach for calculating operational risk capital charge.

Losses from external events such as a natural disaster that has a potential to damage the Bank’s physical assets 

or electrical or telecommunications failures that disrupt business are relatively easier to define than losses 

from internal problems such as employee fraud and product flaws. The risks from internal problems are more 

closely tied to the Bank’s specific products and business lines; they are more specific to the Bank’s operations 

than the risks due to external events. Operational risks faced by the Bank include IT security, telecom failure, 

frauds, and operational errors.

As a part of continuous improvement in the risk management process within the Bank, the Bank has developed 

its own Operational Risk Management Software, ‘FORTE’ OpRisk Monitor’. The Software aids assessment of 

operational risks as well as collection and analysis of operational losses.

The Bank’s risk policy provides the framework to identify, assess, monitor, control and report operational risks 

in a consistent and comprehensive manner across the Bank. A distinct Operational Risk Management function 

is in place since 2003 to independently support business units in the management of operational risks. The 

objectives of Operational Risk Management are as follows:

To achieve strong risk control by harnessing the latest risk management technologies and techniques, •	

resulting in a distinctive risk management capability, enabling business units to meet their performance 

and growth objectives.

To enable adequate capital allocation in respect of potential impact of operational risks.•	

To minimize the impact of operational risks through means like a fully functional Business Continuity •	

Plans, up-to-date documentation and by developing general operational risk awareness within the Bank.

Business units have the primary responsibility for identifying, measuring and managing the operational risks 

that are inherent in their respective operations. Operational risk is controlled through a series of strong internal 

controls and audits, well-defined segregation of duties and reporting lines, detailed operational manuals and 

standards. The Operational Risk Unit oversees the range of operational risk across the Bank in accordance with 

the Operational Risk Management Framework. Internal Audit independently reviews effectiveness of the Bank’s 

internal control and its ability to minimize the impact of operational risks.

A quantitative measure of operational risk is necessary to measure and manage risks. The operational loss 

reporting procedure provides for operational losses to be reported and captured in a database for classification 

into operational risk categories. 

Operational Losses are reported through the Bank’s proprietary operational risk management tool,  
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FORTE’ OpRisk Monitor. The operational loss data collected is categorized by business line and loss type and 

reported to senior management on a periodic basis. Aggregate operational risk losses are recorded and details 

of incidents above a materiality threshold are reported to the Senior Management and the Bank’s Operations 

Committee. The Bank also does a periodic analysis of the operational losses to identify the reasons for the 

losses and take appropriate actions to reduce their incidence. 

Towards assessing the operational risk profile of the Bank, improving the operational risk management process 

at the Bank and keeping in line with the industry best practices, the Bank has implemented the Controls and 

Risk Self Assessment (CRSA) framework across the bank. The first CRSA exercise has been completed and a 

detailed report on the findings of the exercise has been released.

A total of 93 (2007 - 149) potential operational loss events occurred and were reported across the Bank during 

the year, representing a net potential loss of OMR 522 K (2007 - OMR 900 K).

EDPM: Execution, Delivery and Process Management 
BDSF: Business Disruption and System Failures

IF: Internal Fraud
EF: External Fraud

Operational Loss Summary - Risk Event Type

1
12

30

50

Number of events

14,445

164,053
343,882

Net potential loss (OMR)



46

Thousands of happy faces. 

So many dreams come true. 

Over the years, our retail 

products have brightened 

the lives of people across 

Oman. We’re proud to help 

our customers realize their 

financial objectives.



Inspired people. Inspiring results.

47

Insurance is used as a tool to hedge against operational risks at the Bank. The Bank has obtained Insurance 

against operational risks which comes in a variety of forms, such as Bankers’ Blanket Bond, Electronic & 

Computer Crimes, Professional Indemnity, etc. While insurance cannot alter the probability of risks, 

it allows transfer of the financial impact of risks. The Insurance is primarily aimed at protecting the Bank from 

high-severity low-frequency risks.

F.1 Business Continuity Planning (BCP)

The Bank ensures that its systems and procedures are resilient to ensure business continuity through potential 

situations of failure. The Bank has put in place contingency plans to ensure that its business runs effectively in the 

event of most unforeseen disasters. The Bank continuously strengthens its existing plans by implementing a robust 

business continuity plan to ensure that its systems and procedures are resilient and ready to meet ‘emergency 

preparedness’. The BCP committee is entrusted with the responsibility of formulating, adopting, implementing, 

testing and maintaining a robust BCP for the Bank. BCP Committee continuously reviews and agrees with the 

strategic Business Continuity assessment and planning information to ensure Business Continuity Management, 

planning and maintenance responsibilities are assigned and understood across the business areas.

Total number of events occurring in 2008 = 93

Aggregate net potential loss occuring in 2008 = OMR 522,380
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Management
Discussion & 

Analysis

Global Economy

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects the global economic growth to fall to 0.5% in 2009, its 

lowest rate since World War II. Despite wide-ranging policy actions, financial strains remain acute, pulling 

down the real economy. Helped by continued efforts to ease credit strains as well as expansionary fiscal and 

monetary policies, the global economy is projected to experience a gradual recovery in 2010, with growth 

picking up to 3%. 

As economic prospects have deteriorated, equity markets in both advanced and emerging economies have 

made little or no gains. Currency markets have been volatile. Financial markets are expected to remain strained 

during 2009. In the advanced economies, market conditions will likely continue to be difficult until forceful 

policy actions are implemented to restructure the financial sector, resolve the uncertainty about losses, 

and break the adverse feedback loop with the slowing real economy. In emerging economies, financing 

conditions will likely remain acute for some time-especially for corporate sectors that have very high rollover 

requirements.

Growth in emerging and developing economies is expected to slow sharply from 6.25% in 2008 to 3.25% 

in 2009, under the drag of falling export demand and financing, lower commodity prices, and much tighter 

external financing constraints. With interest rates approaching zero in several major countries, central 

banks are exploring alternative policy approaches that rely on using their balance sheets to ease monetary 

conditions further. 

Oman’s Economy

Oman is an oil-dependent economy with open current and capital accounts. With a financial system, which is 

bank-dominated, pro-cyclical trends are witnessed in relation to the economy, which in turn broadly mirrors 

the oil price cycle. In view of the high degree of openness, shocks to the economy, both external and internal, 

transmit fast to the banking system.

Record oil prices bestowed on the Sultanate a budget surplus of RO 3500 million in 2008, compared with a 

projected deficit of RO 400 million. Despite serious implications of the global financial crisis, Oman weathered 

Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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the storm, recording a 40% nominal GDP growth, attributable to the sharp rise in oil prices, strong domestic 

demand, better investment climate and improved exports in 2008.

Oman’s RO 6.424 billion budget for 2009 envisages additional projects while retaining all the 7th Five-Year-

Plan (2006-2010) projects. The allocation includes RO 665 million for new projects to stimulate the domestic 

economy. The 11% increase of RO 624 million in the 2009 expenditure compared to 2008 exudes optimism 

that the country is determined to press ahead with sustained growth. 

Volume of trade scaled new highs on Muscat Securities Market (MSM), totalling RO 3.6 billion in 2008 

compared with RO 2.7 billion in 2007. The MSM-30 share price index, however, dropped to 5441 points as 

of 31 December 2008, recording a fall of 39.8% compared to the previous year. To improve the investment 

climate, a market-maker fund with a corpus of RO 150 million has been set up by the government.

The Vision 2020 economic blueprint adopted by the Sultanate in 1995 envisages sustained growth led by the 

private sector and an export-oriented economy with diversified sources of national income. The government 

regards the private sector as the dynamic engine of prosperity and growth.

Financial Sector

Omani banks reported robust performance during 2008, reflecting resilience against the global financial 

crisis. Most of the listed Omani banks recorded double digit growth rates in profits with core income growth 

supporting the superior performance.

In a significant move against the backdrop of the global financial crisis, the Central Bank of Oman 

(CBO) reduced bank reserve requirements and raised the loan-to-deposit ratio in an attempt to improve 

liquidity. The reserve ratio was reduced to 5% from 8%, while the loan-to-deposit ratio was raised to 

87.5% from 85%. The changes took effect on 1 January 2009. The move reintroduced liquidity worth 

RO 300 million.

The number of licensed banks operating in the Sultanate as on 31 December 2008 stood at 19, of which 7 are 

registered as local commercial banks, 10 are foreign banks and 2 are specialised banks.

BankMuscat enjoys a market share of 43.7% in terms of total assets, 39.9% in terms of total credit and 

38.14% in terms of total customer deposits as at 31 December 2008. The Bank’s share of total savings deposit 

was 44.5% as at 31 December 2008. 

Opportunities and Threats 

Over the last 26 years, right from its inception in 1982 as a small operation, BankMuscat has achieved steady 

and significant growth in various disciplines to emerge as the largest financial institution in Oman. In light of the 

recent changes in the global economies, the Bank does not aim to merely survive the economic downturn but to 

prosper, turning the challenges into opportunities by positioning itself in a competitive advantage. BankMuscat 

has identified that the most important asset that will help it to achieve this is its precious customer base in Oman 

and other regions. Customer service being one of the most vital tools, BankMuscat aims to position itself as 

the financial services provider known for top notch services, making it a priority to build key relationships with 

customers and putting in focus the vision of having over one million satisfied customers by 2010.

In the prevailing circumstances marking a decline in economic growth, a worsening of asset quality poses 

a risk to the banking sector in Oman. If the economic downturn remains moderate, the banking system will 

surmount the downturn. 
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If the oil prices average above $50 a barrel, the Sultanate may succeed in the medium term in sustaining fiscal 

deficit at around 3% of GDP. In case of a decline in oil prices, the government will be forced to control public 

spending to sustain its asset buffer. Presently, over 75% of the Sultanate’s exports of goods and services is 

accounted by the oil and gas sectors and lower international energy prices are expected to lead to a shift in 

the external current account position from an estimated surplus of 10% of GDP in 2008 to a projected deficit 

of 6% in 2009.

Segment-wise performance

Despite the global financial crisis, the key business lines of the Bank continued to turn in an impressive 

performance during 2008. The Bank achieved a net profit of RO 93.7 million as against a net profit of RO 84.2 

million reported in 2007, an increase of 11.2%.

The Bank achieved an operating profit of RO 152.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 as against an 

operating profit of RO 102.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2007, an increase of 48.7%. However due 

to certain one-off impairment losses, the net profit for the year reflected an increase of only 11.2% over 2007.

During the last quarter of 2008, the global market conditions substantially changed as a result of the global 

financial crisis. This affected the market value of some of the strategic and non-strategic investment portfolios 

of the Bank.

The Bank’s core business activities are divided into three broad areas: Commercial Banking (corporate banking 

and consumer banking), Wholesale Banking (investment banking, treasury, financial institution, private 

banking and asset management) and International Operations. Key support functions include Information 

Technology & Operations, Human Resources, Finance and Risk Management.

Commercial Banking

The commercial banking group at BankMuscat comprises the corporate banking and consumer banking 

businesses.

Consumer Banking 

The vision to reach every household in the country helped the Bank to grow its customer base to exceed 

750,000 customers, mainly by growing the number of retail customers.

Several product innovations were launched during the year, chiefly Deposit Units under the brand name 

‘Sanadat Al Idikhar’. Taking note of the turbulent financial markets, the deposit unit was launched to provide a safe 

facility for customers to save money and at the same time participate in exciting and exclusive lucky draws.

The Bank launched for the first time in the country an installment facility on credit cards. Instead of the 

usual minimum balance payment collection on the amount spent through the card, the Bank collects the total 

purchase amount of select items in equal installments, thereby providing customers the ability to plan their 

cash flows.

To meet the specialised needs of different segment of home loan customers, variants of the home loan product 

was launched.

A significant re-launch was car loan under the brand name ‘Sayyarati’. To complement the popular Hayatuna 
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family protection plan, motor insurance was re-launched through a tie-up with a new insurance partner with 

several enhancements to the product features and delivery mechanisms. 

The Bank strives to provide customised services to various segments in order to meet their unique 

needs. During 2008, the Bank launched Priority Banking service to meet the special needs of customers 

in this segment. 

The Bank’s branch network expanded to 119, alongside the largest network of 320 ATMs. The Bank expanded 

the network of ATMs by 25% to 320 and CDMs by 50% to 94. A second call centre was launched to help 

increase call handling capacity and to act as a back up location in case of disaster or technical problems at 

one location.

The focus during the year was to improve the reach of channels to all customers. To this end, the Bank 

expanded its Mobile Banking services so as to be available to customers of both the telecom service providers 

in the country.

The Bank expanded its Point of Sale (POS) network by nearly 50%, thereby further consolidating its dominant 

presence in this area. The POS network covers card payment transactions of customers of all banks. 

The Bank undertook two major initiatives during the year to participate in the government’s vision to promote 

e-services in the country. 

The Bank became the first and currently the only acquiring bank on the national e-payment gateway launched 

by the Information Technology Authority. The Bank partnered with MasterCard to provide this solution to ITA.

When the Royal Oman Police (ROP) launched a drive to replace cash transactions with card-based electronic 

transactions at its counters, the Bank participated in the venture by providing Point of Sale (POS) machines at 

the counters and by launching the e-payment card.

Corporate Banking

Corporate clients have expressed confidence in the Bank through turbulent times in the global financial 

markets.  The Bank continues to support feasible projects in core areas such as oil and gas, large scale 

industry, petrochemicals and contracting. The Bank has been mandated for financing some of the aluminium 

downstream projects which are expected to have several spin-off benefits, including economic diversification 

and increasing employment. 

Corporate banking had a significant growth in both funded and non-funded business during the year with 

higher focus on liability products.  

Customer relations remain at the heart of the Corporate Banking strategy with the Bank providing financial 

assistance to creditworthy ventures of corporates in Oman. The Bank views industrial development of Sohar 

and Salalah as strategic opportunities. In Salalah, the Bank has been mandated for financing the expansion 

of the port and is involved with two large projects in the free zone. The Bank is also following developments 

in the real estate sector and has provided financing for two integrated tourism developments -  The Wave and 

Muscat Hills projects.

Fully realising the important role played by the small and medium enterprise (SME) sector in the economic 

development of Oman, the Bank provides the required support to them. The Bank’s support stems from 

the strong belief that SMEs help boost the local economy, contribute to the GDP and create employment 

opportunities.
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The SME Credit and Marketing Department has been very dynamic in financing businesses and strengthening 

the SME foundation in Oman. Notably, the SME Department initiated a consultancy project with International 

Finance Corporation (IFC), the financial arm of World Bank, and has implemented recommendations to 

improve its services. The Bank joined hands with the Ministry of Commerce and Industry in sponsoring the 

‘Foundations and Success Factors for SMEs’ conference organised by the Ministry as part of its ‘Business 

Umbrella Programme 2008’. 

Wholesale Banking 

The wholesale banking group at BankMuscat comprises the Investment Banking, Treasury, Financial Institution, 

Private Banking and Asset Management Businesses.

Investment Banking

Investment Banking business activity includes Corporate Finance and Advisory, Brokerage and Research. 

The Corporate Finance and Advisory unit (CFA) of the Bank emerged as the leading regional infrastructure 

advisor cementing its league table rankings during 2008. For the first half of 2008, for advisory mandates 

won, Infrastructure Journal ranked the Bank 20th globally, 3rd in Africa and Middle East and 3rd in Oil & Gas 

sector globally. 

In Jordan, the Bank won the financial advisory mandate to advise the Government-owned Aqaba Water 

Company on the first Independent Water Project in the country. The unit also won its second advisory mandate 

in the UAE from a leading India-based cement manufacturer for setting up their 2.5 mtpa cement plant. The 

team continued its association in the Government-owned Botswana Power Corporation’s 600 MW power 

project. The Bank also won the mandate to advise the Oman Power and Water Procurement Company on an 

Independent Power and Water Project in North Oman. These four projects amount to a total of approximately 

USD 3.5 billion.

The Oman Integrated Tourism Projects Fund, conceptualised by CFA with an initial closing of USD 135 million 

in 2007, achieved its final close at USD 259 million against the targeted fund size of USD 200 million. This is 

the largest Oman-centric fund by long distance. The unit had also worked on several other important advisory 

assignments during the year 2008. 

Brokerage

The MSM index, which scaled a record high of over 12100 points in the first half, ended the year on a weak 

note with the index settling at the 5400 level. Falling oil prices, emerging market risk avoidance, tightening 

of credit markets, softening of real estate prices and overall recessionary trends all contributed to the sharply 

negative sentiment in the market in the latter half of 2008. Despite these challenges, the Bank’s brokerage 

division ended the year on a record note, clocking its highest ever turnover and net brokerage commissions. 

The brokerage division once again reclaimed its spot at the top of brokerage companies with a market share 

of over 18%. More importantly, the division very actively promoted the MSM to foreign institutional investors 

and was instrumental in helping some of the biggest global investors invest on MSM. 

In the area of non-Omani GCC research, this year by and large was devoted to gain an in-depth 

understanding of the larger stocks in the region. In the 4th quarter, the scope of this activity was expanded 

to include more stocks.
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Treasury

The Bank’s decision to issue Certificates of Deposit (CD) worth RO 250 million through auction over a one-

year time-frame marked a major milestone. The CD issuance is expected to ultimately lead to the development 

of a stable and reliable local currency benchmark. The Bank raised RO 50 million in the first three CD issues. 

The overwhelming support to the CD auction indicates the strong appetite among financial institutions to 

absorb high-yielding products from the Bank.

Against the backdrop of the turbulent global financial crisis, the Treasury department achieved the targets and 

performed above the benchmark requirements. Liquidity management by the Bank without compromising on 

the interests of customers and stakeholders was a notable achievement. The department successfully advised 

corporate clients on FX, commodities and interest rate movements, reinforcing its position as the leading 

market maker in USD/OMR spot and swaps.

With increased volume, the Bank’s visibility within the GCC inter-bank operations was enhanced in 2008. The 

Interbank FX Desk offered market making in OMR and was active in G7 currencies in both spot and forward. 

The department successfully hedged the foreign exchange risks of the Bank and also offered its expertise to 

local financial institutions.

The Bank succeeded in risk management without major exposure to any sectors. The Money Markets Desk 

responsible for borrowing and lending in the Interbank markets, managed the liquidity and cashflows as well 

as the short-term and long-term investments of the Bank. The Commodities Desk offered risk management 

advisory to corporate customers for their hedging, investment and trading requirements in precious metals, 

base metals, oil and gas.

Financial Institutions Group

The Bank consolidated the excellent relationships built over the years with leading international banks, 

specifically with respect to securing inter-bank lines. This strategy helped the Bank to tide over the liquidity 

challenges with relative ease. In the second quarter, the Bank successfully concluded few medium-term 

fund raising programmes,  including syndicated/bilateral term loan facilities. This proactive measure proved 

to be well-timed in light of the subsequent global financial meltdown.      

The Bank continued to be active on the international Trade Finance and Syndication Loan market with 

participations in many prestigious transactions. Cross-border exposures were contracted on a very selective 

basis, closely monitored, reviewed at regular intervals and curtailed as and when deemed appropriate.   

Asset Management and Private Banking

As part of initiatives to grow assets under management, the Asset Management Division launched a marketing 

campaign and conducted road shows in select European and Asian markets for the Oryx and Muscat Fund. 

The Bank launched the GCC Dividend Yield fund that provides investors the opportunity to participate in high 

dividend yield stocks in the GCC region. The Bank also set up a Mauritius-based fund platform and launched 

portfolios and funds to invest into India. Though the market conditions have been adverse in the last six months, 

the Bank is confident that these initiatives will provide significant impetus for the Asset Management business.

The Private Banking division raised USD100 million for the Oman Integrated Tourism Project Fund from 

clients in Oman and GCC. Moreover, the Private Banking branch substantially increased its balance sheet by 

more than USD 500 million. These were significant milestones for the division.
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International Operations

During the year, the Bank continued with its long-term strategy of expanding the footprint of international 

operations with investment in a commercial bank in Pakistan, obtaining a licence to set up an investment 

banking business in Saudi Arabia as well as a licence to set up a commercial banking branch in Kuwait. The 

basic principles behind these expansions remain the same - choose markets that are inherently attractive 

and related by trade, investment or community ties with our domestic market, and partner with strong local 

associates, wherever possible. 

The latter half of the year has been challenging for international operations. Many of our international 

investments/operations are still in a developmental stage and the ongoing global turmoil has had an adverse 

impact on their progress. However, international operations continue to be strategically important to the Bank 

and we have been strengthening and developing them with due care and prudence. 

Bahrain - BMI Bank 

BankMuscat has a 49% stake in BMI Bank (renamed in May 2008 from Bank Muscat International), a locally 

incorporated commercial bank in Bahrain. Other shareholders of the Bank include Royal Court Affairs (11%), 

Overseas Investment SPC (20%), Isthithmar (10%) and Global Investment House (10%). BMI presently has 

8 branches, 22 ATMs and offers the full range of Corporate and Consumer banking, Treasury, Private Banking 

and Trade Finance services. 

BMI Bank has also been expanding internationally as per a strategic plan.  BMI launched BMI Offshore Bank 

(BMIO) in Seychelles in July 2008. BMIO, a Joint Venture between BMI Bank and Seychelles incorporated 

Nouvobanq, offers Offshore Banking and Private Banking services as well as provides access to Trust and 

Investment services for both corporate and private customers residing abroad. 

BMI also opened a branch in Qatar Financial Center (QFC), Doha under a licence issued by the Qatar Financial 

Centre Regulatory Authority (QFCRA). The Qatar branch is BMI’s first overseas branch. The branch offers 

corporate banking services, including working capital facilities, trade and treasury products and term deposits 

in addition to Private Banking and Global Trade Services.

BMI took a 21% stake in Gulf African Bank (GAB), Kenya, a new bank established in January 2008 and 

currently operating through a network of seven branches. GAB offers consumer banking as well as corporate 

banking services, including structured finance, corporate advisory and trade finance.

As at year end 31 December, 2008, BMI Bank had a net worth of USD 341.3 million. Total assets were 

USD 2,163 million, loans and advances USD 1,292 million and customer deposits USD 767 million. 

The Bank recorded operating profit before provisions of USD 14.9 million. However, provisions of USD 

20.7 million, of which USD 18.1 million pertained to credit/bank placements and USD 2.6 million related to 

impairment on investments, as well share of losses of the new associates and Joint Ventures amounting to 

USD 2.2 million resulted in the Bank recording a net loss of USD 7.9 million. 

Saudi Arabia - BankMuscat branch

BankMuscat is the only Omani bank to have a branch in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our Riyadh branch 

has been offering a range of Consumer banking, Corporate banking and Treasury products and services to 

customers under the banner ‘BankMuscat Khayrat’ since April 2007. 
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The branch achieved break-even for 2008 with a small net profit of USD 0.03 million. As of 31 December, 

2008, the branch had total assets of USD 570 million, loans & advances of USD 449 million and customer 

deposits of USD 264 million.                            

A key challenge continues to be the mobilisation of customer deposits. Expansion of the distribution network 

will significantly aid this cause and various options for expansion in the Kingdom are under consideration.  

Saudi Arabia - Muscat Securities House

Following the segregation of licences for commercial banking and investment banking activities by the 

regulator in Saudi Arabia, BankMuscat obtained a licence to carry on investment banking business under 

‘Muscat Securities House’, a locally incorporated company with a paid up capital of USD 13 million and 95% 

owned by BankMuscat. Operations are expected to commence in 2009.

Kuwait - BankMuscat branch

BankMuscat obtained a licence to open a branch in Kuwait, scheduled to start operation in 2009 offering 

commercial banking and treasury products to Corporate, SME and Retail banking customers. We will have the 

distinction of being the first Omani bank to enter the Kuwaiti banking sector.  

Pakistan - Saudi Pak Commercial Bank 

The Bank acquired a strategic stake of 35% in Saudi Pak Commercial Bank (SPCB) in association with IFC 

(19%), Nomura Group (9%) and our local management partners, Sinthos Capital. The Bank is operating as a 

commercial bank with a network of 55 branches across 24 locations of Pakistan.

Following the acquisition, the Board of the Bank was reconstituted and the Management Team revamped. 

However, the rapid deterioration in the economic environment, both globally and in the country, resulted in 

the Bank making more provisions for non-performing loans than previously envisaged and recording poorer 

than expected financial performance. As of September 30, 2008, the Bank had total assets of USD 682 million, 

loans and advances of USD 376 million and customer deposits of USD 545 million. For the 9 months ended 

30 September, 2008, the Bank recorded a net loss of USD 27.6 million. 

The market price of the Bank’s share is currently significantly lower than our acquisition price. Therefore, based 

on an independent valuation done in December 2008, we have taken a provision (including share of loss) 

of RO 17 million (USD 44.2 million) against this investment during the year, as is reflected in our financial 

statements. As a result, the net carrying value of our investment in SPCB as at 31 December, 2008 has come 

down to RO 17.9 million (USD 46.5 million). 

India - HDFC Bank Limited

The Bank had a stake of 17.5% in Centurion Bank of Punjab, which has been merged with HDFC Bank with 

effect from May ’08, resulting in a 2.67% stake in HDFC Bank for us. After the merger, HDFC Bank has become 

the second largest private sector bank in India in terms of total assets. 

The investment has now been reclassified as ‘Available for Sale’ from the earlier ‘Associate’ status. It is now 

reflected in our books at its market value, which was RO 88.6 million (USD 230.4 million) as at 31 December, 

2008, with the unrealised gain of RO 68.8 million (USD 178.9 million) being reflected under Equity.



Inspired people. Inspiring results.

59

India - Mangal Keshav Holdings Ltd

BankMuscat holds 43% stake in Mangal Keshav Holdings Ltd. (MKHL), one of the oldest securities companies 

in India with more than 150 branches/franchises across more than 80 locations in India. As at September 30, 

2008, the company had a net worth of USD 37.38 million and total assets of USD 37.53 million. MKHL 

recorded a profit of USD 0.6 million for the six months ended 30 September, 2008.  

UAE - BankMuscat Representative Office

Our representative office in Dubai (DRO) has been the Bank’s marketing arm in the UAE for over 12 years, 

sourcing syndicated loans, trade finance transactions, NRI business for Oman and other branches/affiliates 

of the Bank. 

Risk Management

Risk Management had a key role to play in the eventful 2008, which saw highs and lows in the financial sector. 

Various new initiatives were taken by the Risk Management department during the year. Industry analyses were 

carried out in order to understand the risk involved in key sectors and explore potential business avenues. 

On the Operational risk front, Control Risk and Self Assessment (CRSA) framework was implemented in the 

Bank for all major departments. Branch risk awareness workshops were conducted for various regions. Risk 

Management organised a seminar on ‘Business continuity and crisis management planning’ which was attended 

by management personnel and department heads. To meet the growing business continuity requirements, a 

state-of-the-art Disaster Recovery solution became operational during the year. 

A building block approach for migrating to the advanced approaches of Basel II capital accord is followed by 

the Bank. A road map for the migration process has been laid out and the progress is monitored on a regular 

basis. The Bank developed and launched an e-course on the provision of Basel II capital accord to educate 

the staff of the Bank. 

Technology, Operations, Processes and Services (TOPS)

The TOPS group pulls together the resources aimed at driving business performance and increasing customer 

satisfaction. With a major focus of change, the Bank resources were directed towards the rollout of Temenos T24 

system. The rollout continued throughout the year on a gradual branch basis and will be completed in 2009.

Significant projects that focused on either high business benefits, risk mitigation or service improvement were 

delivered throughout the year. These include the Disaster Recovery Centre, where real time replication of data 

now occurs to another remote building. Internet trading system for BankMuscat customers to trade on-line 

through to Muscat Securities Market (MSM) was another project launched in 2008. 

Human Resources

The Bank recruited 579 new staff members into various functions and branches, thereby achieving an 

Omanisation of 92% and a total staff strength of 2524. The Bank initiated efforts to renew its Investors in 

People, IIP, UK recognition by June 2009. In all, 5,505 learning opportunities were provided through 540 

courses, 60% of which was delivered by in-house faculty.
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As part of career and succession planning process, the Bank conducted a Development Centre for Omani staff 

with diploma (total 98). Currently, they are being groomed to assume middle management positions in the 

medium to long term. 

The Bank sponsored 9 Regional Managers and Department Heads to Executive Development and Advanced 

Management Programs at London Business School (UK).

Twenty managers were enrolled in the Strategic Management and Leadership Diploma Program accredited 

by the Chartered Management Institute, UK. Similarly, 17 managers joined the Diploma in Management 

Programme presented by the Institute of Leadership and Management, UK. The Bank provided funding and 

leave for 151 employees to complete their undergraduate and postgraduate studies.

In line with fulfilling its corporate citizenship obligations, the Bank is the country’s pioneer in providing 

summer training and internship opportunities. In 2008, over 660 summer training and internship opportunities 

were provided to students from various colleges and universities. The Bank also sponsored over 73 students 

for diploma programmes at the College of Banking & Financial Studies.

Finance

The Finance department aids the Executive Management and the Board in the strategic planning and decision-

making processes by providing vital information and critical in-depth analyses of the Bank’s performance. The 

Bank uses state-of-the-art profitability systems for in-depth analyses of the profit contribution from business 

lines, products and customers. The profitability systems enable the Bank to make sound business decisions 

based on a thorough understanding of the Bank’s profitability dynamics and focus on key business lines in 

a challenging and competitive environment. The Finance department continues to enhance its information 

systems with the latest tools and techniques available to make the information more meaningful and ensure 

greater value addition.

Cost Management is one of the key focus areas of the Bank and the department plays an active role in 

cost management initiatives with a view to maximizing the Bank’s profits and deriving optimum benefits of 

synergies arising out of various mergers and acquisitions. The department uses different cost management 

techniques, including Activity Based Cost Management, in order to achieve optimum cost benefits. The 

Bank strongly believes in presenting financial statements, which are transparent and provide adequate and 

meaningful disclosures to the users of the financial statements. In line with this approach, the Bank follows 

the best practices in disclosure requirements of the International Financial Reporting Standards and regulatory 

authorities.

 

Awards and Recognition

The Bank won prestigious global, regional and local awards during 2008, notably the rare distinction for the 

seventh time: the Bank of Year - Oman award, instituted by The Banker (FT, London) magazine. Reckoned 

the most prestigious event in the global banking calendar, the Banker award was in recognition of the best 

overall performance over the course of the previous year in terms of qualitative achievements and strategic 

initiatives. 

A multi-award winning organisation, the Bank’s performance has been lauded by the international financial 

and banking community for several years, including the unique achievement of being voted the ‘Best Bank in 

Oman’ for the eighth time in a row this year by Euromoney and Global Finance. 
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The Bank received the highly coveted ‘Quality Recognition Award’ from JPMorgan Chase Bank for the eighth 

time in recognition of its outstanding high-quality performance and long-term commitment to quality in the 

area of fund transfer. 

On the domestic front, the Bank led the Best Brands in Oman survey by BusinessToday magazine, winning 

the Top Brand accolade in the banking segment and the No. 2 position among the overall Top 10 Brands 

in Oman.

The Year Ahead

With a well-defined future growth strategy, BankMuscat is firmly positioned to further strengthen its dominant 

position in the Sultanate. The Bank targets to attract over one million satisfied customers by the end of 

the decade through continuous enhancement of stakeholder value, providing customers with a variety of  

value-added banking products and services in addition to building stronger ties with people across the 

country. Meeting customer expectations at the grassroots level, the expanding branch network reflects the 

Bank’s commitment to remain the nation’s bank of first choice in all parts of the country.
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Growth is a constant with 

us. We offer you the largest 

branch and ATM network 

in Oman. International 

expansion is our blueprint 

for the future. Whenever 

you need us, wherever you 

are, we’re there for you.
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Financial 
Review 2008

The Bank reported a net profit of RO 93.7 million in 2008, an increase of RO 9.5 million, or 11.2% over 2007.  

Operating profit of RO 152.6 million was higher by RO 50 million or 48.7% over 2007. 

During the last quarter of 2008, the global market conditions substantially changed as a result of the global 

financial crisis. This affected the market value of some of the strategic and non-strategic investment portfolios 

of the Bank. As a measure of prudence, the Bank has considered the following impairment losses which are 

exceptional in nature in the results for the year 2008:

The Bank holds a strategic shareholding of 35% in Saudi Pak Commercial Bank (SPCB), Pakistan and 1. 

accounts this investment as ‘Investment in associate’ under equity method. Subsequent to the investment 

in March 2008, the economic situation has deteriorated in Pakistan which has affected the value of 

this investment. The Bank appointed an independent audit firm to assess the value of this investment 

considering the current economic and business environment in Pakistan. Even though this investment is 

strategic in nature, as a measure of prudence, the Bank has considered an impairment loss of RO 17 million 

including share of loss from SPCB based on the independent valuation performed in December 2008. 

This impairment loss was considered in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). The carrying value of this investment after the impairment loss would be RO 17.9 million. 

As per the IFRS and in accordance with recent circular from CBO, the Bank is considering impairment loss 2. 

of RO 10.9 million on its ‘available for sale (AFS)’ investment portfolio. Out of the total impairment loss 

of RO 10.9 million, RO 8.2 million relates to local portfolio. In normal circumstances, the mark-to-market 

impact on ‘AFS’ investment portfolio goes through equity. However, due to the substantial decline in the 

market value, the unrealized loss was considered for impairment and reflected in Income Statement. 

The net profit for the year reflected an increase of only 11.2% over 2007 due to the above one-off impairment 

losses. 

Net interest income of RO 162.1 million was higher by RO 37.3 million or 29.9% as compared to 2007. Net 

interest income improved due to increase in assets volume and growth in low cost deposits. Non-interest 

income increased by 55.3% to RO 74.7 million in 2008, reflecting good growth across all businesses.

Operating expenses were higher by RO 14 million, or 19.8%, at RO 84.2 million mainly due to expansion 

Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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Our Corporate Social 

Responsibility Department 

was established in 2008 to 

enable us to work together 

for Oman and build a 

brighter future. Through a 

wide network of social care 

programmes, we translate 

our mission ‘Together for 

Oman’ into action. 
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activities.The Bank’s cost to income ratio has improved from 40.7% in 2007 to 35.6% 

in 2008 due to higher growth in operating income.

The net charge for possible credit losses was RO 12 million compared to RO 10.5 

million in 2007. Included in the provisions established during the year is an amount 

of RO 12.2 million to cover potential impairment, which although not specifically 

identified, are deemed to be present in the Bank’s credit portfolio.

The Basic Earnings per share marginally reduced from RO 0.090 per share in 2007 to 

RO 0.087 in 2008 due to one-off impairment losses during the year 2008.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income increased by RO 37.3 million, or 29.9%, to RO 162.1 million. The 

increase in net interest income was primarily due to higher volume of interest earning 

assets during the year 2008. Due to raising interest rate, the net interest spread reduced 

in 2008 as compared to 2007.

Average total assets increased by RO 1,537 million or 42.9% to RO 5,123 million. 

The growth in average assets was mainly due to increases in the loans and advances, 

placements and investment portfolio of the Bank. 

The return on average assets was at 1.83% in 2008 as compared to 2.35% in 2007. 

The return on average assets was lower due to one-off impairment losses on associate 

investment and investment portfolio in 2008. Besides, the Bank also accounted for a 

share of loss from associates of RO 3,248 K in 2008 as compared to share of profit of 

RO 5,499 K in 2007.

Non-interest Income

Non-interest income increased by RO 26.6 million, or 55.3%, to RO 74.7 million.  

Fees and commission income across all business lines increased in 2008. Higher fees 

and commission income generated from trade finance activities, treasury investment 

banking, broking activities, credit card business and other retail banking activities 

contributed for increase in other operating income. Profit on sale of securities and 

dividend income also increased by RO 7.6 million in 2008 to contribute RO 10.1 million 

to other operating income of the Bank. The Bank’s focus is to significantly increase its 

fee based income. 

Other operating income represents 31.5% of operating income for the year 2008, 

compared to 27.8% in 2007.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses have increased by RO 14 million or 19.8% to RO 84.2 million in 

2008. Operating expenses increase was mainly due to increase in staff costs and other 

administrative costs. Staff costs increased as a result of increase in number of staff 

to cater to business expansion. Average staff strength in 2008 was 2,367 as against 

Inspired people. Inspiring results.
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Over the last three decades, 

we have played an important 

role in privatisation projects 

including highways, flyovers, 

power, gas, telecommunications 

and ports. We are committed to 

partnering the government in 

projects of national importance.
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2,051 in 2007. Other administrative costs increased due to expansion of infrastructure,  

increased business activities and information technology initiatives.

The Bank’s cost to income ratio has improved from 40.7% in 2007 to 35.6% in 2008 

due to higher growth in operating income.

Provisions for Possible Credit Losses

The Bank made a net provision of RO 12 million for possible credit losses in 2008 

compared to a net provision of RO 10.5 million the previous year. Net provision is 

marginally higher in 2008 as compared to 2007. Included in the total provisions 

established during the year was an amount of RO 12.2 million to cover potential 

impairment, which although not specifically identified, is deemed to be present in the 

Bank’s credit portfolio. The Bank was able to effect recoveries of RO 12.6 million in 

2008 as against recoveries of RO 7.6 million in 2007.  

As at 31 December 2008, the total amount of provisions including reserved interest 

was RO 125.6 million. This represented 3.3% of gross lending to customers. The 

total provisions and reserved interest as at 31 December 2007 represented 3.9% of 

gross lending. The uncovered portion of the impaired loans and advances consists 

of operative accounts, which are adequately provided, and other accounts for which 

securities are held by the Bank and valued on a conservative basis. The provisions held 

are adequate as per the requirement of IAS 39.

Shareholders’ Funds

Shareholders’ funds increased by RO 87 million, or 14%, to RO 714.8 million in 

2008.

Shareholders’ funds have increased mainly due to increase in cumulative changes in 

fair value and retained profits.  After a dividend payout of RO 21.5 million, the Bank has 

retained RO 72.2 million or 77% of the profits generated in the year 2008. The return 

on average shareholders’ funds was at 14.8% in 2008 as compared to 25.83% in 2007. 

The reduction was mainly due to one-off impairment losses on associate investment 

and investment portfolio. 

The Board of Directors has proposed a 50% dividend, 20% in the form of cash and 

30% in the form of mandatory convertible bonds for the year 2008 (refer note 23 of 

financial statements), as compared to 50% cash dividend in 2007. The cash dividend 

for 2008 would be covered 4.4 times by the net profit. The cash dividend pay out ratio 

works out to 23% of the current year profits.

Assets

Total assets at 31 December 2008 increased by RO 1,811 million, or 42.9%, compared 

to 31 December 2007. The increase in total assets in 2008 was mainly in loans and 

advances, placements with banks and investments portfolio.
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Net loans and advances at 31 December 2008 increased by RO 1,040.8 million or 

38.7% to RO 3,727.7 million. Corporate and other loans increased by 41.5% 

and personal/housing loans increased by 32.4% during the year 2008. The Bank’s 

non-performing advances was at 2.35% of gross loans and advances as of 

31 December 2008 as compared to 2.66% in the previous year.

Capital Adequacy

The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio, calculated according to guidelines set by the Bank 

for International Settlements (BIS) was 13.02% as at 31 December 2008, compared 

to 15.14% as at 31 December 2007. While the international requirement as per BIS is 

8%, the Central Bank of Oman’s regulations stipulate that local banks maintain a BIS 

ratio of 10%.

Tier 1 capital increased by RO 84 million in 2008 due to increase in subordinated loan 

reserve and retained profits.

Tier 2 capital increased by RO 19 million mainly due to increase in cumulative change 

in fair value of RO 24 million, general loan loss impairment of RO 12 million in 2008.

Liquidity Management

Liquidity policy is aimed at ensuring that the Bank can meet its financial obligations 

when they fall due. Sufficient volumes of high quality liquid instruments are held to 

meet bank deposit maturities and undrawn facilities, and to satisfy customer demands 

for deposit withdrawal.

The source and maturity of assets and liabilities are diversified to avoid any undue 

concentration of funding requirements at any one time or from any one source. 

A significant portion of deposits is made up of retail current and savings accounts, 

which although repayable on demand or at short notice, have traditionally formed a 

stable deposit base. Where possible, the Bank prefers to grow its balance sheet by 

increasing core retail deposits.

The liquidity situation in the banking industry was under pressure during the last 

quarter of 2008. However, the Bank was able to maintain higher than adequate level of 

liquidity with proactive measures.  

Cash and balances with Central Banks, treasury bills, government securities and 

placements with banks accounted for 28.95% of total assets and 36.25% of total  

deposits at 31 December 2008, compared with 26.64% and 35.49% respectively at 

31 December 2007.
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Interest Rate Risk Management

The Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) manages the Bank's interest 

rate risk exposure. The major interest rate risk to the Bank originates from the short term 

funding sources and the medium to long-term loans particularly on the fixed rate retail 

portfolio. The Bank manages this risk by broadening the maturity of its funding sources 

and by the use of medium term funding products.

The Bank focuses on long-term funding base and reduces its interest rate gaps. Since 

derivative products are not available in the local currency the Bank has limited options 

to use local currency hedging instruments.

Credit Rating

It is the Bank’s philosophy to provide transparent and meaningful disclosures in its 

financial statements. The rating agencies and industry analysts appreciate the Bank’s 

disclosures in its financial statements. The Bank values the comments and concerns of 

the rating agencies, and it is one of the Bank’s objectives to maintain and enhance the 

credit ratings assigned by them.

Four leading international rating agencies, Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s, Fitch and 

Capital Intelligence rated the Bank during the year.

Agency L/term S/term Individual Support

Outlook/
Financial
Strengths

Standard & Poor’s BBB+ A-2 - - Stable/-

Moody’s Investors Service A2 Prime-1 - - Stable/C-

Fitch Ratings A- F2 C 1 Stable/-

Capital Intelligence A A1 - 2 Stable/A-
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Assets          
Cash and balances with 
Central Bank  452,761 487,912 116,217 32,936 32,092 76,642 149,532 22,254 39,432   19,631 
Treasury Bills 141,332 - 177,379 63,594 89,711 55,347 31,863  57,038  76,464  40,898  
Government Securities  73,533 48,450 56,211 44,723 52,446 37,825 28,303 39,410  40,150  12,379  
Placements with banks 1,077,557  587,802 524,741 316,735 271,481 91,520  65,409 93,767  145,619  77,237  
Loans and advances   3,727,700 2,686,863 1,834,678 1,371,930 1,329,378 1,243,810 1,225,830 1,098,067   996,650  582,146  
Investment securities  256,684 169,648  67,575 58,540 33,053 15,923 14,015 11,967  8,503  6,552  
Tangible fixed assets  21,948  19,090 11,438 10,636 11,902 12,029 9,757 7,507  7,941  5,164  
Other assets  276,721  217,960 166,619 94,723 80,211 21,682 17,726 16,446  22,206  2,724 
Total Assets  6,028,236  4,217,725 2,954,858 1,993,817 1,900,274 1,554,778 1,542,435 1,346,456  1,336,965  746,731  
   
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Funds          
Liabilities 
Deposits from banks  1,412,576 663,236 363,207 55,169 173,870 184,567 229,546 225,461  275,524  159,483 
Customers' deposits  3,173,032 2,322,089 1,817,107 1,291,205 1,110,603 1,005,624 963,322 816,303  809,178  478,149 
Certificates of deposit  61,675 14,270 30,745 41,745 51,517 73,593 95,471 73,748  40,802  1,319  
Unsecured bonds  54,803 54,803 54,803 54,803 54,803 25,000 - -  -  -  
Floating rate notes  111,650 111,650 105,875 96,250 96,250 - -  -  -  -   
Other liabilities  360,138  295,120 209,485 116,126 162,890 39,328 40,380 33,536  32,832  16,156 
Taxation  26,112  20,487 15,051 12,791 10,376 7,933 6,353 3,366  3,045  1,833 
Subordinated liabilities  113,500  108,500 38,500 39,621 45,621 45,621 54,010  66,910  66,910 21,290 
     5,313,486  3,590,155 2,634,773 1,707,710 1,705,930 1,381,666 1,389,082 1,219,324  1,228,291  684,230  
Shareholders’ Funds          
Share capital  107,713  107,713 83,233 75,666 59,815 51,489 49,037 45,538  45,538  30,000 
Share premium  301,505  301,505 79,490 79,490 26,104 4,482 4,482 177  - -
Convertible bonds  -    - - - - 27,100 27,100 27,098  - -
Proposed issue of bonus shares  -    - - - - 2,848  2,452 -    -    - 
General reserve  56,308  56,308 56,308 24,612 19,812 19,812 15,500 11,382  11,382  5,000 
Non-distributable reserves  64,062  42,429 28,960 58,133 51,409 42,286 37,473 37,200  32,520  22,955 
Proposed dividends  -    - - - - 12,872 7,356 4,904  9,107  -
Cumulative changes in fair value  69,276  10,258 1,052 1,233 - - - - - -
Retained profit  115,886  109,357 71,042 46,973 37,204 12,223 9,953 833  10,127  4,546 
   714,750  627,570 320,085 286,107 194,344 173,112 153,353 127,132  108,674  62,501
Total Liabilities and 
Shareholders’ Funds  6,028,236  4,217,725 2,954,858 1,993,817 1,900,274 1,554,778 1,542,435 1,346,456  1,336,965  746,731 
Letters of credit, acceptances,
guarantees and other obligations*   
on behalf of customers  1,048,978  1,015,838 592,927 418,708 338,411 329,809 325,703 344,168  327,818  153,888 

Operating cost to income  35.57% 40.67% 40.82% 43.45% 44.02% 44.84% 47.02% 44.25% 49.93% 42.96%
Return on average assets  1.83% 2.35% 2.44% 2.33% 1.97% 1.75% 1.59% 0.58% 1.56% 1.72%
Return on average shareholders’ funds  14.80% 25.83% 21.95% 20.18% 20.04% 19.89% 20.25% 7.43% 19.01% 20.22%
Basic Earnings Per Share (RO)** 0.087 0.090 0.066 0.058 0.493 0.526 0.476 0.170  0.357  0.402 
Share price (RO)** 0.797 1.92 1.148 0.892 6.400 4.970 3.840 1.800 3.540  4.490 
BIS capital adequacy ratio 13.02% 15.14% 11.97% 17.82% 15.31% 16.39% 16.05%  15.80% 16.39% 13.44%

Ten Years’ Summary of Results

 Amounts in RO ’000

 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001  2000  1999   

*Does not include acceptances from 2004 onwards. ** Reflects the impact of stock split if 10:1 from 2006 onwards. 

Balance Sheet  
At 31 December 2008
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Statement of Income    

Interest income 263,463 218,272 159,234 116,017 104,678 101,117 104,469 108,766  114,622  62,641  
Interest expense (101,356) (93,450) (59,361) (37,956) (29,440) (32,296) (41,925) (59,075)  (67,075)  (36,402)  
Net interest income 162,107 124,822 99,873 78,061 75,238 68,821 62,544  49,691  47,547  26,239  
Other operating income 74,694 48,107 30,780 23,271 21,843 19,619 16,958 12,190  10,170  6,251  
Net Operating Income 236,801 172,929  130,653 101,332 97,081 88,440 79,502 61,881  57,717  32,490  

Operating Expenses          
Other operating expenses (78,487)  (66,240) (49,964) (40,778) (39,124) (36,463) (34,487) (24,990)  (25,973)  (12,628) 
Depreciation and amortisation/impairment (5,737) (4,086) (3,366) (3,252) (3,613) (3,190) (2,893) (2,390) (2,846) (1,331) 

 (84,224) (70,326) (53,330) (44,030) (42,737) (39,653) (37,380) (27,380)  (28,819)  (13,959)  
Unrealised gain (loss) on
investment securities - - - - 955 207 260 (318) (1,563) (1,090)
Release of (provision for)  
capital guarantee  - - - - - - 303 (339) (335) - 
Provision towards government
assistance programme of 
brokerage companies - - - - - - - - (1,993) - 
Impairment for placements with banks (4,813) - - - - (2,310) - - - - 
Recoveries (provision) for collateral  
pending sale and acquired assets 13 107  198 (496) (102) (175) (144) (1,129) - - 
Recoveries from impairment for  
investment 583 - - - - - - - - -
Impairment for investments (10,929)  - - (583) - - - - - - 
Impairment for credit losses (net) (12,022)   (10,502) (11,126) (8,463) (14,120) (15,693) (15,919) (23,536) (10,047) (3,553) 
Impairment for associates (13,750) - - - - - - - - -
Share of profit (loss) from associates (3,248)  5,499 4,145 3,664 (1,417) - - - - - 
Share of trading loss of an associate - - - (3,945) - - - - - - 
Recoveries from provision  
for placements - - - 1,939 - - - - - - 
Net gain on disposal of a  
foreign branch - - - 2,826 - - - - - - 

Profit Before Discontinuing 
Operations 108,411 97,707  69,957 52,827 39,660 30,816 26,622 9,179  14,960  13,888  
Net (loss) gain from discontinuing
operations  - - - - - (56) - - 3,500 - 
Net Profit Before Taxation  108,411 97,707 69,957 52,827 39,660 30,760 26,622 9,179 18,460 13,888 
Tax expense (14,680) (13,450) (9,525) (7,383) (5,555) (3,679) (3,709) (1,424) (2,193)  (1,833)  
Net Profit for the year 93,731 84,257 60,432 45,444 34,105 27,081 22,913 7,755 16,267 12,055 

Ten Years’ Summary of Results

 Amounts in RO ’000

 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001  2000  1999  

Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2008
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Ten Years’ Summary of Results

*Does not include acceptances from 2004 onwards. ** Reflects the impact of stock split if 10:1 from 2006 onwards. 

 Amounts in USD ’000

 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001  2000  1999

Assets          
Cash and balances with 
Central Bank 1,176,003  1,267,304  301,862 85,549 83,357 199,069 388,395 57,803 102,421   50,990  
Treasury Bills 367,096  -    460,725 165,179 233,015 143,759 82,761  148,151  198,608  106,229  
Government Securities 190,995  125,844  146,003 116,163 136,222 98,246 73,514 102,364  104,285  32,153  
Placements with banks 2,798,850  1,526,758  1,362,964 822,687 705,145 237,715  169,895 243,551  378,232  200,616  
Loans and advances  9,682,337  6,978,865  4,765,397 3,563,455 3,452,931 3,230,676 3,183,974 2,852,121   2,588,701  1,512,067  
Investment securities 666,711  440,644  175,520 152,051 85,853 41,359 36,402   31,083   22,086  17,018  
Tangible fixed assets 57,008  49,584  29,709 27,626 30,913 31,245 25,343   19,498  20,626   13,413  
Other assets 718,756  566,131  432,776 246,034 208,340 56,316 46,042   42,718   57,678   7,075  
Total Assets 15,657,756  10,955,130  7,674,956 5,178,744 4,935,776 4,038,385 4,006,326  3,497,289   3,472,637   1,939,561  
 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Funds          
Liabilities 
Deposits from banks 3,669,028  1,722,691  943,395 143,296 451,611 479,394 596,223   585,614   715,647   414,242  
Customers' deposits 8,241,641  6,031,400  4,719,758 3,353,779 2,884,682 2,612,010 2,502,135   2,120,267   2,101,761   1,241,945  
Certificates of deposit 160,195  37,065  79,857 108,429 133,810 191,150 247,977   191,552   105,979   3,426 
Unsecured bonds 142,345  142,345  142,345 142,345 142,345 64,935 - -  -  -  
Floating rate notes 290,000  290,000  275,000 250,000 250,000 - -  -  -  -    
Other liabilities 935,423  766,545  544,117 301,628 423,091 102,152 104,883   87,105   85,278   41,964  
Taxation 67,823  53,213  39,094 33,223 26,950 20,606 16,501   8,744   7,909   4,761 
Proposed dividends - - - - - - -     -     -    15,584
Subordinated liabilities 294,805  281,818  100,000 102,911 118,495 118,495 140,286  173,794   173,793   55,299  
 13,801,260  9,325,077  6,843,566 4,435,611 4,430,984 3,588,742  3,608,005   3,167,076   3,190,367   1,777,221  
Shareholders’ Funds          
Share capital 279,774 279,774 216,190 196,536 155,365 133,739 127,369 118,279 118,279 77,922  
Share premium 783,130 783,130 206,469 206,469 67,804 11,642 11,642 460 -  - 
Convertible bonds -  - - - - 70,390 70,390 70,384 -  - 
Proposed issue of bonus shares -  - - - - 7,398 6,369   - -    -    
General reserve 146,255  146,255  146,255 63,927 51,460 51,459 40,260   29,564   29,564   12,987  
Non-distributable reserves 166,395  110,206  75,219 150,994 133,530 109,833 97,332   96,624  84,466  59,623  
Proposed dividends -  -    - - - 33,434 19,106  12,738   23,656  - 
Cumulative changes in fair value 179,939  26,644  2,732 3,202 - - - - - - 
Retained profit 301,003  284,044  184,525 122,005 96,633 31,748 25,853  2,164   26,305   11,808  
  1,856,496 1,630,053  831,390 743,133 504,792 449,643 398,321   330,213   282,270  162,340  
Total Liabilities and 
Shareholders’ Funds 15,657,756  10,955,130  7,674,956 5,178,744 4,935,776 4,038,385 4,006,326   3,497,289   3,472,637   1,939,561  
Letters of credit, acceptances,
guarantees and other obligations*   
on behalf of customers 2,724,618  2,638,540  1,540,071 1,087,553 878,990 856,647 845,982   893,944   851,475   399,709  
Operating cost to income 35.57% 40.67% 40.82% 43.45% 44.02% 44.84% 47.02% 44.24% 49.93% 42.96% 
Return on average assets 1.83% 2.35% 2.44% 2.33% 1.97% 1.75% 1.59% 0.58% 1.56% 1.72% 
Return on average shareholders’ funds 14.80% 25.83% 21.95% 20.18% 20.04% 19.89% 20.25% 7.43% 19.01% 20.22% 
Basic Earnings Per Share ($)** 0.226 0.234 0.171 0.151 1.28 1.366 1.236   0.442   0.927  1.04  
Share price ($)** 2.07 4.99 2.98 2.32 16.62 12.91 9.97   4.68   9.19   11.66  
BIS capital adequacy ratio 13.02% 15.14% 11.97% 17.82% 15.31% 16.39% 16.05% 15.80% 16.39% 13.44% 

Balance Sheet  
At 31 December 2008
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Statement of Income

Interest income 684,319 566,940  413,596 301,343 271,892 262,641 271,348  282,510   297,721  162,704  
Interest expense (263,263) (242,727) (154,186) (98,587) (76,469) (83,885) (108,896)  (153,441)  (174,222) (94,551) 
Net interest income 421,056 324,213 259,410 202,756 195,423 178,756 162,452   129,069   123,501   68,153  
Other operating income 194,011 124,953 79,948 60,446 56,739 50,960 44,047   31,661   26,416   16,236  

Net Operating Income  615,067 449,166 339,358 263,202 252,162 229,716 206,499   160,730   149,917   84,389  

Operating Expenses          
Other operating expenses (203,862) (172,052) (129,777) (105,917) (101,621) (94,710) (89,577)  (64,908)  (67,462) (32,800)
Depreciation and amortisation/impairment (14,900) (10,613) (8,743) (8,450) (9,387) (8,284)  (7,514)  (6,207)  (7,392) (3,457) 
 (218,762) (182,665) (138,520) (114,367) (111,008) (102,994)  (97,091)  (71,115)  (74,855) (36,257) 
Unrealised gain (loss) on
investment securities - - - - 2,480 537 676   (826)  (4,060) (2,831) 
Release of (provision for)
capital guarantee  - - - - - - 787   (880)  (870) - 
Provision towards government 
assistance programme of 
brokerage companies - - - - - -  -  -  (5,178) - 
Provision for placements with banks (12,501) - - - - (6,000) - - - - 
Recoveries (provision) for collateral  
pending sale and acquired assets 34 278 515 (1,289) (264) (456)  (374)  (2,932) - - 
Recoveries from impairment 
for investments 1,514 - - - - - - - - -
Impairment for investments (28,387) - (1,514) - - - - - - -
Impairment for credit losses (net)  (31,226) (27,277) (28,899) (21,980) (36,676) (40,761) (41,348) (61,134) (26,096) (9,228) 
Impairment for associates (35,714) - - - - - - - - -
Share of profit (loss) from associates   (8,436) 14,283 10,766 9,516 (3,680) - - - - - 
Share of trading loss of an associate - - - (10,245) - - - - - - 
Recoveries from provision  
for placements - - - 5,036 - - - - - - 
Net gain on disposal of a 
foreign branch - - - 7,340 - - - - - - 

Profit Before Discontinuing 
Operations 281,589 253,785 181,706 137,213 103,014 80,042 69,148   23,843   38,859  36,073 
Net (loss) gain from discontinuing 
operations  - - - - - (145) -     -     9,091 -
Net Profit Before Taxation  281,589 253,785 181,706 137,213 103,014 79,897  69,148   23,843   47,950   36,073 
Tax expense (38,130) (34,935) (24,740) (19,178) (14,430) (9,557)  (9,635)  (3,700)  (5,697)  (4,761) 
Net Profit for the year 243,459 218,850 156,966 118,035 88,584 70,340 59,513   20,143   42,253  31,312 

Ten Years’ Summary of Results

 Amounts in USD ’000

 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001  2000  1999 

Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2008
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in helping us grow from 

strength to strength.
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Balance Sheet  
At 31 December 2008

2007 2008 2008 2007
US$ ’000 US$ ’000 Notes RO’000 RO’000

ASSETS
1,267,304 1,176,003 Cash and balances with Central Banks 5 452,761 487,912
1,526,758 2,798,850 Placements with banks 6 1,077,557 587,802
6,978,865 9,682,337 Loans and advances 7 3,727,700 2,686,863

566,131 718,756 Other assets 8 276,721 217,960
Investment securities:

223,981 563,501 - Available-for-sale 9 216,948 86,233
83,543 419,995 - Held to maturity 9 161,698 32,164

258,964 241,306 Investment in associates 10 92,903 99,701
       49,584        57,008 Property and equipment 11       21,948       19,090

10,955,130 15,657,756 TOTAL ASSETS 6,028,236 4,217,725

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES
1,722,691 3,669,028 Deposits from banks 12 1,412,576 663,236
6,031,400 8,241,641 Customers’ deposits 13 3,173,032 2,322,089

37,065 160,195 Certificates of deposit 14 61,675 14,270
142,345 142,345 Unsecured bonds 15 54,803 54,803
290,000 290,000 Floating rate notes 16 111,650 111,650
766,545 935,423 Other liabilities 17 360,138 295,120

53,213 67,823 Taxation 18 26,112 20,487
   281,818      294,805 Subordinated liabilities 19     113,500     108,500

9,325,077 13,801,260 TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,313,486 3,590,155

EQUITY
279,774 279,774 Share capital 20 107,713 107,713
783,130 783,130 Share premium 20 301,505 301,505
146,255 146,255 General reserve 21 56,308 56,308

93,260 93,260 Legal reserve 21 35,905 35,905
10,278 10,278 Revaluation reserve 11 3,957 3,957

6,668 62,857 Subordinated loan reserve 22 24,200 2,567
26,644 179,939 Cumulative changes in fair value 69,276 10,258

  284,044    301,003 Retained profit 115,886 109,357

1,630,053 1,856,496 TOTAL EQUITY 714,750 627,570

10,955,130 15,657,756 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 6,028,236 4,217,725

2,638,540 2,724,618 Contingent liabilities and commitments 24 1,048,978 1,015,838

   US$ 1.514     US$ 1.724 Net assets per share 25      RO 0.664      RO 0.583

The financial statements on pages 76 to 140 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 January 2009 and signed on their 
behalf by:

Chairman Sheikh AbdulMalik bin Abdullah Al Khalili
Deputy Chairman Sheikh Khalid bin Mustahail Al Mashani
Chief Executive AbdulRazak bin Ali bin Issa
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Inspired people. Inspiring results.

Income Statement  
For the year ended 31 December 2008

2007 2008 2008 2007
US$ ’000 US$ ’000 Notes RO’000 RO’000

566,940 684,319 Interest income 27 263,463 218,272
(242,727) (263,263) Interest expense 28 (101,356)   (93,450)

324,213 421,056 Net interest income 162,107 124,822
97,680 142,408 Commission and fees income (net) 29 54,827 37,607

  27,273   51,603 Other operating income 30   19,867   10,500

449,166 615,067 OPERATING INCOME 236,801 172,929

OPERATING EXPENSES
(172,052) (203,862) Other operating expenses 31 (78,487) (66,240)
 (10,613) (14,900) Depreciation 11  (5,737)  (4,086)

(182,665) (218,762) (84,224) (70,326)

- (12,501) Impairment for placements 6 (4,813) -
(47,171) (63,961) Impairment for credit losses 7 (24,625) (18,161)
  19,894 32,735 Recoveries from impairment for credit losses 7 12,603    7,659

- (28,387) Impairment for investments 9 (10,929) -
- 1,514 Recoveries from impairment for investments 9 583 -
- (35,714) Impairment for associate 10 (13,750) -

  14,283   (8,436) Share of (loss)/profit from associates 10    (3,248)   5,499
278

       
34

         
Recoveries/(provision) for collateral pending sale and 
acquired assets

26 13
          

107
     

(195,381) (333,478) OPERATING EXPENSES (128,390) (75,222)

253,785 281,589 PROFIT BEFORE  TAXATION 108,411 97,707
(34,935) (38,130) Tax expense 18 (14,680) (13,450)

218,850 243,459 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 93,731 84,257

Earnings per share:
  US$ 0.234  US$ 0.226    - Basic and Diluted 33    RO 0.087 RO 0.090

The notes on pages 81 to 140 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - page 75
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Share
capital

Share
premium

General
reserve

Legal
Reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Subordinated 
loan reserve

Cumulative changes  
in fair value Retained profit Total

Notes RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2008

Balance at 31 December 2007 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 2,567 10,258 109,357 627,570

Loss on translation of net investment in associates 10 - - - - - - - (11,712) (11,712)

Change in fair value of investments available-for-sale 9            -             -           -           -         -           - 59,018            - 59,018

Net income directly recognised in equity            -             -           -           -         -           - 59,018 (11,712) 47,306

Profit for the year            -             -           -           -         -           -           - 93,731   93,731

Total income recognised for 2008 - - - - - - 59,018 82,019 141,037

Dividends paid - 2007 23 - - - - - - - (53,857) (53,857)

Transfer to subordinated loan reserve 22             -             -           -           -         - 21,633           -  (21,633)             -

Balance at 31 December 2008 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 24,200 69,276 115,886 714,750

Balance at 31 December 2008 (US$’000) 279,774 783,130 146,255 93,260 10,278 62,857 179,939 301,003 1,856,496

     

Share
capital

Share
premium

General
reserve

Legal
Reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Subordinated 
loan reserve

Cumulative changes  
in fair value Retained profit Total

Notes RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2007

Balance at 31 December 2006 83,233 79,490 56,308 27,745 1,215 - 1,052 71,042 320,085

Revaluation of land and building 11 - - - - 2,742 - - - 2,742

Profit on translation of net investment in associates 10 - - - - - - - 2,240 2,240

Change in fair value of investments available-for-sale 9            -             -           -            -          -          - 9,206         -   9,206

Net income directly recognised in equity - - - - 2,742 - 9,206 2,240 14,188

Profit for the year            -             -           -            -         -          -         - 84,257 84,257

Total income recognised for 2007 - - - - 2,742 - 9,206 86,497 98,445

Bonus shares issued 23 8,323 - - - - - - (8,323) -

Issue of shares during the year 20 16,157 222,015 - - - - - - 238,172

Dividends paid – 2006 - - - - - - - (29,132) (29,132)

Transfer to subordinated loan reserve 22 - - - - - 2,567 - (2,567) -

Transfer to legal reserve 21            -             -           -   8,160         -        -          -   (8,160)             -

Balance at 31 December 2007 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 2,567 10,258 109,357 627,570

Balance at 31 December 2007 (US$’000) 279,774 783,130 146,255 93,260 10,278 6,668 26,644 284,044 1,630,053

The notes on pages 81 to 140 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Inspired people. Inspiring results.

Statement of Changes in Equity  
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Share
capital

Share
premium

General
reserve

Legal
Reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Subordinated 
loan reserve

Cumulative changes  
in fair value Retained profit Total

Notes RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2008

Balance at 31 December 2007 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 2,567 10,258 109,357 627,570

Loss on translation of net investment in associates 10 - - - - - - - (11,712) (11,712)

Change in fair value of investments available-for-sale 9            -             -           -           -         -           - 59,018            - 59,018

Net income directly recognised in equity            -             -           -           -         -           - 59,018 (11,712) 47,306

Profit for the year            -             -           -           -         -           -           - 93,731   93,731

Total income recognised for 2008 - - - - - - 59,018 82,019 141,037

Dividends paid - 2007 23 - - - - - - - (53,857) (53,857)

Transfer to subordinated loan reserve 22             -             -           -           -         - 21,633           -  (21,633)             -

Balance at 31 December 2008 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 24,200 69,276 115,886 714,750

Balance at 31 December 2008 (US$’000) 279,774 783,130 146,255 93,260 10,278 62,857 179,939 301,003 1,856,496

     

Share
capital

Share
premium

General
reserve

Legal
Reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Subordinated 
loan reserve

Cumulative changes  
in fair value Retained profit Total

Notes RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2007

Balance at 31 December 2006 83,233 79,490 56,308 27,745 1,215 - 1,052 71,042 320,085

Revaluation of land and building 11 - - - - 2,742 - - - 2,742

Profit on translation of net investment in associates 10 - - - - - - - 2,240 2,240

Change in fair value of investments available-for-sale 9            -             -           -            -          -          - 9,206         -   9,206

Net income directly recognised in equity - - - - 2,742 - 9,206 2,240 14,188

Profit for the year            -             -           -            -         -          -         - 84,257 84,257

Total income recognised for 2007 - - - - 2,742 - 9,206 86,497 98,445

Bonus shares issued 23 8,323 - - - - - - (8,323) -

Issue of shares during the year 20 16,157 222,015 - - - - - - 238,172

Dividends paid – 2006 - - - - - - - (29,132) (29,132)

Transfer to subordinated loan reserve 22 - - - - - 2,567 - (2,567) -

Transfer to legal reserve 21            -             -           -   8,160         -        -          -   (8,160)             -

Balance at 31 December 2007 107,713 301,505 56,308 35,905 3,957 2,567 10,258 109,357 627,570

Balance at 31 December 2007 (US$’000) 279,774 783,130 146,255 93,260 10,278 6,668 26,644 284,044 1,630,053
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Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2008

  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
253,785 281,589 Profit for the year before taxation 108,411 97,707

Adjustments for:
(14,283) 8,436 Share of  loss/(profit) from associates 3,248 (5,499)

10,613 14,900 Depreciation 5,737 4,086
- 28,387 Impairment for investments 10,929 -

47,171 63,961 Impairment for credit and other losses 24,625 18,161
- 12,501 Impairment for placements 4,813 -
- 35,714 Impairment for associate 13,750 -

(19,894) (32,735) Recoveries from impairment for credit losses (12,603) (7,659)
- (1,514) Recoveries from impairment of investments (583) -

(278) (34)
Recoveries from impairment for collateral pending sale 
and acquired assets (13) (107)

(37) (47) Profit on sale of property and equipment (18) (14)
   (2,223)    (6,719) Dividends received    (2,587)       (856)

274,854 404,439 Operating profit before working capital changes 155,709 105,819

(115,696) (404,012) Placements with banks (155,545) (44,543)
(2,240,743) (2,734,698) Loans and advances (1,052,859) (862,686)

(133,532) (146,407) Other assets (56,367) (51,410)
303,304 1,003,492 Deposits from banks 386,344 116,772

1,311,642 2,210,242 Customers’ deposits 850,943 504,982
(42,792) 123,130 Certificates of deposit 47,405 (16,475)

15,000 - Floating rate notes - 5,775
222,147 169,154 Other liabilities   65,124   85,527

(405,816) 625,340 Cash from operations 240,754 (156,239)
 (20,083)  (29,990) Income taxes paid  (11,546)    (7,732)

(425,899) 595,350 Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 229,208 (163,971)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
2,223 6,719 Dividends received 2,587 856

(46,628) (182,454) Net movement in non-trading investments (70,245) (17,952)
(154,319) (56,912) Investment in associates (21,911) (59,413)

(23,405) (22,345) Purchase of property and equipment (8,603) (9,011)
         75          70 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment         27        29

(222,054) (254,922) Net cash used in investing activities (98,145) (85,491)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(75,668) (139,888) Dividends paid (53,857) (29,132)
181,818 12,987 Subordinated loan received 5,000 70,000

41,966 - Share capital issued - 16,157
576,660             - Share premium received           - 222,015

724,776 (126,901) Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (48,857) 279,040

76,823 213,527 NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH  EQUIVALENTS 82,206 29,578
775,585 852,408 Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 328,179 298,601

852,408 1,065,935 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 32 410,385 328,179

The notes on pages 81 to 140 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - page 75
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Inspired people. Inspiring results.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008

1 Legal status and Principal Activities

 BankMuscat SAOG (the Bank) is a joint stock company incorporated in the Sultanate of Oman and is engaged in commercial and investment banking 

activities through a network of a hundred and nineteen branches within the Sultanate of Oman and a branch in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The 

Bank has a representative office in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Bank operates in Oman under a banking licence issued by the Central Bank of 

Oman and is covered by its deposit insurance scheme. The Bank has its primary listing on the Muscat Securities Market.

 The Bank operates in three countries (2007 - three countries) and employed 2,576 employees as of 31 December 2008 (2007 - 2,157).

2 Basis of Preparation

 2.1  Statement of compliance

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the Commercial 

Companies Law of 1974, as amended and disclosure requirements of the Capital Market Authority of the Sultanate of Oman.

 These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 January 2009.

 2.2  Basis of  preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, modified to include the revaluation of freehold land and buildings and the 

measurement at fair value of derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale investment securities.

 The balance sheet is presented in descending order of liquidity as this presentation is more appropriate to the Bank’s operations.

 2.3  Functional and presentation currency

 These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani, which is the Bank’s functional currency and also in US Dollars. The US Dollar amounts, which 

are presented in these financial statements have been translated from the Rial Omani amounts at an exchange rate of US$  1 = RO 0.385. All financial 

information presented in Rial Omani and US Dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousands.

 2.4 (a)  Standards,  amendments and interpretations effective in 2008 but not relevant for the Bank’s operations

 IFRIC 11, IFRS 2, Group and treasury share transactions (effective 1 January 2008);

 IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective 1 January 2008);

 IFRS 13, Customer loyalty programmes (effective 1 July 2008); and

 IFRIC 14, IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their interaction (effective from 1 January 2008).

 2.4 (b)  Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective for the Bank’s operations

 Certain new standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Bank accounting 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods and which the Bank has not early adopted.

 IFRS 1 (Amendment) First time adoption of IFRS, and IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IFRS 2 (Amendment), Share-based payment (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations (effective from 1 July 2009);
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2 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

 2.4 (b)  Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective for the Bank’s operations

 IFRS 5 (Amendment), Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations (and consequential amendment to IFRS 1, First-time adoption) 

(effective from 1 July 2009);

 IFRS 8, Operating segments (effective 1 January 2009); 

 IAS 1 (Revised and Amendment), Presentation of financial statements (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 16 (Amendment), Property, plant and equipment (and consequential amendment to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows) (effective from  1 January 

2009);

 IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee benefits (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 20 (Amendment), Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing costs (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 27 (Revised), Consolidated and separate financial statements (effective from 1 July 2009);

 IAS 28 (Amendment), Investments in associates (and consequential amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and IFRS 7, Financial 

instruments: Disclosures) (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 29 (Amendment), Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 31 (Amendment), Interests in joint ventures (and consequential amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7) (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments:  Presentation, and IAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation and financial statements – Puttable financial 

instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 36 (Amendment), Impairment of assets (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 39 (Amendment), Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 40 (Amendment), Investment property (and consequential amendments to IAS 16) (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IAS 41 (Amendment), Agriculture (effective from 1 January 2009);

 IFRIC 15, Agreements for construction of real estates (effective from 1 January 2009).

3 Significant Accounting Policies

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Bank to all periods presented in these financial statements.

 3.1  Foreign currencies

 (i) Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Rial Omani at exchange rates ruling at the value dates of the transactions.

 (ii) Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Rial Omani at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet 

date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monitory items is the difference between amortised costs in the Rial Omani at the beginning of the 

period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period and the amortised costs in foreign currency translated at the exchange 

rate at the end of the period. Non-monitory assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated 

to Rial Omani at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

 (iii) The financial statements of the overseas branches are translated into Rial Omani for aggregation purposes at the exchange rates ruling at the 

balance sheet date.  Any translation differences arising from the application of exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date to the opening 

net assets of the overseas branches are taken directly to equity.

 (iv) Net investment in associates, are translated into Rial Omani at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Any translation differences 

arising from the application of exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date are taken directly to equity.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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Inspired people. Inspiring results.

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 3.2  Revenue and expense recognition

 3.2.1  Interest 

 Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts and payments through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial 

asset or liability and is not revised subsequently. 

 Interest income and expense presented in the income statement include:

Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis;•	

Interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest basis;•	

Fair value changes in qualifying derivatives.•	

  Interest which is doubtful of recovery is included in impairment allowance and excluded from income until it is received in cash. 

 3.2.2  Fees and Commission

 Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement 

of the effective interest rate. Other fees and commission income, including service charges, advisory fees, processing fees, syndication fees and others 

are recognised when they are due.

 3.2.3  Dividends

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. 

 3.2.4  Provisions

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 

cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the liability.

 3.3   Financial assets and liabilities

 3.3.1  Classification

 The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity and 

available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification 

of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 (a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 

principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as 

hedges.

 (b) Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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3 Significant Accounting Policies  (Continued)

 (c)  Held to maturity

  Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive 

intent and ability to hold to maturity and which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale. Held to maturity 

financial assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

  (d)  Available-for-sale financial assets

  Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 

categories. 

 3.3.2  Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. 

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature 

of the item being hedged. The Bank designates certain derivatives as either:

 (i) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);

 (ii)  hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge); or

 (iii)  hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

 The Bank documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 

objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Bank also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an 

ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows 

of hedged items.

 3.3.3  Recognition

 The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All 

other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.  

 3.3.4  Derecognition

 The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the 

contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 

transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

 The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

 3.3.5  Offsetting

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set 

off the recognized amounts and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards or for gains and losses arising from a group of 

similar transactions.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 3.3.6  Amortised cost measurement

 The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 

principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 

recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. 

 3.3.7  Fair value measurement

 A number of the Bank’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and 

liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods. 

Where applicable, information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. Refer 

also to note 41.

 3.3.8  Investment in equity and debt securities

 For investments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted market prices at the close of 

business on the balance sheet date.

 The fair value of interest-bearing items is estimated based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for items with similar terms and risk 

characteristics.

 For unquoted equity investments fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment or is based on the expected 

discounted cash flows.

 3.4  Identification and measurement of impairment of financial assets

 Assets carried at amortised cost

 The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  A 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss is incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as 

a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Objective evidence that a financial asset 

or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank about the following loss events as well as considering 

the guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Oman:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;•	

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;•	

the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, a concession that the lender would •	

not otherwise consider;

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;•	

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or•	

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the •	

initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including 

adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Bank, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the 

assets in the Bank. 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
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3 Significant Accounting Policies  (Continued)

 The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and 

individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment 

exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 

characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss 

is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised cost has been 

incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 

the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-

maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined 

under the contract. 

 The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 

foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

 Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows 

of the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss experience 

is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss 

experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

 The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss 

estimates and actual loss experience.

 When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary 

procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is 

recognised in the income statement.  Also refer to notes 3.8 loans and advances, 3.9 investments and 3.11 investments in associates.

 3.5   Fair value measurement of financial assets

 The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not available, then fair value 

is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract 

using a risk free interest rate (based on Government bonds).

 The fair value of interest rate swaps is arrived at by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using 

market interest rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date.

 Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 

 Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any these derivative instruments are recognised 

immediately in the income statement within other operating income.

 3.6  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, balances with banks, treasury bills and money market placements and deposits maturing within 

three months of the date of acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the balance sheet.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 3.7  Placements with banks

 These are stated at cost, less any amounts written off and provisions for impairment.

 3.8  Loans and advances

 Loans and advances are non derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and the Bank 

does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term.

 When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the 

lessee, the arrangement is presented within loans and advances.

 Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

 The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loans and advances portfolio. The main 

components are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loan loss allowance established for 

groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified on loans subject to individual assessment 

for impairment. The Bank makes provision for bad and doubtful debts promptly when required in line with the conservative provisioning norms it has 

set for itself.  

 3.9  Investments

 Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently accounted for depending on their 

classification as either fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity or available-for-sale.

 Fair value through profit and loss

 These are initially recognised at cost and subsequently remeasured at fair value. All related realised and unrealised gains or losses are included in the 

income statement.  Derivative instruments are recognised at fair value.

 Available-for-sale

 The Bank’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised 

directly in equity. When an investment is de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to income statement. Impairment losses 

are included in the income statement.

 For available-for-sale financial investments, the Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a 

group of investments is impaired. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 

cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the income statement – is removed from equity 

and recognised in the income statement.

 Held to maturity

If the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as Held to maturity. Held to maturity 

investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies  (Continued)

 3.10  Property and equipment

 Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Cost includes expenditures that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

 When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property 

and equipment.

 Revaluations of freehold land and buildings are carried out every five years on an open market value for existing use basis, by an independent valuer. 

Net surpluses arising on revaluation are credited to a revaluation reserve, except that a revaluation increase is recognised as income to the extent that 

it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an expense. A decrease as a result of a revaluation is recognised as an 

expense, except that it is charged directly against any related revaluation surplus to the extent that the decrease does not exceed the amount held in 

the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. On disposal the related revaluation surplus is transferred directly to retained earnings. Transfers from 

revaluation surplus to retained earnings are not made through income statement.

 Depreciation is calculated so as to write-off the cost of property and equipment, other than freehold land and capital work-in-progress, by equal 

instalments over their estimated economic useful lives from the date the asset is brought into use, as follows:

   Years

 Freehold buildings 10 - 25 

 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 5 

 Motor vehicles 3 - 5 

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are re-assessed at the balance sheet date. Gains and losses on disposal of property and 

equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operating profit. Repairs and renewals are 

charged to the income statement when the expense is incurred. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 

benefits embodied in the item of property and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

 3.11  Investment in associates

 Associates are those entities in which the Bank has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Associates are 

accounted for using the equity method (equity accounted investees). Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the balance 

sheet at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Bank’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the 

carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised or separately tested for impairment. 

 The financial statements include the Bank’s share of the net profit or loss of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting 

policies with those of the Bank, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Bank’s 

share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long term investment) is 

reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Bank has an obligation or has made payments on behalf 

of the investee.

 After application of equity method, the Bank determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Bank’s investment in 

its associates. The Bank determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. 

If this is the case, the Bank calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the investment in associate and 

its carrying value and charges the amount in the income statement.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 3.12  Collateral pending sale

 The Bank occasionally acquires real estate in settlement of certain loans and advances. Real estate is stated at the lower of the net realisable value 

of the related loans and advances and the current fair value of such assets.  Gains or losses on disposal and unrealised losses on revaluation are 

recognised in the income statement.

 3.13  Goodwill

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Bank’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, 

the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost 

less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units is represented by each 

primary reporting segment.

 3.14  Deposits

 Deposits, debt securities and subordinated liabilities are the Bank’s sources of funding. These are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs 

and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 3.15  Income tax

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is provided in accordance with Omani fiscal regulations.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and 

any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised 

in equity.

 Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on 

the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 

balance sheet date.

 The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets/liabilities is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

 3.16  Fiduciary assets

 Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets on the Bank’s balance sheet.

 3.17  Acceptances

 Acceptances are disclosed on the balance sheet under other assets with corresponding liability disclosed under other liabilities. Therefore, there is no 

off-balance sheet commitment for acceptances.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies  (Continued)

 3.18  Repurchase and resale agreements

 Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are recognised in the balance sheet and are measured 

in accordance with accounting policies for such securities. The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements is classified as a 

liability. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos) are not recognised in the balance sheet 

and the amounts paid under these agreements are classified as an asset. 

 The difference between the related sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense or interest income arising from these transactions, 

respectively, and is accrued over the period of the agreement. 

 3.19  Trade and settlement date accounting

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the entity commits to purchase the asset.  

Regular way purchase or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the timeframe generally established by 

regulation or convention in the market place.

 3.20  Leases

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 

inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are 

apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

 Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease 

payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 3.21  Employee terminal benefits

 Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan, for Omani employees, in accordance with the Oman Social Insurance Scheme, are recognised 

as expense in the income statement when accrued.

 The Bank’s obligation in respect of non-Omani terminal benefits, which is an unfunded defined benefit retirement plan, is the amount of future benefit 

that such employees have earned in return for their service in current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit 

method and is discounted to its present value.

 3.22  Segment reporting

 A segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is engaged either in providing related products or services (business segment), or in 

providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are 

different from those of other segments. The Bank’s primary format for segment reporting is based on the geographical segments.

 3.23  Earnings per share

 The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss 

attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is 

determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 

the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprises convertible notes.
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4 Critical Accounting Estimates 

 The preparation of financial statements requires the Management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 

historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 

making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.  Specific fair value estimates are disclosed in note 41.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 

the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods. The Bank’s significant accounting estimates were on:

Impairment on placements (note 6);•	

Impairment losses on loans and advances (note 7);•	

Fair value of derivative (note 8);•	

Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments (note 9);•	

Impairment loss on investments in associates (note 10).•	

5 Cash and Balances with Central Banks

2007   2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

129,883 205,977 Cash 79,301 50,005

1,299 1,299 Capital deposit with Central Bank of Oman 500 500

4,231 4,231 Insurance deposit with Central Bank of Oman 1,629 1,629

1,131,891    964,496 Other balances with Central Banks 371,331 435,778

1,267,304 1,176,003 452,761 487,912

 The capital deposit and insurance deposit with the Central Bank of Oman cannot be withdrawn without the approval of the Central Bank of Oman.

6 Placements with Banks

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

1,390,678 2,447,016 Inter-bank placements    942,101 535,411

  136,080    364,335 Nostro balances    140,269   52,391

1,526,758 2,811,351 1,082,370 587,802

              -     (12,501) Provision for impairment       (4,813)              -

1,526,758 2,798,850 1,077,557 587,802
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7 Loans and Advances

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

6,390,351 8,828,358 Loans 3,398,918 2,460,285

392,249 587,826 Overdrafts 226,313 151,016

196,018 390,774 Loans against trust receipts 150,448 75,467

183,166 67,039 Bills purchased and discounted 25,810 70,519

     99,419      134,506 Other advances     51,785      38,276

7,261,203 10,008,503 3,853,274 2,795,563

  (282,338)  (326,166) Provision for impairment   (125,574)   (108,700)

6,978,865 9,682,337 3,727,700 2,686,863

 The movement in provision for impairment is analysed below:

 Provision for loan losses

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

229,324 220,873 1 January 85,036 88,290

47,171 63,961 Provided during the year 24,625 18,161

(19,194) (22,657) Released during the year (8,723) (7,390)

(37,270) (2,532) Written off during the year (975) (14,349)

(1,971) (951) Transfer during the year to acquired assets (366) (759)

    2,813             - Transfer from contractual interest not recognised            -   1,083

220,873 258,694 31 December 99,597 85,036

 Recoveries during the period of RO 12.603 million (2007 - RO 7.659 million) include RO 3.880 million (2007 - RO 0.27 million) recovered from loans 

written off earlier.

 Contractual interest not recognised 

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

78,535 61,465 1 January 23,664 30,236

(33,031) (5,418) Written off during the year (2,086) (12,717)

27,486 25,116 Contractual interest not recognised  9,670 10,582

(8,712) (13,691) Contractual interest recovered (5,271) (3,354)

(2,813)           - Transfer to provision for loan loss           -  (1,083)

61,465 67,472 31 December 25,977 23,664

282,338 326,166 Total impairment 125,574 108,700
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7 Loans and Advances (Continued)

 All loans and advances require periodic payment of interest, some at fixed rates and others at rates that reprice prior to maturity.  Contractual interest 

is not recognised by the Bank are to comply with the rules, regulations and guidelines issued by CBO against loans and advances which are impaired. 

As of 31 December 2008, loans and advances on which contractual interest is not being accrued or has not been recognised amounted to RO 90.451 

million (2007 - RO 74.484 million). The loans written off during the year include an amount of RO Nil (2007 - RO 19.03 million) transferred to 

memorandum portfolio, which were fully provided by the Bank. The Bank will continue recovery measures on this portfolio. 

8 Other Assets

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

319,701 354,769 Positive fair value of derivatives (Note 36) 136,586 123,085

115,997 200,891 Acceptances 77,343 44,659

78,862 44,273 Accrued interest 17,045 30,362

27,278 35,176 Other debtors and prepaid expenses 13,543 10,502

- 6,195 Deferred tax asset (Note 18) 2,385 -

535 3,104 Collateral pending sale (net of provisions) 1,195 206

  23,758   74,348 Others   28,624    9,146

566,131 718,756 276,721 217,960

 Collateral pending sale includes properties acquired from borrowers as part of settlement agreement of loans and advances.

9 Investments

Available-
for-sale

Held to 
maturity

2008
Total

2007
Total

2008 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Quoted investments 216,516 20,366 236,882 108,738

Unquoted investments

Treasury bills - 141,332 141,332 -

Bonds/securities 13,598             -   13,598 12,412

Total Unquoted 13,598 141,332 154,930 12,412

Total investments 230,114 161,698 391,812 121,150

Impairment losses (13,166)             - (13,166)   (2,753)

Net investments 216,948 161,698 378,646 118,397

2007 86,233 32,164 118,397
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9 Investments (Continued)

Available-
for-sale

Held to 
maturity

2008
Total

2007
Total

2008 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

Quoted investments 562,379 52,899 615,278 282,436

Unquoted investments

Treasury bills - 367,096 367,096 -

Bonds/securities 35,319             -   35,319 32,239

Total Unquoted 35,319 367,096 402,415 32,239

Total investments 597,698 419,995 1,017,693 314,675

Impairment losses  (34,197)               -   (34,197)    (7,151)

Net investments 563,501 419,995 983,496 307,524

2007 223,981 83,543 307,524

 An analysis of available-for-sale investments is set out below:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

Quoted investments

18,184 253,800 Foreign securities 97,713 7,001

  42,301 138,096 Government bonds   53,167 16,286

69,425 74,795 Other services sector 28,796 26,729

21,260 27,179 Foreign bonds 10,464 8,185

20,060 23,917 Financial services sector 9,208 7,723

20,203 23,187 Industrial sector 8,927 7,778

   7,460   21,405 Corporate bonds     8,241    2,872

198,893 562,379 216,516 76,574

Unquoted investments

13,387 19,873 Foreign securities 7,651 5,154

16,852 15,316 Local securities 5,897 6,488

  2,000     130 Investment fund units        50      770

32,239 35,319 13,598 12,412

  (7,151)  (34,197) Impairment losses on investments (13,166) (2,753)

223,981 563,501 Total available-for-sale 216,948 86,233
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9 Investments (Continued)

 The movement impairment of investment securities may be summarised as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

5,177 7,151 Opening balance 2,753 1,993

1,974 173 Transfer during the year from impairment of credit losses 67 760

- 28,387 Increase during the year 10,929 -

        - (1,514) Decrease during the year    (583)         -

7,151 34,197 13,166 2,753

 The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:

Available-
for-sale

Held to 
maturity Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2008 86,233 32,164 118,397

Exchange differences on monetary assets (753) - (753)

Additions 126,298 141,332 267,630

Disposals (sale and redemption) (43,502) (11,798) (55,300)

Gains from changes in fair value 59,018 - 59,018

Recoveries from impairment for investments 583 - 583

Impairment losses (10,929)            -  (10,929)

At 31 December 2008 216,948 161,698 378,646

US$ ’000 563,501 419,995 983,496

Available-
for-sale

Held to 
maturity Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2007 48,360 220,258 268,618

Exchange differences on monetary assets 92 - 92

Additions 36,897 - 36,897

Disposals (sale and redemption) (8,322) (188,094) (196,416)

Gains from changes in fair value    9,206           -     9,206

At 31 December 2007  86,233 32,164 118,397

US$ ’000 223,981 83,543 307,524
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10 Investments in Associates 

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

56,707 - Investment in Centurion Bank of Punjab Limited (CBoP), India - 21,832

174,348 170,566 BankMuscat International, Bahrain (BMI) 65,668 67,124

- 46,442 Saudi Pak Commercial Bank Ltd (SPCB), Pakistan 17,880 -

  27,909   24,298 Mangal Keshav Holding Ltd (MKHL) India   9,355 10,745

258,964 241,306
Carrying value of the investment in associates at  
31 December 92,903 99,701

 During 2008, share of losses from associates amounted to RO 3.248 million (2007 – profit RO 5.499 million) and translation losses on associate 

investments amounted to RO 11.712 million (2007 - Profit RO 2.240 million).

 Details of investment in associates are given below.

 10.1  Investment in Centurion Bank of Punjab Limited 

 The Bank held a strategic stake of 17.33% in Centurion Bank of Punjab Limited (CBoP), a private sector bank in India. This investment was considered 

as investment in associate under equity method. With effect from 23 May 2008, CBoP merged with HDFC Bank Limited, another private sector bank 

in India. Subsequent to the merger with HDFC Bank, the Bank’s stake in the merged entity reduced to 2.67% and as a result the investment was  

derecognised as an associate from the date of merger. The investment is accounted for, in accordance with IAS 39, as available-for-sale investment 

(refer note 9).  The carrying value of the investment prior to reclassification as available-for-sale investment was as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

46,583 56,707 Carrying value at 1 January 21,832 17,934

6,471 2,083

Add: Share of profit for the period 1 October 2007 to 31 March 

2008 (2007 - 1 January 2007 to 30 September 2007) 802 2,491

  3,653 (2,821) Add: Translation of foreign currency profit  (1,087)   1,407

          -           (55,969) Carrying value as on 23 May 2008 transferred to available-for-

sale investments

(21,547) -
          

56,707           - Carrying value at 31 December           - 21,832

 The fair value of the investment as at 31 December 2008 of  RO 88.6 million is shown as available-for-sale investment and unrealised gain of RO 68.8 

million shown in equity under cumulative changes in fair value.

 The financial statements of CBoP are prepared as per generally accepted practices prevailing within the banking industry in India (Indian GAAP). The 

Management of the Bank believe that it is not practicable to restate the financial statements of CBoP in order to reflect the position as per International 

Financial Reporting Standards, as CBoP does not operate under similar circumstances.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008



97

Inspired people. Inspiring results.

10 investments in associates (Continued)

 10.2  Investment in BankMuscat International, Bahrain (BMI)

 As at 31 December 2008, the Bank held 49% (2007 - 49%) shareholding in BMI, a closely held bank. 

 The carrying value of the investment in BMI as on 31 December 2008 was as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

37,961 174,348 Carrying value at 1 January 67,124 14,615

130,042 - Share of capital increase - 50,066

    6,345   (3,782) Add: Share of (loss)/profit for the year (1,456)   2,443

174,348 170,566 Carrying value at 31 December 65,668 67,124

 On 19 September 2007, the Board of Directors of BMI approved a proposal to increase BMI’s paid up share capital from BD 25 million to BD 120 

million. Subsequently, on 6 January 2008, the shareholders of BMI at an Extraordinary General Meeting approved the increase of paid up share capital 

from BD 25 million to BD 120 million by issuing 95 million shares of BD 1 each to the existing shareholders. The Bank remitted BD 46.55 million 

towards its share of BMI’s capital increase on 14 December 2007.

 10.3  Investment in Saudi Pak Commercial Bank Limited (SPCB)

 In March 2008, the Bank acquired 200,899,633 shares representing 40.17% of the issued and paid up share capital of Saudi Pak Commercial 

Bank, a public limited company engaged in banking services in Pakistan. The Bank invested in SPCB along with consortium members comprising 

of International Finance Corporation, Nomura Group and Sinthos Capital. In June 2008, SPCB announced a rights issue where the Bank acquired 

114,313,228 shares. The number of shares acquired by the Bank was lower than its share of rights issue and as a result the Bank’s holding diluted to 

35.07%.  As at 31 December 2008, the Bank held 35.07% shareholding in SPCB.

 The carrying value of the investment in SPCB as on 31 December 2008 was as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

- 112,880 Total consideration paid 43,459 -

- (8,592) Less: share of loss for the period 1 April to 30 September 2008 (3,308) -

- (35,714) Less: Impairment loss (13,750) -

       - (22,132) Less: Translation of foreign currency loss  (8,521)        -

       - 46,442 Carrying value of investments at 31 December 17,880        -

 The Bank’s share of the total recognised losses of associate are reflected on the basis of reviewed results of SPCB for the period 1 January 2008 to 30 

September 2008. The financial statements of SPCB for the quarter ended 31 December 2008 were not available at the time of the preparation of these 

financial statements.
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10 Investments in Associates (Continued)

 10.3  Investment in Saudi Pak Commercial Bank Limited (SPCB)

 The investment was tested for impairment in December 2008 as there was objective evidence of impairment. The Bank appointed an independent 

accounting firm to perform valuation of SPCB in order to assess the impairment loss. The Bank calculated the amount of impairment as the difference 

between its share of net assets as per the valuation and the carrying amount of the investment and recognised the amount in the income statement. 

The valuation was based on 30 September 2008 financial statement of SPCB and projected financial statements. The impairment loss calculated based 

on the valuation includes share of loss for the period 1 October 2008 to 31 December 2008.   

 The financial statements of SPCB are prepared as per International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 10.4  Investment in Mangal Keshav Holdings Limited, India (MKHL)

 In April 2007, the Bank acquired 10,918,584 shares representing 42.96% of the issued and paid up share capital of MKHL. These shares were 

issued and allotted to the Bank on 16 April 2007 by MKHL.  MKHL is a public limited company incorporated in India dealing in investment related 

activities. 

 As at 31 December 2008, the Bank held 42.96% shareholding in MKHL. The carrying value of the investment in MKHL as on 31 December 2008 was 

as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

- 27,909 Carrying value of investments at 1 January 10,745 -

24,278 - Total consideration paid - 9,347

1,467 1,855 Add: share of profit for the period 1 October   2007 to 

30 September 2008 (16 April 2007 to 30 September 2007)

714 565

  2,164 (5,466) Less/add: Translation of foreign currency (loss)/profit (2,104)      833

27,909 24,298 Carrying value of investments at 31 December 9,355 10,745

 The carrying value of investments as reflected above includes an amount of RO 2.228 million on account of goodwill related to acquisition.

 The Bank’s share of the total recognised gains and losses of associate are reflected on the basis of reviewed results of MKHL for the period ended 30 

September 2008. The financial statements of MKHL for the quarter ended 31 December 2008 were not available at the time of the preparation of these 

financial statements.

 The financial statements of MKHL are prepared as per generally accepted accounting practices prevailing in India (Indian GAAP). The Management 

of the Bank believe that it is not practicable to restate the financial statements of MKHL in order to reflect the position as per International Financial 

Reporting Standards, as MKHL does not operate under similar circumstances and management considers the impact not to be material to the Bank.
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11 Property and Equipment

Freehold land 
and buildings

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2008 8,792 44,524 755 54,071

Additions during the year - 8,365 238 8,603

Disposals - (13) (91) (104)

Transfer  (764)      764      -           -

At 31 December 2008 8,028 53,640 902 62,570

Depreciation

At 1 January 2008 3,512 31,120 349 34,981

Charge for the year 718 4,883 136 5,737

Relating to disposals - (9) (87) (96)

Transfer  (701)      701      -           -

At 31 December 2008 3,529 36,695 398 40,622

Net book amount

 At 31 December 2008 4,499 16,945 504 21,948

At 31 December 2008 (US$ ’000) 11,686 44,013 1,309 57,008

Freehold land 
and buildings

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor
vehicles Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2007 6,050 35,800 553 42,403

Additions during the year - 8,762 249 9,011

Disposals - (38) (47) (85)

Surplus on revaluation 2,742          -       -   2,742

At 31 December 2007 8,792 44,524 755 54,071

Depreciation

At 1 January 2007 3,273 27,411 281 30,965

Charge for the year 239 3,742 105 4,086

Relating to disposals         -      (33) (37)      (70)

At 31 December 2007 3,512 31,120 349 34,981

Net book amount

 At 31 December 2007 5,280 13,404 406 19,090

At 31 December 2007 (US$ ’000) 13,714 34,815 1,055 49,584
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11 Property and Equipment (Continued)

 The land and buildings owned by the Bank were revalued during the year 2007 by independent professional valuers on an open market basis.  The 

gross carrying amount of the land and buildings was restated so that the net carrying amount of the asset after its revaluation equals its revalued 

amount; surplus on revaluation was credited to revaluation reserve.

 If freehold land and buildings had been carried at cost less depreciation, the carrying amount would have been RO 1,244,063 (2007 - RO 

1,350,440).

12 Deposits from Banks

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

1,513,018 1,919,236 Inter-bank borrowings 738,906 582,512

159,673 1,191,294 Vostro balances 458,648 61,474

     50,000    558,498 Other money market deposits    215,022   19,250

1,722,691 3,669,028 1,412,576 663,236

13 Customers’ Deposits

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

2,195,075 3,977,047 Deposit accounts 1,531,163 845,104

1,700,457 1,994,530 Savings accounts 767,894 654,676

1,558,475 1,729,435 Current accounts 665,833 600,013

548,468 505,704 Call accounts 194,696 211,160

     28,925      34,925 Margin accounts      13,446      11,136

6,031,400 8,241,641 3,173,032 2,322,089

 Deposits from the private sector constitute 73% of total customers’ deposits (2007 - 79%). The remaining 27% of the total customer deposits (2007 

- 21%) is received from Ministries and other Government organisations.

14 Certificates of Deposit

 During the year the bank  issued certificates of deposit of RO 50.1 million and RO 2.7 million of certificates of deposits matured. The certificates of 

deposits issued by the Bank are unsecured and are denominated in Rial Omani and US Dollars.  The maturity profile and interest rate of certificates of 

deposit are disclosed in notes 40.3.2 and 40.4.4 respectively.  

15 Unsecured Bonds

 Unsecured bonds are non-convertible, unsecured and listed on the Muscat Securities Market. The bonds have a maturity of 10 years. The maturity 

profile and interest rate of unsecured bonds are disclosed in notes 40.3.2 and 40.4.4 respectively.
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16 Floating rate Notes

 Floating rate notes are issued by the Bank under its Euro Medium Term Note Programme and are denominated in US Dollars. The notes carry a floating 

interest rate. These are non-convertible and unsecured listed on Luxemburg stock exchange. The maturity profile and interest rates of floating rate 

notes are disclosed in notes 40.3.2 and 40.4.4 respectively.

17 Other Liabilities

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

317,953 310,940 Negative fair value of derivatives (note 36) 119,712 122,412

115,997 200,891 Acceptances 77,343 44,659

105,748 80,197 Accrued interest 30,876 40,713

12,494 7,530 Unearned discount and interest 2,899 4,810

5,005 6,323 Employee terminal benefits 2,434 1,927

278 - Deferred tax liability (note 18) - 107

209,070 329,542 Other liabilities and accrued expenses 126,874   80,492

766,545 935,423 360,138 295,120

 The charge for the year and amounts paid in respect of employee terminal benefits were RO 814,303 (2007 - RO 445,957) and RO 306,687 (2007 - RO 

184,046), respectively.

18 Taxation

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

Current liability:

34,202 44,603 Current year 17,172 13,168

19,011 23,220 Prior years   8,940   7,319

53,213 67,823 26,112 20,487

Income Statement

34,202 44,603 Current year 17,172 13,168

   733 (6,473) Deferred tax liability relating to
temporary differences

 (2,492)     282

34,935 38,130 14,680 13,450

 (a) The tax rate applicable to the Bank is 12% (2007 - 12%). For the purpose of determining the tax expense for the year, the accounting profit has 

been adjusted for tax purposes.  Adjustments for tax purposes include items relating to both income and expense.  After giving effect to these 

adjustments, the average effective tax rate is estimated to be 13.54% (2007 - 13.77%).

  The difference between the applicable tax rate of 12% (2007 - 12%) and effective tax rate of 13.54% (2007 - 13.77%) arises due to tax effect of 

income not considered to be taxable and expenses not considered to be deductible.  The adjustments are based on the current understanding 

of the existing tax laws, regulations and practices.
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18 Taxation (Continued)

 (b) The reconciliation of taxation on the accounting profit before tax for the year at RO 108.4 million (2007 - RO 97.7 million) after the basic 

exemption limit of RO 30,000 and the taxation charge in the financial statements is as follows:

2008 2007

RO’000 RO’000

 

 Tax charge at12% on accounting profit before tax 13,009 11,724

 Add/(less) tax effect of:

 Income not taxable  (1,075)      (879)

 Expenses not deductible or deferred 2,853 2,431

 Deferred tax in respect of prior years     (107)      174

 Tax charge as per income statement 14,680 13,450

 (c)  The deferred tax asset / liability has been recognised at the effective tax rate of 12%.

  Deferred tax asset/(liability) in the balance sheet and the deferred tax credit/(charge) in the income statement relate to the tax effect of 

provisions. 

Charged/ 
(Credited) to 

1 January
 2008

income 
statement

31 December 
2008

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Asset

Tax effect of provisions 122 2,595 2,717

Liability

Undistributed profits of associates (353) (187) (540)

Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation 124      84    208

(107) 2,492 2,385

Charged/ 
(Credited) to 

1 January
 2007

income 
statement

31 December 
2007

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Asset

Tax effect of provisions 209 (87) 122

Liability

Undistributed profits of associates (118) (235) (353)

Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation    84   40 124

 175 (282) (107)
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18 Taxation (Continued)

 The Bank’s tax assessments have been completed by the tax authorities up to tax year 2002.

 In respect of the assessments of tax years 1999 to 2001, the tax department had made certain adjustments which were not acceptable to the Bank.  The 

Bank has filed an appeal against certain adjustments made in the assessments.  The decision on the appeal is pending.

 The assessments of the former banks that have merged with the Bank except Commercial Bank of Oman are completed.

 The Bank has filed a suit with the Appellate Court against certain adjustments made in the assessment of Commercial Bank of Oman for tax years 1998 

to 2000.  The decision on the suit is pending.

19 Subordinated Liabilities

 In accordance with the Central Bank of Oman’s regulations, subordinated loans are included in the calculation of supplementary capital as defined by 

the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) for capital adequacy purposes. During the year the Bank obtained Tier III capital of RO 5 million. The Bank 

has subordinated liabilities as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

181,818 194,805 Fixed rate Rial Omani subordinated loans 75,000 70,000

100,000 100,000 Floating rate US$ subordinated loans   38,500   38,500

281,818 294,805 113,500 108,500

 Subordinated loan is repayable at par on maturity. The maturity profile and interest rate of subordinated liabilities are disclosed in notes 40.3.2 and 

40.4.4 respectively.

20 Share Capital

 Share capital

 The authorised share capital of the Bank is 1,250,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each (2007 - 1,250,000,000 of RO 0.100 each). At 31 December 2008, 

1,077,133,715 shares of RO 0.100 each (2007 - 1,077,133,715 shares of RO 0.100 each) have been issued and fully paid.

 Issue of ordinary shares

 During November 2007, the Bank issued 161,570,000 ordinary shares at RO 1.475 per share in the form of a private placement to Dubai Financial 

Group, a financial institution registered in Dubai, United Arab Enirates. The transaction closed and ordinary shares were allotted on 19 November 

2007. The nominal value of each ordinary share is RO 0.100 and the share premium on each ordinary share amounted to RO 1.375. The Bank received 

a total amount of RO 238.3 million from the issue of shares including a total premium of RO 222.16 million. After adjusting the issue expenses of RO 

0.14 million an amount of RO 222.02 million was credited to share premium account.
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20 Share Capital (Continued)

 Significant shareholders

 The following shareholders held 10% or more of the Bank’s capital, either individually or together with their family members:

2008 2007

No. of shares % holding No. of shares % holding

Royal Court Affairs 267,537,721 24.84 183,639,500 17.05

Dubai Financial Group 161,570,000 15.00 161,570,000 15.00

21 Legal and General Reserves

 (i) In accordance with the Omani Commercial Companies Law of 1974, the Bank is required to transfer 10% of its profit for the year to legal 

reserve until the accumulated balance of the reserve equals one third of the Bank’s paid up share capital. The Bank’s legal reserves fully meet 

the requirement of one third of the share capital and hence no transfer made from profits to legal reserve during the year 2008. During the year 

2007, the Bank transferred RO 8.16 million to legal reserves from the profits. The reserve is not available for distribution.

 (ii)  The general reserve is established to support the operations and the capital structure of the Bank.

22 Subordinated Loan Reserve

 Consistent with the BIS guidelines on capital adequacy, the Bank transferred to reserves RO 21.63 million during the year 2008 representing 20% 

amortisation of the Tier II subordinated loans maturing within the next five years and 50% of the Tier III subordinated loans maturing within next 2 

years.

 During the year 2007, the Bank transferred RO 2.56 million representing 20% amortisation of the subordinated loans maturing within the next five 

years.

23 Proposed Dividends 

 The Board of Directors have proposed a dividend of 50%, 20% in the form of cash and 30% in the form of mandatory-convertible bonds. Thus 

shareholders would receive cash dividend of RO 0.020 per ordinary share of RO 0.100 each aggregating to RO 21.54 million on Bank’s existing share 

capital. In addition, they would receive  mandatory-convertible bonds in lieu of dividend of RO 0.030 per ordinary share of RO 0.100 each aggregating 

to RO 32.31 million. The mandatory-convertible bonds will carry a coupon rate of 7% per annum. On maturity, the bonds will be converted to ordinary 

shares of the Bank by using a “conversion price” which will be calculated by applying 20% discount to 3 month average share price of the Bank on 

the Muscat Securities Market prior to the conversion. Fifty percent of the bond amount will mature after a period of 3 years and the remaining after a 

period of 5 years from the date of issuance. The bonds will be listed on the Muscat Securities Market. 

 The proposed cash dividend and issuance of mandatory-convertible bonds are subject to formal approval of the Annual General Meeting of the 

shareholders and regulatory authorities.

 During 2007, dividends of RO 0.050 per ordinary share of RO 0.100 each, aggregating to RO 53.86 million were declared and paid following approval 

at the Annual General Meeting on 24 March 2008.
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24 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments 

 24.1  Contingent liabilities

 Other off-balance sheet financial instruments

 Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest payments based on a specific notional amount. For interest rate swaps, 

counter parties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on a notional value in a single currency. Refer to the note 36. 

 (a) As of the balance sheet date, commitments on behalf of customers, for which there were corresponding customer liabilities, consisted of the 

following:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

1,417,195 1,552,922 Guarantees    597,875    545,620

1,221,345 1,171,696 Letters of credit    451,103    470,218

2,638,540 2,724,618 1,048,978 1,015,838

 24.2  Commitments

 Legal proceedings

 There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Bank at 31 December 2008. No provision has been made, as professional advice 

indicates that it is unlikely that any significant loss will arise.

 Credit related commitments

 Credit related commitments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees which are designed to meet the requirements 

of the Bank’s customers.

 Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have fixed expiration 

dates or other termination clauses and require the payment of a fee. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract 

amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

 Standby letters of credit and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers contingent upon the failure of the customer to 

perform under the terms of the contract. 

 (b)   As of the balance sheet date, capital commitments were as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

6,543 3,234 Purchase of property and equipment 1,245 2,519

 (c) Irrevocable commitments to extend credit at the balance sheet date amounted to RO 305,415,000 (2007 - RO 405,152,000).

 (d) As of the balance sheet date, the Bank has not pledged any of its assets as security (2007 - no assets pledged).

 (e) As of the balance sheet date, the amount payable on partly paid shares held by the Bank was RO 10,739,103 (2007 - RO 10,149,971).

 (f)  The Bank has entered into a lease agreement with a third party (a quasi government entity) to lease a purpose built head office, being constructed 

for the Bank’s use, at an estimated cost of RO 36 million, by the third party. The lease is for a period of 50 years. The lease rental will be payable 

from the date of occupation of the new premises, which has been scheduled for early 2010.
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24 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments 

 24.3 Concentration of contingent liabilities and commitments

 The table below analyses the concentration of contingent liabilities and commitments by economic sector:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

27,500         37,683 Agriculture and allied activities 14,508 10,588

480,430      573,356 Construction 220,742 184,965

4,177           6,439 Export Trade 2,479 1,608

431,283      486,008 Financial Institutions 187,113 166,044

587,646      393,784 Government 151,607 226,244

283,910      266,512 Import trade 102,607 109,305

260,475      195,384 Manufacturing 75,223 100,283

22,724         84,857 Mining and quarrying 32,670 8,749

14,194         35,197 Personal loans 13,551 5,465

11,725         38,990 Real estate 15,011 4,514

204,861      252,423 Services 97,183 78,872

20,466         19,249 Transport and communication 7,411 7,879

46,721         33,779 Utilities 13,005 17,988

65,957      116,499 Wholesale and retail trade 44,852 25,393

   176,471    184,458 Others      71,016      67,941

2,638,540 2,724,618 1,048,978 1,015,838

25 Net Assets per Share

 The calculation of net assets per share is based on net assets as at 31 December 2008 attributable to ordinary shareholders of RO 714.75 million 

(2007 - RO 627.57 million) and on 1,077,133,715 ordinary shares (2007 - 1,077,133,715 ordinary shares) being the number of shares outstanding 

as at 31 December 2008. 

26 Recoveries/(provision) for collateral pending Sale and Acquired Assets

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

312 34 Recoveries from provision for acquired assets 13 120

(34)    - Provisions for collateral pending sale    - (13)

278 34 13 107
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27 Interest Income

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

453,429 588,712 Interest income on loans and advances 226,654 174,570

83,100 80,296 Interest income on bank placements 30,914 31,994

  30,411   15,311 Interest income on investments    5,895   11,708

566,940 684,319 263,463 218,272

 Effective annual rate on yielding assets are provided in note 40.4.4

28 Interest Expense

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

145,679 138,047 Interest expense on customers deposits 53,148 56,086

52,392 83,569 Interest expense on bank borrowings 32,174 20,171

  15,096   17,741 Interest expense on subordinated liabilities     6,830   5,812

2,882 3,161 Interest expense on certificates of deposits 1,217 1,110

9,021 9,384 Interest expense on unsecured bonds 3,613 3,473

  17,657  11,361 Interest expense on floating rate notes     4,374   6,798

242,727 263,263 101,356 93,450

 Effective annual rate on interest bearing liabilities are provided in note 40.4.4

29 Commission and Fees Income (net)

 The commission and fee income shown in income statement is net of commission and fees paid of RO 764,195 (2007 - RO 229,023).

30 Other Operating Income

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

4,247 19,602 Profit on sale of non trading investments 7,547 1,635

16,377 18,042 Foreign exchange 6,946 6,305

2,223 6,719 Dividend income 2,587 856

  4,426   7,240 Other income   2,787   1,704

27,273 51,603 19,867 10,500
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31 Other Operating Expenses

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

64,761 79,655 Employees’ salaries 30,667 24,933

 54,779   62,480 Administrative expenses 24,055 21,090

37,166 41,543 Other staff costs 15,994 14,309

10,917 14,070 Occupancy costs 5,417 4,203

2,829 3,434 Contribution to Social Insurance schemes 1,322 1,089

1,294 2,379 Employees’ end of service benefits 916 498

      306       301 Directors’ remuneration (note 34)      116      118

172,052 203,862 78,487 66,240

32 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

947,395 1,827,974 Placements with banks 703,770 364,748

1,261,774 1,170,473 Cash and balances with Central Banks 450,632 485,783

- 367,096 Treasury bills 141,332 -

(1,356,761) (2,299,608) Deposits from banks (885,349) (522,352)

   852,408 1,065,935 410,385 328,179

33 Earnings per Share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. 

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Bank issued 83,233,065 bonus shares of RO 0.100 each  to the existing shareholders. 

2008 2007

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for basic earnings per share (RO’000) 93,731 84,257

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (in ‘000) 1,077,134 933,713

Basic earnings per share (RO)            0.087 0.090

Basic earnings per share (US$ )            0.226 0.234

 Diluted earnings per share is not different from basic earnings per share as the Bank has not issued any instrument, which would have an impact on 

earnings per share when exercised.
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34 Related party transactions

 In the ordinary course of business, the Bank conducts transactions with certain of its directors, shareholders, senior management and companies in 

which they have a significant interest.  The terms of these transactions are approved by the Bank’s Board and Management. As of the balance sheet 

date balances and transactions with directors and their related concerns during the year were as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

Loans and advances

132,525 145,171 1 January 55,891 51,022

33,979 51,395 Disbursed during the year 19,787 13,082

(21,333) (39,725) Repaid during the year (15,294) (8,213)

145,171 156,842 31 December 60,384 55,891

Current, deposit and other accounts

92,950 92,797 1 January 35,727 35,786

55,055 12,187 Received during the year 4,692 21,196

(55,208) (43,255) Repaid during the year (16,653) (21,255)

92,797 61,729 31 December 23,766 35,727

23,756 9,940
Customers’ liabilities under documentary credits, guarantees 
and other liabilities 3,827 9,146

 Loans, advances or receivables due from related parties or holders of 10% or more of the Bank’s shares, or their family members, less all provisions 

and write-offs, is further analysed as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

19,405 - Royal Court Affairs - 7,471

- 28,190 Dubai Financial Group 10,853 -

122,262 122,553 Sheikh Mustahil Ahmed Al Mashani and Group Companies 47,183 47,071

    3,504     6,099 Others   2,348   1,349

145,171 156,842 60,384 55,891

 The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the financial statements are as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

5,709 4,758 Interest income 1,832 2,198

1,819 3,704 Interest expense 1,426 700

195 114 Commission and other income 44 75

306 301 Directors’ remuneration (note 31) 116 118

213 218 Directors’ sitting fee 84 82
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34 Related party Transactions (Continued)

 Interest expense incurred on deposits:

 Items of expense which were paid to related parties or holders of 10% or more of the Bank’s shares, or their family members, during the year can be 

further analysed as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

3 56 Royal Court Affairs 22 1

1,754 3,562 Sheikh Mustahil Ahmed Al Mashani and Group Companies 1,371 675

    62       86 Others      33   24

1,819 3,704 1,426 700

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 Key management compensation RO’000 RO’000

7,107 7,535 Salaries and other short-term benefits 2,901 2,736

  537    616 Post-employment benefits    237   207

7,644 8,151 3,138 2,943

35 Fiduciary Activities

 The Bank’s fiduciary activities consist of investment management activities conducted as trustee and manager for a number of investment funds and 

individuals.  The aggregate amounts of funds managed, which are not included in the Bank’s balance sheet, are as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

212,660 450,494 Funds under management 173,440 81,874

36 Derivatives 

 In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial instruments. A derivative 

financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payments are dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying 

financial instrument, reference rate or index. These derivatives are stated at fair value.  The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised 

gain or loss from marking to market the derivative using prevailing market rates or internal pricing models.  Unrealised gains or losses are included 

in the income statement. The Bank uses the following derivative financial instruments:

 Derivative product types

 Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial instrument at a specific price and 

date in the future.  Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market.  Forward rate agreements are effectively tailor-made 

interest rate futures which fix a forward rate of interest on a notional loan, for an agreed period of time starting on a specified future date.

 Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest differentials based on a specific notional amount.  Counter 

parties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on a notional value in a single currency. 
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36 Derivatives (Continued)

 Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell a specific amount of a commodity, foreign 

currency or financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a specified period.  The Bank transacts only in 

currency options for its customers. The Bank does not engage in writing of options.

 Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes

 As part of its asset and liability management, the Bank uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its exposure to currency and interest 

rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments and forecasted transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall balance 

sheet exposures.  

 The Bank uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks.  In 

addition, the Bank uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the changes in the cash flow arising from certain fixed interest rate loans and deposits. 

 For interest rate risks strategic hedging is carried out by monitoring the repricing of financial assets and liabilities and entering into interest rate swaps 

to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure.  As strategic hedging does not qualify for special hedge accounting, the related derivatives are 

accounted for as trading instruments. 

 The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to the market values, together with 

the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity.  The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index 

and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured.  

31 December 2008 Notional amounts by term to maturity

Positive
fair

value

Negative
fair

value

Notional 
amount

total
Within 

3  months
3 - 12

 months
More than

1 year
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000  RO’000 RO’000

(Note 8) (Note 17)

Derivatives held for trading

Interest rate swaps 49,696 49,696 751,517 -        2,204 749,313

Forward purchase contracts 77,849 - 2,926,581 2,033,359    893,222 -

Forward  sales contracts - 53,872 2,903,090 2,037,237    865,853 -

Commodities purchase - 8,849 35,787 28,420       7,367 -

Commodities sales contracts 8,910 - 35,849 28,470       7,379 -

Interest cap 109 109 42,511 -               - 42,511

Cross currency swap - 5,238 92,325 -               - 92,325

Credit derivative swaps          22     1,948      61,600      34,650                -   26,950

136,586 119,712 6,849,260 4,162,136 1,776,025 911,099

US$ (000) 354,769 310,940 17,790,283 10,810,743 4,613,049 2,366,491
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36 Derivatives (Continued)

31 December 2007 Notional amounts by term to maturity

Positive
fair

value

Negative
fair

value

Notional 
amount

total
Within 3  
months

3 - 12
 months

More than
1 year

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

(Note 8) (Note 17)

Derivatives held for trading

Interest rate swaps 106,220 106,230 448,639 472 38,292 409,875

Forward purchase contracts 16,286 - 2,213,509 1,182,911 817,886 212,712

Forward   sales contracts - 15,327 2,213,797 1,182,352 779,761 251,684

Interest cap 579 579 115,166 400 - 114,766

Credit default swaps            -        276        7,700               -               -     7,700

123,085 122,412 4,998,811 2,366,135 1,635,939 996,737

US$ (000) 319,701 317,953 12,983,935 6,145,805 4,249,192 2,588,927

 Options 

 As of the balance sheet date, there were outstanding currency options entered on behalf of customers, all maturing within one year as summarised 

below:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

320,746 70,358 Sales 27,088 123,487

320,746 70,358 Purchases 27,088 123,487

 The terms of the currency options entered on behalf of customers have been negotiated with the counter party banks to match the terms of commitments.  

The aggregate fair value of the respective rights and obligations in respect of the currency options at 31 December 2008 was not significant and has 

not been recorded in the financial statements (2007 - not significant and not recorded). 

37 Repurchase Agreements

 The Bank did not have any repurchase transactions outstanding as of the balance sheet date (2007 - RO nil).
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38 Geographical Distribution of Assets and Liabilities

 The geographical distribution of assets and liabilities was as follows:

Sultanate of 
Oman

Other GCC 
countries Europe

United States 
of America Others Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

31 December 2008

Cash and balances with Central Banks 445,013 7,748 - - - 452,761

Placements with banks 20,315 569,213 164,872 28,543 294,614 1,077,557

Loans and advances 3,468,408 245,954 - - 13,338 3,727,700

Investments 124,190 118,038 3,548 102,917 122,856 471,549

Property, equipment and other assets   293,727    4,942             -             -             -    298,669

Total assets 4,351,653 945,895 168,420 131,460 430,808 6,028,236

Deposits from banks 26,355 247,734 256,853 4,910 876,724 1,412,576

Customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit 3,214,770 15,186 3,134 1,310 307 3,234,707

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 54,803 - 111,650 - - 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation 383,230 3,020 - - - 386,250

Subordinated liabilities 75,000 - - 38,500 - 113,500

Shareholders’ funds 714,750             -             -            -              -      714,750

Total liabilities and equity 4,468,908 265,940 371,637 44,720 877,031 6,028,236

Sultanate of 
Oman

Other GCC 
countries Europe

United States 
of America Others Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

31 December 2007

Cash and balances with   Central Banks 485,002 2,910 - - - 487,912

Placements with banks 40,557 186,173 186,621 5,227 169,224 587,802

Loans and advances 2,531,438 106,651 39,869 - 8,905 2,686,863

Investments 98,642 72,378 1,830 6,817 38,431 218,098

Property, equipment and    other assets    233,457     3,593             -          -             -    237,050

Total assets 3,389,096 371,705 228,320 12,044 216,560 4,217,725

Deposits from banks 8,916 161,572 63,108 - 429,640 663,236

Customers’ deposits and

certificates of deposit 2,268,582 60,608 3,165 3,687 317 2,336,359

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 54,803 - 111,650 - - 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation 314,532 1,075 - - - 315,607

Subordinated liabilities 70,000 - - 38,500 - 108,500

Shareholders’ funds     627,570              -              -            -             -     627,570

Total liabilities and equity 3,344,403 223,255 177,923 42,187 429,957 4,217,725
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38 Geographical distribution of Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

Sultanate of 
Oman

Other GCC 
countries Europe

United States 
of America Others Total

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

31 December 2008

Cash and balances with Central Banks 1,155,878 20,125 - - - 1,176,003

Placements with banks 52,767 1,478,475 428,239 74,138 765,231 2,798,850

Loans and advances 9,008,852 638,842 - - 34,643 9,682,337

Investments 322,571 306,592 9,216 267,317 319,106 1,224,802

Property, equipment and other assets     762,927      12,837             -              -                 -      775,764

Total assets 11,302,995 2,456,871 437,455 341,455 1,118,980 15,657,756

Deposits from banks 68,454 643,465 667,152 12,753 2,277,204 3,669,028

Customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit 8,350,051 39,445 8,141 3,402 797 8,401,836

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 142,345 - 290,000 - - 432,345

Other liabilities and taxation 995,402 7,844 - - - 1,003,246

Subordinated liabilities 194,805 - - 100,000 - 294,805

Shareholders’ funds  1,856,496              -              -              -                  -   1,856,496

Total liabilities and equity 11,607,553 690,754 965,293 116,155 2,278,001 15,657,756

Sultanate of 
Oman

Other GCC 
countries Europe

United States 
of America Others Total

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

31 December 2007

Cash and balances with Central Banks 1,259,746 7,558 - - - 1,267,304

Placements with banks 105,342 483,566 484,730 13,577 439,543 1,526,758

Loans and advances 6,575,163 277,016 103,556 - 23,130 6,978,865

Investments 256,213 187,995 4,753 17,706 99,821 566,488

Property, equipment and other assets    606,383     9,332             -           -             -     615,715

Total assets 8,802,847 965,467 593,039 31,283 562,494 10,955,130

Deposits from banks 23,158 419,668 163,917 - 1,115,948 1,722,691

Customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit 5,892,421 157,423 8,221 9,577 823 6,068,465

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 142,345 - 290,000 - - 432,345

Other liabilities and taxation 816,966 2,792 - - - 819,758

Subordinated liabilities 181,818 - - 100,000 - 281,818

Shareholders’ funds 1,630,053              -              -              -                 -  1,630,053

Total liabilities and equity 8,686,761 579,883 462,138 109,577 1,116,771 10,955,130
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39 Segmental Information

 For management purposes, the Bank reports its primary segment information of its operations by the following geographical locations:

 (i)  Oman (ii)   International

 Segment information in respect of geographical locations is as follows:

 For the year ended 31 December 2008

Total International Oman Oman International Total

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Segment revenue

684,319 17,864 666,455 Interest income 256,585 6,878 263,463

(263,263) (9,917) (253,346) Interest expense (97,538) (3,818) (101,356)

142,408 4,234 138,174 Commission and fees income (net) 53,197 1,630 54,827

  51,603      263   51,340 Other operating income   19,766    101   19,867

615,067 12,444 602,623 Operating income 232,010 4,791 236,801

Segment costs

(203,862) (10,587) (193,275) Other operating expenses (74,411) (4,076) (78,487)

(14,900) (1,665) (13,235) Depreciation (5,096) (641) (5,737)

(63,961) (75) (63,886) Impairment for credit losses (24,596) (29) (24,625)

(28,387) - (28,387) Impairment for investments (10,929) - (10,929)

(12,501) - (12,501) Impairment for placements (4,813) - (4,813)

(35,714) (35,714) - Impairment for associates - (13,750) (13,750)

32,735 - 32,735 Recoveries from impairment for credit losses 12,603 - 12,603

34 - 34 Recoveries (provision) for collateral pending 
sale and acquired assets

13 - 13

1,514 - 1,514 Recoveries from provision for investments 583 - 583

(8,436) (8,436) - Share of losses from associates - (3,248) (3,248)

 (38,130)       (81)  (38,049) Tax expense  (14,649)        (31)  (14,680)

(371,608) (56,558) (315,050) (121,295) (21,775) (143,070)

243,459 (44,114) 287,573 Segment net profit/(loss) for the year 110,715 (16,984) 93,731

Other information

15,657,756 1,041,805 14,615,951 Segment assets and liabilities 5,627,141 401,095 6,028,236

22,343 441 21,902 Segment capital expenses 8,433 170 8,603
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39 Segmental Information (Continued)

 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Total International Oman Oman International Total

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Segment revenue

566,940 2,683 564,257 Interest income 217,239 1,033 218,272

(242,727) (1,592) (241,135) Interest expense (92,837) (613) (93,450)

97,680 488 97,192 Fees and Commission income (net) 37,419 188 37,607

  27,273      98   27,075 Other operating income   10,424   76   10,500

449,166 1,777 447,389 Operating income 172,245 684 172,929

Segment costs

(172,052) (6,311) (165,741) Other operating expenses (63,810) (2,430) (66,240)

(10,613) (696) (9,917) Depreciation (3,818) (268) (4,086)

(47,171) - (47,171) Impairment for credit losses (18,161) - (18,161)

19,894 - 19,894 Recoveries from impairment for credit losses 7,659 - 7,659

278 - 278
Recoveries (provision) for collateral pending 
sale and acquired assets 107 - 107

14,283 14,283 - Share of profit from associates - 5,499 5,499

(34,935)         - (34,935) Tax expense (13,450)        - (13,450)

(230,316) 7,276 (237,592) (91,473) 2,801 (88,672)

218,850 9,053 209,797 Segment net profit for the year 80,772 3,485 84,257

Other information

10,955,130 407,600 10,547,530 Segment assets and liabilities 4,060,799 156,926 4,217,725

23,405 8,340 15,065 Segment capital expenses 5,800 3,211 9,011

Although its primary reporting basis is on geographical segments, the Bank reports its secondary segment information by the following business 

segments:

(i) Corporate banking 

(ii) Consumer banking 

(iii) Wholesale banking

(iv) International
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39 Segmental Information (Continued)

 The following table shows the distribution of the Bank’s operating income, net profit and total assets by business segments:

 For the year ended 31 December 2008

Corporate 
banking

Consumer 
banking

Wholesale 
banking International Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Operating income 62,439 116,636 52,718 5,008 236,801

Net profit for the year 38,244 49,604 24,633 (18,750) 93,731

Segment assets 2,139,049 1,871,939 1,616,153 401,095 6,028,236

Operating income (US$ ’000) 162,177 302,952 136,930 13,008 615,067

Net profit after tax (US$ ’000) 99,336 128,841 63,984 (48,702) 243,459

Segment assets (US$ ’000) 5,555,970 4,862,180 4,197,800 1,041,806 15,657,756

 

 For the year ended 31 December 2007

Corporate
banking

Consumer 
banking

Wholesale 
banking International Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Operating income 50,651 84,776 36,444 1,058 172,929

Net profit for the year 27,661 29,865 24,598 2,133 84,257

Segment assets 1,416,948 1,186,728 1,457,123 156,926 4,217,725

Operating income (US$ ’000) 131,561 220,197 94,660 2,748 449,166

Net profit after tax (US$ ’000) 71,847 77,571 63,891 5,541 218,850

Segment assets (US$ ’000) 3,680,384 3,082,410 3,784,736 407,600 10,955,130

40 Financial Risk Management

 40.1  Introduction and overview 

 Risk Management is the process by which the Bank identifies key risks, obtains consistent, understandable risk measures and chooses which risks to 

reduce and which to increase and by what means and establishes procedures to monitor the resulting risk position. The objective of risk management 

is to ensure that the Bank operates within the risk levels set by the Bank’s Board of Directors while the various business functions pursue their objective 

of maximizing the risk adjusted returns. The Bank has exposure to the following core risks from its use of financial instruments:

Credit risk•	

Liquidity risk•	

Market risk•	

Operational risk•	
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 Risk management is the overall responsibility of the Bank’s Board of Directors and is managed by the Board Credit and Risk Committee (BCRC). But, 

for the purpose of day-to-day management of risks, the Bank has created an independent Risk Management department. Risk Management department 

objectively reviews and ensures that the various functions of the Bank operate in compliance with the risk parameters as set by the Board of Directors. 

Risk Management function has a ‘dotted’ reporting line to the Board of Directors and, being a control function, has a reporting line independent of 

business lines.

 The risk appetite of the Bank in various business areas is defined and communicated through an enterprise-wide risk policy. The Bank’s risk policy, 

approved by its Board of Directors, analyses and sets risk limits for core risks - Credit risk, Liquidity risk, Market risk and Operational risk. The risk 

levels of each of these categories is measured and monitored on a continuous basis and compliance to prescribed risk levels reported to Board of 

Directors on a quarterly basis. It ensures prudent management of the risks assumed by the Bank in its normal course of business. The risk policy is 

updated regularly, based on an analysis of the economic trends and the operating environment in the countries where the Bank operates. 

 40.2  Credit risk

 40.2.1  Management of credit risk

 Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counter party to honour its financial or contractual obligations in accordance 

with the agreed terms. The function of credit risk management is to maximise the Bank’s risk-adjusted rate of return by maintaining credit risk exposure 

within acceptable parameters. Credit risk makes up the largest part of the Bank’s risk exposure. Credit Risk Management process of the Bank begins 

with the risk policy, updated regularly, which clearly defines parameters for each type of risks assumed by the Bank. 

 The Bank has set for itself clear and well defined limits to address different dimensions of credit risk including concentration risk. Compliance with 

the various parameters set in the risk policy is reviewed on a quarterly basis and variances from the norms are reported to the Board of Directors and 

Management for their appropriate action.

 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

 The Bank addresses credit risk through the following process:

All credit processes – Approval, disbursal, administration, classification, recoveries and write-off – are governed by the Bank’s Credit manual •	

which is reviewed by Risk Management. The credit policy stipulates clear guidelines for each of these functions and the lending authority at 

various levels as stipulated in appropriate ‘Lending Authority Limits’.

All Corporate lending proposals, where the proposed credit limit for a borrower or related group exceeds a threshold, are submitted for approval/•	

renewal to the appropriate authority after an independent review by the Risk Management department whose comments are incorporated into 

the proposal.

All Corporate lending accounts are reviewed at least once a year. The consumer-lending portfolio including credit cards are reviewed on a •	

portfolio basis at least once a year.

Concentration of exposure to counterparties, geographies and sector are governed and monitored according to regulatory norms and limits •	

prescribed in the Bank’s risk policy.

The corporate borrowers are risk rated to provide support for credit decisions. The portfolio is analysed based on risk grades and risk grade •	

migration to focus on management of prevalent credit risk.

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk prevalent in credit exposures. Most common collateral taken is real •	

estate, residential and commercial, as applicable. Other collaterals such as lien over deposits, charge over traded securities, bank guarantees 

etc. are also taken. Corporate and personal guarantees are accepted as securities wherever considered as adequate security.
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.1  Management of credit risk (Continued)

 The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional approach consists in taking of security for funds 

advances, which is common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. 

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

•		 Mortgages	over	residential	properties;

•		 Charges	over	business	assets	such	as	premises,	inventory	and	accounts	receivable;

•		 Charges	over	financial	instruments	such	as	debt	securities	and	equities.

 Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, 

in order to minimise the credit loss, the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the 

relevant individual loans and advances. Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances, is determined by the nature of 

the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured. 

 All loans and advances of the Bank are regularly monitored to ensure compliance with the stipulated repayment terms. Those loans and advances are 

classified into one of the 5 risk classification categories: Standard, Special Mention, Substandard, Doubtful, and Loss – as stipulated by Central Bank 

of Oman regulations and guidelines. The responsibility for identifying problem accounts and classifying them rests with business line function.

 40.2.2  Exposure to credit risk - Balance sheet items

Loans and Advances Placements with banks Investment securities

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Individually impaired

Sub-Standard 4,596 4,897 - - - -

Doubtful 11,057 13,944 9,626 - 24,179 -

Loss 65,391 66,936         -          -   1,891 2,753

Gross amount 81,044 85,777 9,626 - 26,070 2,753

Allowance for impairment (58,365) (59,960) (4,813)          - (13,166) (2,753)

Carrying amount 22,679 25,817 4,813          - 12,904           -

Collectively impaired

Sub-Standard 11,821 3,217 - - - -

Doubtful 7,781 2,678 - - - -

Loss   7,071 2,530         -         -         -         -

Gross amount 26,673 8,425         -         -         -         -

Allowance for impairment (14,870) (8,425)          -          -          -          -

Carrying amount 11,803          -          -          -          -          -

Past due but not impaired

Standard 54,323 51,698          -          -          -          -

Carrying amount 54,323 51,698          -          -          -          -
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Financial Risk Management (Continued)

40.2.2 Exposure to credit risk - Balance sheet items (Continued)

Loans and Advances Placements with banks Investment securities

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Past due comprises:

1-30 days 22,377 29,099 - - - -

30-60 days 23,166 19,835 - - - -

60-90 days   8,780   2,764          -          -          -          -

54,323 51,698          -          -          -          -

Neither past due nor impaired

Standard 3,526,201 2,564,983 1,072,744 587,802 365,742 118,397

Special Mention    165,032      84,680                -             -             -            -

Gross amount 3,691,233 2,649,663 1,072,744 587,802 365,742 118,397

Allowance for impairment    (52,338)     (40,315)                -             -             -             -

Carrying amount 3,638,895 2,609,348 1,072,744 587,802 365,742 118,397

Total carrying amount 3,727,700 2,686,863 1,077,557 587,802 378,646 118,397

Carrying amount in US$ ’000 9,682,337 6,978,865 2,798,850 1,526,758 983,496 307,524

Total allowances for  impairment (125,574) (108,700) (4,813)             - (13,166) (2,753)

in US$ ’000 (326,166) (282,338) (12,501)             - (34,197) (7,151)

 Total impairment above includes impairment for off balance sheet exposures as well.

 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements for all on-balance sheet assets are based on net carrying amounts 

as reported in the balance sheet.

 The maximum credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items calculated as per Basel II guidelines are as follows:

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

603,806 883,590 Financial guarantees 340,182 232,465

 451,781 527,641 Other credit related liabilities 203,142 173,936

   552,535    424,538 Loan commitments 163,447 212,726

1,608,122 1,835,769 706,771 619,127

 The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure as of 31 December 2007 and 2008, without taking into account of any 

collateral held or other credit enhancements attached.

 Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk resulting from the Bank’s loan and advances 

portfolio based on the following:

Regular review of the loans and advances portfolio to identify any potential risk;•	

40 
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.2  Exposure to credit risk - Balance sheet items (Continued)

93% of the loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2007 - 95%);•	

Of the RO 2,358 million loans and advances assessed on an individual basis, less than 3.4% is impaired;•	

Personal and housing loans represent 39% of total loans and advances which are backed by salary assignment and/or by collaterals;•	

Well diversified loans and advances portfolio to avoid concentration risk in segment, sector, geographies and counterparty.•	

 40.2.3  Impaired loans and securities

 Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Bank determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and 

interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan and security agreements. Those loans are categorised either as Sub-standard, Doubtful or 

Loss in the internal credit risk system.

 40.2.4  Past due but not impaired loans

 Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on the 

basis of the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.

 40.2.5  Allowances for impairment

 The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main components 

of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. A collective loan loss allowance is established for 

groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified on loans subject to individual assessment 

for impairment. The Bank makes provision for bad and doubtful debts promptly when required in line with the conservative provisioning norms it has 

set for itself. 

 40.2.6  Write-off policy

 The Bank writes off a loan or security and any related allowances for impairment when the Bank determines that the loan or security is uncollectible. 

This determination is reached after considering factors such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s financial position such that 

the borrower can no longer pay the obligation or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure or legal measures 

to recover the dues. For smaller balance standardised loans, charge off decisions generally are based on a product specific past due status and 

borrower’s capacity to repay the loan. 

 Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of allowances for impairment) amounts of individually impaired assets by risk classification.

Loans and Advances to customers Loans and Advances to banks Investment securities

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2008

Sub-Standard 4,596 3,024 - - - -

Doubtful 11,057 6,550 9,626 4,813 24,179 12,904

Loss 65,391 13,105          -          -   1,891            -

Total amount 81,044 22,679 9,626 4,813 26,070 12,904

Total  in US$ ’000 210,504 58,906 25,003 12,501 67,714 33,517
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.6   Write-off policy (Continued)

Loans and Advances to customers Loans and Advances to banks Investment securities
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2007
Sub-Standard 4,897 3,289 - - - -
Doubtful 13,944 7,632 - - - -
Loss 66,936 14,896          -          - 2,753          -

Total amount 85,777 25,817          -          - 2,753          -

Total  in US$ ’000 222,797 67,055          -          - 7,151          -

 The Bank holds collateral against credit exposures to customers in the form of cash on deposits, bank guarantees, quoted securities, mortgage interest 

over property, other registered securities over assets and other guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the 

time of borrowing and are updated regularly. 

 40.2.7   Analysis of impairment and collaterals

 (a)  An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets is shown below:

Loans and Advances Loans and Advances

2007      2008 2008 2007
US$ ’000 US$ ’000    RO’000 RO’000

Against individually impaired

161,621 331,387 Property 127,584 62,224

11,023     1,106 Equities 426 4,244

    6,569   59,844 Others   23,040   2,529

179,213 392,337 151,050 68,997

            -             - Against collectively impaired             -             -

Against past due but not impaired

2,091 100,426 Property 38,664 805

- - Equities - -

6,200    5,036 Others  1,939 2,387

8,291 105,462 40,603 3,192

Against neither past due nor impaired

794,605 870,582 Property 335,174 305,923

688,423 665,984 Equities 256,404 265,043

   271,223    382,751 Others 147,359 104,421

1,754,251 1,919,317 738,937 675,387

1,941,755 2,417,116 Total 930,590 747,576
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.7  Analysis of impairment and collaterals (Continued)

(b)  Repossessed collateral

 The Bank obtains assets by taking possession of collateral held as security. The carrying value of collateral held for sale as at 31 December 2008 

is as follows:

         
Nature of assets  Carrying amount

2008 2007

RO’000 RO’000

Residential/commercial property 1,195 206

                                     US$ ’000 3,104 535

 Repossessed properties are sold as soon as practicable, with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness. Repossessed property is 

classified in the balance sheet within other assets.

 40.2.8  Credit rating analysis

  The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency designation at 31 December 2008, 

based on Moody’s ratings or their equivalent:

 31 December 2008

2008 2007

Banks with rating: RO’000 RO’000

Aaa to Aa3 215,510 48,450

A1 to A3 2,930 1,743

Baa1 to Baa3 94,111 3,870

Ba1 to Ba3 213 -

B1 to B3 194 194

Below B3 - -

Unrated     2,308   2,884

315,266 57,141

Equity 76,546 64,009

Total investment securities 391,812 121,150
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.8   Credit rating analysis (Continued)

 The following table shows the placements held with counterparties at the balance sheet date: 

Banks with rating: 2008 2007

RO’000 RO’000

Aaa to Aa3 277,795 75,952

A1 to A3 316,021 184,659

Baa1 to Baa3 176,883 38,048

Ba1 to Ba3 161,133 132,940

B1 to B3 6,826 22,010

Below B3 - -

Unrated    138,899 134,193

Total 1,077,557 587,802

 The Bank performs and independent assessment based on quantitative and qualitative factors where in case a bank is unrated.

 40.2.9   Concentration of credit risk

 Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same geographic 

region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be affected similarly by changes in economic, 

political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a 

particular industry or geographic location.

 The Bank seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of lending activities to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals 

or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses.  It also obtains appropriate security.

 Concentration by location for loans and advances is measured based on the location of the Bank holding the asset, which has a high co-relation with 

the location of the borrower. Concentration by location for investment securities is measured based on the location of the issuer of the security.

 An analysis of concentrations of credit risk as the reporting date is shown below.

Gross Loans and Advances 
to customers

Gross Loans and Advances to 
banks

Investment securities

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Carrying amount

Concentration by Sector

Corporate 2,101,884 1,434,809 - - 76,411 64,208

Sovereign 25,920 17,821 - - 215,052 48,450

Financial institution 230,176 213,285 1,082,370 587,802 100,349 8,492

Others 1,495,294 1,129,648                -            -             -             -

3,853,274 2,795,563 1,082,370 587,802 391,812 121,150

US$ ’000 10,008,503 7,261,203 2,811,351 1,526,758 1,017,693 314,675
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.9  Concentration of credit risk  (Continued)

 The table below analyses the concentration of gross loans and advances to customers by various sectors.

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

Corporate and other loans

557,548 1,077,833 Services 414,966 214,656

584,509 729,235 Manufacture 280,755 225,036

541,283 684,047 Mining and quarrying 263,358 208,394

553,917 597,861 Financial institutions 230,176 213,258

200,465 577,209 Wholesale and retail trade 222,226 77,179

320,790 493,955 Real estate 190,173 123,504

527,291 418,908 Import trade 161,280 203,007

262,940 347,132 Utilities 133,646 101,232

197,997 336,641 Construction 129,607 76,229

84,104 229,208 Transport 88,245 32,380

46,288 67,325 Government 25,920 17,821

24,190 36,620 Agriculture and allied activities 14,099 9,313

18,727 6,236 Export trade 2,400 7,210

  407,003    522,413 Others    201,129    156,696

4,327,052 6,124,623 2,357,980 1,665,915

2,934,151 3,883,880 Personal and Housing loans 1,495,294 1,129,648

7,261,203 10,008,503 3,853,274 2,795,563

 The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location. 

 An analysis of concentrations of credit risk by location at the reporting date is shown below.

Gross Loans and Advances 
to customers

Gross Loans and Advances to 
banks

Investment securities

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Concentration by location

Sultanate of Oman 3,593,951 2,640,138 20,315 40,252 134,651 101,395

Other GCC countries 245,985 108,942 569,213 186,274 53,465 5,254

Europe - - 169,685 186,727 99,787 1,830

United States of America - - 28,543 5,229 6,960 6,817

Retail      13,338      46,483    294,614 169,320   96,949     5,854

3,853,274 2,795,563 1,082,370 587,802 391,812 121,150

US$ ’000 10,008,503 7,261,203 2,811,351 1,526,758 1,017,693 314,675
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.2.10  Settlement risk

 The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a 

counter-party to honour its obligation to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 

 The Bank mitigates settlement risk by conducting settlements through a settlement / clearing agent or having bilateral payment netting agreements. 

Settlement limits form part of the credit approval or limit monitoring process of the risk management system.

 40.3  Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the potential inability of the Bank to meet its maturing obligations to a counter party. 

 40.3.1  Management of liquidity risk 

 In order to ensure that the Bank can meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due, there is close monitoring of the assets/liabilities position. 

Liquidity risk management ensures that the Bank has the ability under varying scenarios to fund increase in assets and meet maturing obligations as 

they arise. Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) evaluates the balance sheet both from a structural as well as liquidity and interest rate 

sensitivity point of view. In addition, it is also responsible for funding strategy and foreign exchange risk review.

 The Bank’s treasury division is responsible for overall liquidity management under the guidance and supervision of ALCO. The Bank’s risk policy 

stipulates broad guidelines in respect of liquidity risk management such as gap limits, minimum liquidity ratio and limit on illiquid assets to be 

maintained by the Bank. Liquidity risk management is monitored through all these liquidity measurement tools and controlled by a combination of 

stock approach, cash flow approach and contingency planning. 

 Stock approach measures liquidity in terms of various liquidity ratios to portray that sufficient liquidity is stored in the balance sheet. The risk policy 

stipulates minimum liquidity requirements taking into account the regulatory requirements and best industry practices that would ensure adequate 

liquidity for the Bank under most adverse situations.

 Cash flow approach measures currency-wise, Bank-wide liquidity profile through maturity ladders and cumulative liquidity gaps. Under this approach 

liquidity position is determined by assessing the expected future cash flows, positive or negative in the respective time bands according to the residual 

term to maturity. It is assumed that funds would be repaid on their contractual maturity date. In respect of certain assets, which lack any definite 

contractual maturity, the tenor is considered based on their historical behaviour. 

 Contingency planning quantifies and measures alternative liquidity resorts available with the Bank to withstand Bank specific or market stress 

situation that may arise from unexpected developments, either internal or external factors. The risk policy of the Bank outlines the broad framework in 

respect of contingency plan and measures to be adopted to handle liquidity crisis in such situations.
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.3.2  Exposure to liquidity risk

 The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid assets to total deposits and liquid assets to total assets. For this 

purpose the liquid assets include cash and balances with Central Banks, government securities, treasury bills and placements with banks. The table 

below provides the ratio of liquid assets to deposits from customers and liquid assets to total assets at the reporting date and during the reporting 

period.

                 Liquid assets to total assets ratio Liquid assets to total
deposits ratio

2008 2007 2008 2007

As at 31 December 28.95% 26.64% 36.25% 35.49%

Average for the period 27.69% 28.42% 35.27% 35.84%

Maximum for the period 31.18% 30.57% 38.51% 39.43%

Minimum for the period 25.17% 26.28% 32.33% 33.19%

 The asset and liability maturity profile was as follows:

On demand or 
within three 

months
Four months to 

12 months
One to five years More than five 

years Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

31 December 2008

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Banks 450,632 - - 2,129 452,761

Placements with banks 703,770 253,710 85,180 34,897 1,077,557

Loans and advances 415,989 451,304 1,121,426 1,738,981 3,727,700

Investments 239,585 16,583 44,644 170,737 471,549

Property and equipment and other assets      91,608 180,187        7,347      19,527    298,669

Total assets 1,901,584 901,784 1,258,597 1,966,271 6,028,236

Liabilities and equity

Deposits from banks 885,349 212,424 205,397 109,406 1,412,576

Customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit 991,731 1,016,326 693,598 533,052 3,234,707

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes - 96,250 40,400 29,803 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation 109,779 171,859 36,300 68,312 386,250

Subordinated liabilities - - 75,000 38,500 113,500

Shareholders’ funds                  -                  -                  -      714,750     714,750

Total liabilities and equity 1,986,859 1,496,859 1,050,695 1,493,823 6,028,236
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

On demand or 
within three 

months
Four months 
to 12 months

One to 
five years

More than
 five years Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

31 December 2007

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Banks 485,783 - - 2,129 487,912

Placements with banks 364,748 117,176 92,325 13,553 587,802

Loans and advances 392,769 539,033 974,952 780,109 2,686,863

Investments 42,915 26,979 66,157 82,047 218,098

Property and equipment and other assets      85,375 109,656           637   41,382    237,050

Total assets 1,371,590 792,844 1,134,071 919,220 4,217,725

Liabilities and equity

Deposits from banks 522,352 106,172 19,250 15,462 663,236

Customers’ deposits and  certificates of deposit 704,334 598,880 689,818 343,327 2,336,359

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes - - 111,650 54,803 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation 90,614 147,680 24,038 53,275 315,607

Subordinated liabilities - - 70,000 38,500 108,500

Shareholders’ funds                 -              -              -     627,570     627,570

Total liabilities and equity 1,317,300 852,732 914,756 1,132,937 4,217,725

On demand or 
within three 

months
Four months

 to 12 months
One to 

five years
More than 
five years Total

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

31 December 2008

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Banks 1,170,473 - - 5,530 1,176,003

Placements with banks 1,827,974 658,988 221,245 90,643 2,798,850

Loans and advances 1,080,491 1,172,218 2,912,795 4,516,833 9,682,337

Investments 622,298 43,073 115,958 443,473 1,224,802

Property and equipment and other assets   237,944    468,018      19,083      50,719      775,764

Total assets 4,939,180 2,342,297 3,269,081 5,107,198 15,657,756

Liabilities and equity

Deposits from banks 2,299,608 551,751 533,499 284,170 3,669,028

Customers’ deposits and certificates of deposit 2,575,925 2,639,808 1,801,553 1,384,550 8,401,836

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes - 250,000 104,935 77,410 432,345

Other liabilities and taxation 285,139 446,387 94,286 177,434 1,003,246

Subordinated liabilities - - 194,805 100,000 294,805

Shareholders’ funds                 -                 -                 - 1,856,494    1,856,494

Total liabilities and equity 5,160,672 3,887,946 2,729,078 3,880,060 15,657,756
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

On demand or 
within three 

months
Four months 
to 12 months

One to 
five years

More than 
five years Total

31 December 2007 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

Assets

Cash and balances with Central

   Banks 1,261,774 - - 5,530 1,267,304

Placements with banks 947,395 304,353 239,805 35,205 1,526,758

Loans and advances 1,020,179 1,400,086 2,532,344 2,026,256 6,978,865

Investments 111,468 70,075 171,836 213,109 566,488

Property and equipment and other assets    221,753    284,821        1,655    107,486      615,715

Total assets 3,562,569 2,059,335 2,945,640 2,387,586 10,955,130

Liabilities and equity

Deposits from banks 1,356,761 275,772 50,000 40,158 1,722,691

Customers’ deposits and

certificates of deposit 1,829,439 1,555,532 1,791,735 891,759 6,068,465

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes - - 290,000 142,345 432,345

Other liabilities and taxation 235,361 383,583 62,437 138,377 819,758

Subordinated liabilities - - 181,818 100,000 281,818

Shareholders’ funds                 -                 -                 - 1,630,053   1,630,053

Total liabilities and equity 3,421,561 2,214,887 2,375,990 2,942,692 10,955,130

 Mismatch between assets and liabilities under each time bucket are contained within 15% of the accumulated uncovered liabilities at the end of the 

each time band up to 1 year maturity and 25% of accumulated uncovered liabilities in respect of time bands over 1 year. The liquidity risk is minimized 

through actively managing mismatches and diversification of assets and liabilities.  For off-balance sheet items, please refer note 40.2.2.

 40.4  Market risk

 Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in the value of on or off-balance sheet financial instruments caused by a change in market prices or rates 

including changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices. 

 Market risk measurement techniques

 Market risk measurement at the Bank involves both statistical and non-statistical measures. As one single measure could not reflect various aspects 

of market risk, Bank uses various methods to measure market risk. State of the art systems are used to measure Net interest income at risk, Economic 

value of equity at risk, Re-pricing risk. Non-statistical measures include net open position, market values, position concentration, stop-loss limits for 

investments price risk etc.

 40.4.1  Management of market risks

 The Bank sets limits for each product and risk type in order to ensure that the Bank’s market risk is managed well within the overall regulatory 

requirements set by the Central Bank of Oman and internal regulations contained in the Risk Policy. The Bank does not trade in commodities. Limits 

and all internal/external guidelines are strictly adhered to, deviations, if any, are immediately escalated and action taken wherever necessary. 
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.1  Management of market risks (Continued)

 The principal categories of market risk faced by BankMuscat are set out below:

Foreign exchange risk•	

Investment price risk •	

Interest rate risk•	

 40.4.2  Foreign Exchange Risk

 Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the foreign currency positions taken by the Bank may be adversely affected due to volatility in foreign exchange 

rates. The responsibility for management of foreign exchange risk rests with the treasury division of the Bank. The Bank’s foreign exchange exposures 

are governed by the treasury policy and Risk Policy approved by the Board of Directors. Foreign exchange risk management in the Bank is ensured 

through regular measurement and monitoring of open foreign exchange positions against approved limits. Most of the foreign exchange transactions 

carried out by the divisions are on behalf of corporate customers and all are on a back-to-back basis. The treasury takes every possible action to cover 

the open positions created by customer transactions. In extreme cases residual portion of the open position created by the customer is carried by the 

Bank and covered at the next available opportunity. 

 The Risk Policy of the Bank stipulates that the foreign exchange exposure should be limited to an aggregate of 40% of the Bank’s Tier I capital. It 

also stipulates that exposure on any single non parity currency should be restricted to the extent of 3% of Bank’s net worth and restricted to the 

extent of 10% of the Bank’s net worth for all non parity currencies taken together. As at the reporting date, the Bank had the following net exposures 

denominated in foreign currencies:

  2007   2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000          US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

352,122 240,192 Saudi Riyal 92,474 135,567

184,353 179,337 Bahraini Dinar 69,045 70,976

574 88,821 Pakistani Rupee 34,196 221

29,237 71,180 US Dollar 27,404 11,256

51,457 60,156 Indian Rupee 23,160 19,811

80,396 27,566 UAE Dirham 10,613 30,952

9,075 3,203 Kuwait Dinar 1,233 3,494

12,156 112 Qatari Riyal 43 4,680

   4,797   26,881 Others   10,349    1,847

724,167 697,448 268,517 278,804

Positions are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure positions are maintained within the limits approved by the Central Bank of Oman.

Exposure and sensitivity analysis:

The net exposure in foreign currencies includes foreign currency exposure on investment in overseas associates and branches of equivalent RO 158 

million (2007 - RO 97 million) which are exempted from regulatory limit on foreign exchange exposure.

The Bank’s significant portion of foreign exchange exposure is in US$  and other GCC currencies which have fixed parity with Omani Rial.
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.2  Foreign Exchange Risk (Continued)

The table below indicates the sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange exposure of the Bank to changes in the non parity foreign currency prices as at 

December 31, 2008 with all other variables held constant:

At 31 December 2008 At 31 December 2007

Non parity foreign currency assets % of change  in 
the currency  price  

(+/-)

Change in the 
fair value (+/-)

% of change  in the 
currency  price  (+/-)

Change in the 
fair value (+/-)

RO’000 RO’000

Indian Rupee 10% 2,316 10% 1,981

Pakistani Rupee 10% 3,420 10% 22

Others 10% 1,035 10% 185

 40.4.3  Investment Price Risk

 Investment price risk is the risk of reduction in the market value of the Bank’s portfolio as a result of diminishment in the market value of individual 

investment.  The responsibility for management of investment price risk rests with the Investment Banking division under the supervision and 

guidance from the Investment Committee of the Bank. The Bank’s investments are governed by an investment policy and risk policy approved by 

the Board of Directors and are subject to rigorous due diligence. All the investments are subject to a stop loss limits. If this limit is triggered then 

investments are disposed off immediately or exceptionally retained only with the approval of the Investment Committee based on due justification.  The 

rating and price of the instruments are monitored on a regular basis and necessary actions are taken to reduce exposure if needed. The entire portfolio 

is regularly revalued at closing market price to ensure that unrealized losses, if any, on account of reduction in the market value of the investments 

over its cost remains within the acceptable parameters defined in the Bank’s investment policy. 

Exposure  and sensitivity analysis

The Bank analyses price sensitivity of the equity portfolio as follows:   

a)  For the local quoted equity portfolio, based on the beta factor of the portfolio performance to the MSM30 Index performance.  

b)  For the international quoted equity portfolio, based on the individual security market price movement. 

The Bank’s market risk is affected mainly by changes to the actual market price of financial assets. Actual performance of the Bank’s local equity 

portfolio has a correlation to the performance of MSM30 Index. The beta of the Bank’s quoted local equity portfolio against the MSM30 Index for 

2008 was 0.51 (2007 - 0.67). Thus +/- 5% change in the value of MSM30 Index may result in 2.55% amounting to +/- RO. 895,000 (2007 - 3.35%, 

amounting to +/- RO 1,334,000) change in the value of the Bank’s quoted local equity portfolio. 

International quoted equity portfolio of the Bank comprises of shares listed in GCC stock markets, Indian Stock markets and other international 

markets. A +/-5% change in the market price of the respective securities, will result in change in value of the portfolio of +/- RO 4,714,000 (2007 - 

+/-RO. 340,000).

 40.4.4  Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the Bank’s profitability will be adversely affected by changes in interest rates and mismatches or gaps in the amount 

of assets and liabilities and off balance sheet items that mature or re-price in a given period. Interest rate risk poses a risk on the Bank’s earnings and 

economic value of equity and is monitored from both angles. Earning perspective refers to the impact on the net interest margin (NIM) of the Bank due 

to changes in market rates and economic value perspective refers to the long-term impact of changing interest rates on the equity. 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008



132

40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.4  Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

 The responsibility for interest rate risk management rests with the Bank’s ALCO.  The interest rate maturity profile of assets and liabilities is carefully 

monitored by the ALCO in its meetings through the use of interest rate gap reports and sensitivity analysis facilitated by a sophisticated asset-liability 

management system. In order to manage its interest rate risks, the Bank uses limit structures, which inter-alia include limits relating to positions, 

portfolios and stop losses.  As part of the hedging process, the Bank monitors its exposures on a total basis, implementing interest rate swaps and 

caps to reduce the exposure to interest rate movements as appropriate. 

 The Bank’s interest rate sensitivity position of assets and liabilities, based on the contractual repricing or maturity dates, whichever dates are earlier, 

is as follows:

Effective 
annual

Interest
rate %

Floating
rate or 
within

3 months
Months
4 to 12

Years
1 to 5

Over
5 years

Non 
interest 

sensitive Total
31 December 2008 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0 to 2 5,000 - - - 447,761 452,761

Placements with banks 3.16 803,601 239,059 - 34,897 - 1,077,557

Loans and advances 6.82 936,486 873,945 1,183,373 733,896 - 3,727,700

Investments 2.5 to 4.3 162,334 18,168 117,730 4,120 169,197 471,549

Property and equipment and other assets None                 -                 -                 -             - 298,669    298,669

Total assets 1,907,421 1,131,172 1,301,103 772,913 915,626 6,028,236

Deposits from banks 3.67 932,896 345,249 25,025 109,406 - 1,412,576

Customers’ deposits and

Certificates of deposit 2.1 730,417 1,845,555 170,071 56,038 432,626 3,234,707

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 4.76 111,650 - 25,000 29,803 - 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation None - - - - 386,250 386,250

Subordinated liabilities 6.12 38,500 - 75,000 - - 113,500

Shareholders’ funds None                -                 -             -             -    714,750    714,750

Total liabilities and Shareholders’ funds 1,813,463 2,190,804 295,096 195,247 1,533,626 6,028,236

Total interest rate sensitivity gap 93,958 (1,059,632) 1,006,007 577,667 (618,000)               -

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 93,958 (965,674) 40,332 618,000            -              -

In US$  ‘000 244,045 (2,508,246) 104,757 1,605,193             -              -
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.4  Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

Effective 
annual

Interest
rate %

Floating 
rate or 
within

3 months
Months
4 to 12

Years
1 to 5

Over
5 years

Non 
interest 

sensitive Total
31 December 2007 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cash and balances with Central Banks 0 to 2.75 100,000 - - 2,129 385,783 487,912

Placements with banks 5.13 461,199 113,332 - 13,271 - 587,802

Loans and advances 7.65 767,527 556,221 730,105 633,010 - 2,686,863

Investments 4.62 to 5.1 46,855 28,038 61,539 81,666 - 218,098

Property and equipment and other assets None                -             -             -             - 237,050   237,050

Total assets 1,375,581 697,591 791,644 730,076 622,833 4,217,725

Deposits from banks 4.74 541,725 106,173 - 15,338 - 663,236

Customers’ deposits and

Certificates of deposit 2.63 708,747 598,879 689,818 338,915 - 2,336,359

Unsecured bonds and floating rate notes 6.0 to 6.25 111,650 - - 54,803 - 166,453

Other liabilities and taxation None - - - - 315,607 315,607

Subordinated liabilities 6.8 - 38,500 - 70,000 - 108,500

Shareholders’ funds None                -             -             -             - 627,570    627,570

Total liabilities and Shareholders’ funds 1,362,122 743,552 689,818 479,056 943,177 4,217,725

Total interest rate sensitivity gap 13,459 (45,961) 101,826 251,020 (320,344)              -

Cumulative int. rate sensitivity gap 13,459 (32,502) 69,324 320,344            -              -

In US$  ’000 34,956 (84,421) 180,062 832,062           -             -

 (i) The off-balance sheet gap represents the net notional amount of off-balance sheet financial instruments, including interest rate swaps which are 

used to manage interest rate risk.

 (ii) The repricing profile is based on the remaining period to the next interest repricing date.

 (iii) An asset (or positive) gap position exists when assets reprice more quickly or in greater proportion than liabilities during a given period and 

tends to benefit net interest income in a rising interest rate environment. A liability (or negative) gap position exists when liabilities reprice 

more quickly or in greater proportion than assets during a given period and tends to benefit net interest income in a declining interest rate 

environment. 

 Re-pricing gap is the difference between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities spread over distinct maturity bands based on residual maturity 

or re-pricing dates. The Bank uses currency-wise and consolidated re-pricing gaps to quantify interest rate risk exposure over distinct maturities and 

analyze the magnitude of portfolio changes necessary to alter existing risk profile. The distribution of assets and liabilities over these time bands is 

done based on the actual repricing schedules. The schedules are used as a guideline to assess interest rate risk sensitivity and to focus the efforts 

towards reducing the mismatch in the repricing pattern of assets and liabilities.

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2008



134

40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.4  Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

 The Bank uses simulation reports as an effective tool for understanding risk exposure under variety of interest rate scenario. These reports help ALCO 

to understand the direction of interest rate risk in the Bank and decide on the appropriate strategy and hedging mechanism for managing it. The Bank’s 

current on- and off-balance sheet exposures are evaluated under static environment to quantify potential effect of external interest rate shocks on the 

earnings and economic value of equity at risk, using assumptions about future course of interest rates and changes in Bank’s business profile. The 

simulation report analyses seven possible different scenarios. Treasury determine the base scenario based on the expected interest rate movements, 

deposit movements and deployment of funds. The simulation exercise then compares six variations to this base scenario – three rates up and three 

rates down scenario.  

 An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market interest rates is as follows:

Impact on Net Interest income +200 bps -200 bps +100 bps -100 bps +50 bps -50 bps

     RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2008

As at 31 December (7,032) (836) (4,005) 897 (2,504) 699

Average for the period (6,850) (162) (3,930) 1,203 (2,476) 729

Maximum for the period (11,940) (2,455) (6,451) (777) (3,730) (697)

Minimum for the period (3,498) 3,854 (2,316) 3,328 (1,616) 1,919

2007

As at 31 December (3,261) (2,075) (2,028) (160) (1,422) (80)

Average for the period (3,234) 119 (1,907)  738 (1,251) 379

Maximum for the period (4,144)  (2,075) (2,339)   (160) (1,446)  (80)

Minimum for the period (2,256) 1,363 (1,506) 1,329 (1,128) 683

Impact on Economic value

2008

As at 31 December (115,752) 132,558 (60,496) 63,780 (31,397) 31,322

Average for the period (106,336) 121,904 (54,853) 58,464 (28,406) 28,948

Maximum for the period (140,342) 165,759 (73,872) 79,180 (38,447) 38,797

Minimum for the period (88,823) 101,656 (35,184) 47,415 (15,440) 25,752

2007

As at 31 December (79,050) 84,549 (40,974) 41,624 (21,230) 20,623

Average for the period (65,023) 73,287 (33,777) 35,456 (17,410) 17,446

Maximum for the period (79,050) 88,304 (40,974) 42,473 (21,230) 20,845

Minimum for the period (54,820) 61,168 (28,328) 29,691 (14,514) 14,634
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.4.4  Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

Impact on Net Interest income +200 bps -200 bps +100 bps -100 bps +50 bps -50 bps

     US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000 US$ ’000

2008

As at 31 December (18,265) (2,173) (10,402) 2,331 (6,504) 1,815

Average for the period (17,792) (420) (10,209) 3,125 (6,430) 1,893

Maximum for the period (31,013) (6,376) (16,757) (2,019) (9,689) (1,811)

Minimum for the period (9,086) 10,009 (6,015) 8,645 (4,197) 4,984

2007

As at 31 December (8,470) (5,390) (5,268) (416) (3,694) (208)

Average for the period (8,400) 309 (4,952) 1,916 (3,250) 985

Maximum for the period (10,764) (5,390) (6,075) (416) (3,756) (208)

Minimum for the period (5,860) 3,540 (3,912) 3,452 (2,930) 1,774

Impact on Economic value

2008

As at 31 December (300,655) 344,307 (157,133) 165,663 (81,550) 81,355

Average for the period (276,199) 316,633 (142,475) 151,853 (73,781) 75,191

Maximum for the period (364,524) 430,544 (191,874) 205,662 (99,862) 100,512

Minimum for the period (230,708) 264,042 (91,387) 123,155 (40,104) 66,888

2007

As at 31 December (205,325) 219,608 (106,426) 108,114 (55,143) 53,566

Average for the period (168,890) 190,356 (87,733) 92,094 (45,220) 45,314

Maximum for the period (205,325) 229,361 (106,426) 110,319 (55,143) 54,143

Minimum for the period (142,390) 158,878 (73,579) 77,119 (37,699) 38,010

 40.5  Operational risks

 Operational risk is the risk that deficiencies in information systems / internal controls or uncontrollable external events will result in loss. The risk is 

associated with human error, systems failure and inadequate procedures or control and external causes.

 Losses from external events such as a natural disaster that has a potential to damage the Bank’s physical assets or electrical or telecommunications 

failures that disrupt business are relatively easier to define than losses from internal problems such as employee fraud and product flaws. The risks 

from internal problems are more closely tied to the Bank’s specific products and business lines; they are more specific to the Bank’s operations than 

the risks due to external events. Operational risks faced by the Bank include IT Security, telecom failure, fraud, and operational errors.

 As a part of continuous improvement in the risk management process, the Bank has developed its own Operational Risk Management Software, 

“FORTE’ OpRisk Monitor”. The Software aids assessment of operational risks as well as collection and analysis of operational losses.
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.5  Operational risks (Continued)

 The Bank’s risk policy provides the framework to identify, assess, monitor, control and report operational risks in a consistent and comprehensive 

manner across the Bank. A distinct Operational Risk Management function is in place since 2003 to independently support business units in the 

management of operational risks. The objectives of Operational Risk Management are as follows:

To achieve strong risk control by harnessing the latest risk management technologies and techniques, resulting in a distinctive risk management •	

capability, enabling business units to meet their performance and growth objectives.

To enable adequate capital allocation in respect of potential impact of operational risks.•	

To minimize the impact of operational risks through means like a fully functional Business Continuity Plans, up-to-date documentation and by •	

developing general operational risk awareness within the Bank.

 Business units have the primary responsibility for identifying, measuring and managing the operational risks that are inherent in their respective 

operations. Operational risk is controlled through a series of strong internal controls and audits, well-defined segregation of duties and reporting 

lines, detailed operational manuals and standards. The Operational Risk Unit oversees the range of operational risk across the Bank in accordance 

with the Operational Risk Management Framework. Internal Audit independently reviews effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control and its ability to 

minimize the impact of operational risks.

 Insurance is used as a tool to hedge against operational risks at the Bank. The Bank has obtained insurance against operational risks which comes 

in a variety of forms, such as Bankers’ Blanket Bond, Electronic and Computer Crimes, Professional Indemnity, etc. While insurance cannot alter the 

probability of risks, it allows partial transfer of the financial impact of risks. The insurance is primarily aimed at protecting the Bank from high-severity 

low-frequency risks.

 Business Continuity Planning (BCP)

 The Bank ensures that its systems and procedures are resilient to ensure business continuity through potential situations of failure. The Bank has put 

in place contingency plans to ensure that its business runs effectively in the event of most unforeseen disasters. The Bank continuously strengthens its 

existing plans by implementing a robust business continuity plan to ensure that its systems and procedures are resilient and ready to meet ‘emergency 

preparedness’. The BCP committee is entrusted with the responsibility of formulating, adopting, implementing, testing and maintaining a robust 

BCP for the Bank. BCP Committee continuously review and agree the strategic Business Continuity assessment and planning information to ensure 

Business Continuity Management, planning and maintenance responsibilities are assigned and understood across the business areas.

 40.6  Capital management

 40.6.1  Regulatory capital

 The Bank’s regulator, Central Bank of Oman (CBO), sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole. In implementing Basel II’s capital 

requirement, the CBO requires the Bank to maintain a minimum of 10% ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. 

 The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into three tiers:

Tier I capital, which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, distributable and non-distributable reserves and retained earnings (net •	

of proposed dividend) after deductions for goodwill and fifty percent of carrying value of investment in associates as per the regulatory 

adjustments that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes;

Tier II capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment allowances and the element of the fair value reserve •	

relating to unrealised gains on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale after deductions for fifty percent of carrying value of 

investments in associates;

Tier III capital which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities.•	
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.6.1 Regulatory capital

 Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The qualifying Tier II capital cannot exceed Tier I capital; qualifying subordinated liabilities 

may not exceed fifty percent of Tier I capital; and amount of collective impairment allowances that may be included as part of Tier II capital is limited 

to 1.25 percent of the total risk-weighted assets. 

 40.6.2  Capital Adequacy

 Capital adequacy indicates the ability of the Bank in meeting any contingency without compromising the interest of the depositors and to provide credit 

across the business cycles. Sufficient capital in relation to the risk profile of the Bank’s assets helps promote financial stability and the confidence 

of the stakeholders.  The Bank aims to maximise the shareholder’s value through an optimal capital structure that protects the stakeholders interests 

under most extreme stress situations, provides sufficient room for growth while meeting the regulatory requirements and at the same time gives a 

reasonable return to the shareholders.

 While risk coverage is the prime factor influencing capital retention, the Bank is conscious of the fact that as a business entity, its capital needs to be 

serviced and a comfortable rate of return needs to be provided to the shareholders.  Excessive capital will dilute the return on capital and this in turn 

can exert pressure for profitability propelling business asset growth resulting in the Bank assuming higher levels of risk.  In the retention of capital, 

the Bank’s policy is governed by the need for adequately providing for associated risk and the needs for servicing the capital retained. The Bank makes 

good use of subordinated loans as Tier II Capital and raises share capital as and when the need arises. The Bank’s strong and diverse shareholder 

profile gives the Bank the necessary confidence in its ability to raise capital when it is needed.

 Management of the Bank is well aware of the need to move to more advanced approaches for measuring credit risk and operational risk. In this regard 

the Bank has a ‘building block’ approach and has made progress in certain areas. Gaps have been identified and road map has been laid down for each 

area and progress measured at regular intervals.
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.6.2  Capital Adequacy

 The following table sets out the capital adequacy position of the Bank.

2007 2008 2008 2007

US$ ’000 US$ ’000 RO’000 RO’000

279,774 279,774 Share Capital 107,713 107,713

783,130 783,130 Share Premium 301,505 301,505

93,260 93,260 Legal reserve 35,905 35,905

146,255 146,255 General reserve 56,308 56,308

6,668 62,857 Subordinated loan reserve 24,200 2,567

  144,156    301,003 Retained Profit* 115,886   55,500

1,453,243 1,666,279 Total 641,517 559,498

Less: 

(13,294) (5,787) Goodwill (2,228) (5,118)

- (6,195) Deferred tax assets (2,385) -

(122,836)   (117,761) Investment in associates (50%)  (45,338) (47,292)

1,317,113 1,536,536 Tier I Capital 591,566 507,088

11,990 75,200 Cumulative change in fair value (45%) 28,952 4,616

104,000 135,743 General loan loss impairment 52,261 40,040

275,151 225,455 Subordinated liabilities (net of reserves)   86,800 105,933

391,141 436,398 Total 168,013 150,589

Less: 

(122,834) (117,761) Investment in associates (50%) (45,338) (47,291)

268,307 318,637 Tier II Capital 122,675 103,298

            - 6,494 Tier III Capital (Net of Reserve) 2,500           -

1,585,420 1,861,667 Total Regulatory Capital 716,741 610,386

Risk weighted assets

9,401,314 13,182,465 Credit risk 5,075,249 3,619,506

422,896 259,208 Market risk 99,795 162,815

     645,886      853,400 Operational risk    328,559    248,666

10,470,096 14,295,073 Total risk weighted assets 5,503,603 4,030,987

Capital Ratios

Total regulatory capital expressed as

15.14% 13.02% a % of total risk weighted assets 13.02% 15.14%

Total Tier I capital expressed as

12.58% 10.75% a % of total risk weighted assets 10.75% 12.58%

Notes to the Financial Statements  
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40 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

 40.6.3  Capital allocation

 The allocation of capital between specific business units and activities is, to large extent, driven by optimisation of the return on capital allocated. 

Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to 

particular business units or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making. Other factors such as synergies between the units or activities, 

the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with the Bank’s longer term strategic objectives are taken in to account 

while allocating capital.

41 Fair Value Information

 Based on the valuation methodology outlined below, the fair values of all on and off-balance sheet financial instruments at 31 December 2008 are 

considered by the Board and Management not to be materially different to their book values:

Notes
Loans and 
advances

Available-
for-sale

Held-to-
maturity

Other 
amortised

 cost

Total 
carrying 

value

Fair
value

31 December 2008 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank 5 452,761 - - - 452,761 452,761
Placements with banks 6 1,077,557 - - - 1,077,557 1,077,557
Loans and advances 7 3,727,700 - - - 3,727,700 3,727,700
Investment securities 9                - 216,948 161,698        -    378,646    378,646

5,258,018 216,948 161,698        - 5,636,664 5,636,664

TRADING LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 12 - - - 1,412,576 1,412,576 1,412,576
Customers’ deposits 13 - - - 3,173,032 3,173,032 3,173,032
Certificates of deposit 14 - - - 61,675 61,675 61,675
Unsecured bonds 15 - - - 54,803 54,803 54,803
Floating rate notes 16 - - - 111,650 111,650 111,650
Subordinated liabilities 19 - - -   113,500   113,500   113,500

- - - 4,927,236 4,927,236 4,927,236

   31 December 2007

Cash and balances with Central Bank 5 487,912 - - - 487,912 487,912

Placements with banks 6 587,802 - - - 587,802 587,802
Loans and advances 7 2,686,863 - - - 2,686,863 2,686,863
Investment securities 9                - 86,233 32,164        -    118,397    118,397

3,762,577 86,233 32,164        - 3,880,974 3,880,974

TRADING LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 12 - - - 663,236 663,236 663,236
Customers’ deposits 13 - - - 2,322,089 2,322,089 2,322,089
Certificates of deposit 14 - - - 14,270 14,270 14,270
Unsecured bonds 15 - - - 54,803 54,803 54,803
Floating rate notes 16 - - - 111,650 111,650 111,650
Subordinated liability 19 - - -   108,500   108,500   108,500

- - - 3,274,548 3,274,548 3,274,548
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41 Fair Value Information (Continued)

 41.1  Estimation of fair values

 The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of assets and liabilities.

 41.2  Loans and advances

 Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows. Loan repayments are assumed to occur at contractual 

repayment dates, where applicable. For loans that do not have fixed repayment dates or that are subject to prepayment risk, repayments are estimated 

based on experience in previous periods when interest rates were at levels similar to current levels, adjusted for any differences in interest rate outlook. 

Expected future cash flows are estimated considering credit risk and any indication of impairment. Expected future cash flows for homogeneous 

categories of loans are estimated on a portfolio basis and discounted at current rates offered for similar loans to new borrowers with similar credit 

profiles. The estimated fair values of loans reflect changes in credit status since the loans were made and changes in interest rates in the case of fixed 

rate loans.

 41.3  Investments carried at cost and derivatives

 Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs. If a quoted market price is not 

available, fair value is estimated based on discounted cash flow and other valuation techniques. 

 Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a 

market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date.

 41.4  Bank and customer deposits

 For demand deposits and deposits with no defined maturities, fair value is taken to be the amount payable on demand at the balance sheet date. The 

estimated fair value of fixed-maturity deposits, including certificates of deposit, is based on discounted cash flows using rates currently offered for 

deposits of similar remaining maturities. The value of long-term relationships with depositors is not taken into account in estimating fair values. 

 41.5  Other on-balance sheet financial instruments

 The fair values of all on-balance sheet financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.  

 41.6  Off-balance sheet financial instruments

 No fair value adjustment is made with respect to credit-related off-balance sheet financial instruments, which include commitments to extend credit, 

standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams materially reflect contractual fees and commissions actually charged at 

the balance sheet date for agreements of similar credit standing and maturity.

 Foreign exchange contracts are valued based on market prices.  The market value adjustments in respect of foreign exchange contracts are included 

in the book values of other assets and other liabilities. 

42 Comparative Figures

 The corresponding figures for 2007 included for comparative purposes have been reclassified to conform with the presentation in the current year.

Report of the Auditors - page 75.
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Name of Branch Telephone Fax Address

CAPITAL NORTH

Al Khoudh 24538917 24538842 PO Box 310, PC 121, Seeb

A’Seeb 24421989 24421486 PO Box 1684, PC 111, Muscat Airport

Burj A’Sahwa 24510167 24510187 PO Box 1684, PC 111, Muscat Airport

Sultan Qaboos University 24413172 24413171 PO Box 6, PC 123, Al Khoudh

Maabela 24452729 24452794 PO Box 284, PC 122, Maabela

Markaz Al Bahja 24535063 24537327 PO Box 233, PC 132, Al Khoudh

Rusayl 24446313 24446739 PO Box 187, PC 124, Rusayl

RGO 24422967 24422455 PO Box 807, PC 132, Al Khoudh

Maabela (South) 24456993 24456009 PO Box 210, PC 122, South Maabela

Mawaleh 24538756 24539189 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

City Centre Branch 24558153 24558965 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

KOM 24153021 24153023 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

CENTRAL CAPITAL

Madinat Al Sultan Qaboos 24605468 24600829 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Al Qurum 24562837 24562850 PO Box 303, PC 118, A H Complex

Al Khuwair 24479362 24489038 PO Box 908, PC 133, Al Khuwair

Ghala 24595913 24595914 PO Box 418, PC 130, Azaiba

Mina Al Fahal 24571806 24571809 PO Box 319, PC 116, Mina Al Fahal

Shaati Al Qurum 24604153 24605107 PO Box 108, PC 134, Shaati Al Qurum

Branch
Network



142

Al Sarooj Commercial Complex 24699109 24698039 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Muscat Intercon Hotel 24601784 24603838 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Al Khuwair (Ministry) 24602488 24604626 PO Box 93, PC 115, MSQ

Al Ghubrah 24496827 24490419 PO Box 329, PC 130, Azaiba

Royal Hospital 24596809 24590106 PO Box 758, PC 130, Azaiba

Al Khuwair-33 24487204 24487182 PO Box 856, PC 133, Al Khuwair

Ghala Industrial Area 24595013 24595016 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Azaiba 24498533 24492568 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Bausher 24591688 24592688 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Azaiba Roundabout 24527040 24527030 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

SOUTH CAPITAL

MBD 24768416 24782330 PO Box 550, PC 112, Ruwi

Wadi Al Kabir 24816747 24814536 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Ruwi 24701769 24796488 PO Box 3326, PC 112, Ruwi

Muscat 24736565 24736187 PO Box 109, PC 113, Muscat

Hattat House 24564861 24564860 PO Box 1077, PC 112, Ruwi

Jibroo 24711353 24713239 PO Box 1881, PC 114, Jibroo

Ruwi High Street 24835749 24836091 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Al Amerat 24875423 24875425 PO Box 66, PC 119, Al Amerat

Corniche 24713400 24712114 PO Box 1265, PC 114, Muttrah

Quriyat 24845120 24845643 PO Box 288, PC 120, Quriyat

MBD South 24815804 24812458 PO Box 1265, PC 114, Muttrah

Corporate Branch 24707948 24707680 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Private Banking 24768603 24795155 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

AL BATINAH REGION (NORTH)

Sohar 26841785 26841786 PO Box 631 PC 311, Sohar

Liwa 26762924 26762424 PO Box 131, PC 325, Liwa

Saham 26855280 26855268 PO Box 453, PC 319, Saham

Khaboura 26801352 26801526 PO Box 247, PC 326, Al Khaboura

Falaj Al Qabail 26751464 26751678 PO Box 464, PC 322, FAQ, Sohar

Bidaya 26708016 26709609 PO Box 50, PC 316, Bidaya

Sohar Souk 26840072 26842072 PO Box 79, PC 311, Sohar

Shinas 26747070 26748072 PO Box 121, PC 324, Shinas

Al Khadra 26712975 26712976 PO Box 495, PC 315, Suwaiq

Al Tareef 26843925 26843128 PO Box 497, PC 321, Al Tareef
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SOUTH BATINAH

Al Rustaq 26875120 26875506 PO Box 5, PC 318, Rustaq

Al Ghashab 26875960 26875962 PO Box 310, PC 318, Rustaq

Barka 26885406 26885408 PO Box 372, PC 320, Barka

Al Muladdah 26868454 26868455 PO Box 75, PC 314, Al Muladdah

Bataha Hilal (Suwaiq) 26860177 26861877 PO Box 481, PC 315, Al Suwaiq

Tharmad 26811321 26810859 PO Box 24, PC 315, Suwaiq

Barka Souq 26884895 26882113 PO Box 509, PC 320, Barka

Suwaiq 26860225 26860125 PO Box 311, PC 315, Suwaiq

Musanna 26869949 26870945 PO Box 330, PC 312, Musanna

Al Awabi 26767267 26767388 PO Box 96, PC 317, Al Awabi

Nakhal 26781603 26781604 PO Box 372, PC .320, Nakhal

Al Washil, Rustaq 26878238 26878414 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

DHAKILIYA REGION

Samail 25350030 25350511 PO Box 340, PC 620, Samail

Firq 25411088 25410887 PO Box 794, PC 611, Nizwa

Izki 25340122 25340056 PO Box 166, PC 614, Izki

Al Hamra 25422870 25422871 PO Box 44, PC 617, Al Hamra

Bahla 25420028 25420095 PO Box 541, PC 612, Bahla

Lizough 25359492 25359727 PO Box 144, PC 615, Lizough

Haima (Al Wusta Region) 23436252 23436066 PO Box 46, PC 711, Haima 

Izki, Al Manzaleah 25341236 25340008 PO Box 55, PC 614, Izki

Nizwa 25410545 25410949 PO Box 92, PC 611, Nizwa

Adam 25434045 25434042 PO Box 90, PC 618, Adam

Firq Indl. Area 25431796 25431857 PO Box 801, PC 611, Nizwa

Manah 25457567 25458245 PO Box 70, PC 619, Manah

Berkat Al Mawz 25443567 25443757 PO Box 116, PC 616, Berkat Al Mawz

Marfa Daris 25425902 25425903 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Bahla Souq 25363185 25363146 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Fanja 25360826 25360377 PO Box 71, PC 613, Bidbid

DHAHIRAH REGION

Al Buraimi 25652911 25652901 PO Box 243, PC 512, Buraimi

Yanqul 25672574 25672576 PO Box 61, PC 513, Yanqul

Khasab (Musandam Region) 26731128 26731129 PO Box 303, PC 811, Khasab

Dibba Al Beya (Musandam Region) 26836694 26836378 PO Box 4, PC 813, Dibba Al Beya

Buraimi, Main Road 25652571 25650571 PO Box 227, PC 512, Buraimi
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Mahda 25667081 25667071 PO Box 7, PC 518, Mahda

Ibri (Jubail) 25689526 25689291 PO Box 493, PC 511, Ibri

Dareez 25631379 25631377 PO Box 842, PC 511, Ibri

Ibri Souq 25689190 25689177 PO Box 561, PC 511, Ibri

Al Hayal 25601159 25601151 PO Box 336, PC 515, Ibri Al Araqi

Murtafat Ibri 25688593 25688462 PO Box 195, PC 511, Ibri

Dhank 25676502 25676503 PO Box 114, PC 514, Dhank

Ibri Al Iraqi 25694661 25694866 PO Box 57, PC 515, Ibri Al Iraqi

DHOFAR REGION

Salalah Port Branch 23219335 23219383 PO Box 242, PC 217, Al Awqadain

Salalah, 23rd July Street 23290248 23294458 PO Box 544, PC 211, Salalah

Taqa 23258023 23258479 PO Box 7, PC 218, Taqa

Salalah Industrial 23212458 23212486 PO Box 176, PC 211, Salalah

Al Saada 23226092 23226094 PO Box 136, PC 215, Al Saada

New Salalah 23298440 23296220 PO Box 848, PC 211, Salalah

Thumrait 23279306 23279307 PO Box 202, PC 222, Thumrait

Mirbat 23268573 23268576 PO Box 155, PC 220, Mirbat

Haffa 23299509 23299396 PO Box 76, PC 216, Haffa

Awqadain 23211186 23214994 PO Box 1094, PC 211, Salalah

Marmul 24386455 24386457 PO Box 544, PC 211, Salalah

Sadah 23277161 23277027 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Dahariz 23235463 23235638 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

AL SHARQIYA REGION

Samad A’ Shaan 25526499 25526159 PO Box 17, PC 423, Samad A’ Shan

Al Mudhairib 25581605 25581114 PO Box 3, PC 419, Mudhairib

Bidiya 25583860 25583870 PO Box 229, PC 421, Bidiya

Sur 25543350 25543503 PO Box 503, PC 411, Sur

Jaalan Bani Bu Ali 25554154 25554156 PO Box 234, PC 416, Jaalan Bani Bu Ali

Ibra 25570267 25570457 PO Box 284, PC 413, Ibra

Sur, Al Sharia 25543440 25540442 PO Box 142, PC 411, Sur

Bani Bu Hassan 25550690 25550246 PO Box 242, PC 415, Bani Bu Hassan

Al Kamil 25557914 25557795 PO Box 195, PC 412, Al Kamil

Al Ashkara 25566249 25566077 PO Box 77, PC 422, Al Ashkara

Sinaw 25524773 25524768 PO Box 136, PC 418, Sinaw

Masirah 25504331 25504229 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi

Safalat Ibra 25572446 25572441 PO Box 284, PC 413, Ibra

Wadi Tayeen 25560014 25560021 PO Box 134, PC 112, Ruwi
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